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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% AR

TO THE MEMBERS OF
GUOTAI JUNAN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Guotai Junan
International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 119 to 262, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

BEREREBRERERLAF
2ERR
(REEZME L F R 2 A])

=z
=

HMEFETINEHNFE1198 EFHE262H K
HHEBELBEBERBER AR (A THE
[ERRDREMBAR (A THBIE
£@8) NEETHRE - RS MR
R BFEN2024F12 A31 B W& A B %k
ME BEHEZALEFENREBERK
Hih2mEKER HREESEIRNG
REERER  AEKE(HEXREHK
RERREMTAERARL) ©

BMRE ZERAVBRREBESR
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Key audit matters
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FRARETEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, B ET S E R E B A = 3 4
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial REH KGRV EREANBTIRAE
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the EHMEFH SLEHEAYUES TR
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, RERETETITERERNE S TR
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate BE BT ELEBIEHEBZBN =

opinion on these matters.

ﬁo

BMTEFNERRBRNELRE AR XFTME

Expected credit loss assessment for loans and advances to customers

BREGEBHEXN T 16 RFI134E168R A& 5 HE °

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 134 to 168.

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

REEEEMNEFSF PR ONMAESE N

Loans and advances to customers constitute a significant
portion of the total assets of the Group. As at 31
December 2024, the gross carrying amount of loans and
advances to customers and its related expected credit
loss ("ECL") allowance amounted to HK$9,863 million
(2023:HK$7,866 million) and HK$2,117 million (2023:
HK$2,105 million) respectively. The net carrying amount of
HK$7,746 million (2023: HK$5,761 million) represented 6%
(2023: 5%) of the Group’s total assets.

BTEPHEREBNRE ESBEELBENRRK—HBY -
2024 12A31H BT EFNERRBRNEREAE R
Hig@BEREREES R /R9,8630 & # 7T (2023F -
7,8668 & & L) &2,117B &% T (20234 : 2,1068 & /&
JT) o BREDF(E7, 7468 &8 7T (2023F : 5,76 1B BB T)
i BEEEBEEEY (2023F : 5%) °

Qur audit procedures to assess ECL for loans and
advances to customers included the following:
BMELTEFPNERERBRNTERERBBRT AT
B REFEETIEE :

° understanding and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls over the credit risk
management of loans and advances to
customers and the ECL assessment. For the key
systems used for the processing of transactions
in relation to loans and advances to customers,
we involved our information technology
specialists to assess the design, implementation
and operating effectiveness of a selection of key
internal controls over access to these systems
and controls over data and change management;

s TEHRARIGGETEFPNERRBINEERRE
T2 B A 52 N BRI % T8 BR (S R B R AT (G Y AR R
MITREERS - HRAREEBGRETEPNER
RBFHEBENRZZHEE RS - HMEIRBEAIH
BAMRERT AT HZERSERER REBIE
ZHI R FHEENCKERR AR ES
AT REITARR
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Key audit matters (continued)

BRETEE )

Management assesses whether the credit risk of loans
and advances to customers has increased significantly
since their initial recognition and applies a three-stage
impairment model to calculate their ECL. A financial
asset is classified as stage 1 when its credit risk has
not increased significantly since its initial recognition;
otherwise, it is classified as stage 2 or stage 3. Stage 3
applies when a financial asset is credit-impaired. The loss
allowance for stage 1 financial assets is measured at an
amount equal to a 12-month ECL. The loss allowance for
stage 2 and stage 3 financial assets is measured at an
amount equal to a lifetime ECL.
EREeNMETERPNERRBRARNEERR B ¥V]1H i
RUAKREEEEZEN KR =ZBRAEELFEEAY
ERABRX -BEERRBVHEEARARILEEZIE N A
TREEGAF BR BUABAF_HE=ER -F=
BREAANEERENEREE FHRREMEENE
BREDERBSEM2EABHERELANSHEAE - £
RE-FReBEEBEEEDERBSEN2HRHBEAE
KH) S ©

understanding and assessing the appropriateness
of the established policies and procedures for the
ECL assessment including the staging criteria,
application of assumptions and inputs into the
ECL model;

T AR N A P E M) TR HRME BB AR AT AR BRI AR
FHE#EE BEBRREE RREALKBEHE
FRiBRER 8 A SR
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Key audit matters (continued)
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BRETEE )

For loans and advances to customers that are categorised
as stage 3, management performs individual assessment
for each borrower by considering credit enhancements
provided to the Group.

HRNBEAZS=-RENGTEFNERRRER  EEERZE
BRET ESENGERAHESRERAETERIGE -

As at 31 December 2024, the gross carrying amount
of stage 3 loans and advances to customers and its
related ECL allowance amounted to HK$2,104 million and
HK$2,104 million respectively.

M2024F12A31H 8 TEFHNE=ERERRBRHNE
HABREERAEREREREED A R2,1048 88T
K2,104B BB T °

evaluating the reasonableness and
appropriateness of the ECL model by assessing
the critical assumptions, inputs and parameters
used in the model that has been reviewed by our
internal risk modelling specialists. This included
the classification of loss stages, probability of
default, loss given default, exposure at default,
discount rate, adjustments for forward-looking
information and other management adjustments.
As part of these procedures, we challenged
management’s revision to estimate and input
parameters by comparing with prior period and
considered the consistency of judgement;
EHRMABRRERERNFHE T EERER
BREMNSEUERSEEARKRIRANRESE
BER BWARBLRZ2E EREEERER B
A= - BABEX  ZHRER  BRIRE - 5A
EHEHAERBEREMERRE - (ERZER
o —&87 - MFEBER — SR LR ER
B hat R ASBNETIREER  XEEH
T ) — BUME

assessing the value of collateral held for a
sample of loans and advances to customers with
reference to publicly available market prices;
METARA TEPONERRBRAAFER DL
BE SP2EZLARABMSER:
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Key audit matters (continued)

BRETEE )

The determination of the loss allowance is subject to
several key parameters and assumptions, including
estimates of probability of default, loss given default,
exposures at default and the discount rate, adjustments for
forward-looking information and other adjustment factors.
Management judgement is involved in the selection of
those parameters and the application of the assumptions.

ETHEEEBAZEZHZ2HELRR  BREMAEFEROTR
MBHAOBREX BHARRBIBEREX HABUEERNKE
RABREMERE NEEXFL2ENEREARRE

N IR E A o

In particular, the determination of the loss allowance is
heavily dependent on the macro-economic environment
and the Group’s internal credit risk management strategy.
The loss allowance for loans and advances to customers
is determined based on estimates whereby management
takes into consideration market data, historical overdue
data, historical loss experience and other adjustment
factors.

THRE ETEERERERELERER E5EAX
EERRERRE GTEFHNERKBRNERBEETD
REEEEZRITSHIE BEAHNEE BEEFER
Bk HAMBFAERARRTIEMAERE -

assessing the existence of collateral by obtaining
independent confirmations or statements from
brokers or clearing houses for a sample of
securities held as collateral per the Group's
records;

Bz EEBETHAFEERRNES  BBEB
B NS BEFEUS B Y RSB - MR
ERmOEERFENS
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Key audit matters (continued)
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BRETEE )

Management also exercises judgement in determining
the quantum of loss given default based on a range of
factors. These include available remedies for recovery, the
financial situation of the borrower, the recoverable amount
of collateral, the seniority of the claim and existence and
cooperativeness of other creditors. When listed stocks are
pledged as collateral, the loan balances to collateral ratio,
and the stock holding concentration of the borrower, the
industry sector and the operation of the issuer, the liquidity
restriction on sales of the stock are taken into account in
the assessment.
EREMIERABARBSERZETRENEEEREE -
ZERNZBEAI AR KB FRIER - ERATBMRI
BEHRmrAkEeE RERERFREAMEEARTFE
REGERR -BELTREER/ERR TUER  BERE
MHRERAME X RERAFTREPE  BITAMETERR
ERRN  HEZRENRBUERGFEA RS HWAAGTM -

The amount of impairment of the loans and advances
to customers is significant, and the measurement has
a high degree of estimation uncertainty. For measuring
ECL, management adopted complex models, employed
numerous parameters and data inputs, and applied
significant management judgments and assumptions, and
involved significant inherent risk. In view of these reasons,
we identified this as a key audit matter.
BTEPHNERRBEFNRESEEAN  BEstEREESE
et THEEE - ERHMEREBRMNS - EEERA
THERENRE  ERTAENZ2HEEBE WHRATEKX
MERBHERBR  PREANEARR ERXRZFR
R EEERBEEESEIE -

assessing the existence and quality of collateral,
guarantees or other forms of credit support
such as remedies for recovery in evaluating the
adequacy of ECL allowance made by the Group
for material loans and advances to customers
classified as Stage 3; and

Rt BEEEHEAZ="BERNGTELPNE
RERRBHRFAIEHRAEABRBETE MR
AHEEA D BRIEMEAEEFHF (kD
ARERNEEFEEREZE &

evaluating whether the disclosures on ECLs
for loans and advances to customers meet the
disclosure requirements of prevailing accounting
standards.

B TEPHNERRBRNARERERREE
EEMNERITEFEREERTE
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Key audit matters (continued) BRETTSE®

Valuation of Level 3 financial instruments

EZREMITAMKE

Refer to note 39 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 134 to 168.
FRHG S BEREN F39R E134F168H A FETHE °

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREETER ZERERMNESHROMTEHH

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the Group’s | Our audit procedures to the fair value of level 3
financial assets and financial liabilities at level 3 amounted | financial instruments included the following:

to HK$7,922 million and HK$6,337 million, presenting | BME =R eM T EAFENEHREFEETIIESE
10% and 15% of the Group’s financial assets and financial

liabilities measured at fair value. ° assessing the design, implementation and

M2024512A31H - ESBE =R EERERABE operating effectiveness of key internal controls

WAFEDRAT22BEE B TKEIBTEAEST 6 & over the valuation of level 3 financial instruments;

SEHEATEFENSHEERCHABENI0%R15% > | FEFEF=FemITEAENBRATZESNERE
MITREITHH

The valuation of the Group’s level 3 financial instruments
is based on a combination of market data and valuation | e reading investment agreements for level 3

models which often require judgement. financial instruments to understand the relevant
EEEF AR T AGAEDNENRY TS EE R EERR investments terms and identify any conditions
MEREZEME  EBTHE /D HE - that were relevant to the valuation of these

financial instruments;

Some of the inputs used in the valuation models are | ¢ HEZE=-AER T ERERHA THEERBIEERF
obtained from readily available data in liquid markets. KB R LR 5 Bt T Bk {8 48 B &9 (R R4

Where such observable data is not readily available, as in
the case of level 3 financial instruments, estimates need to
be developed which can involve significant management
judgement.

HERAUMBE TEABE DB RS MISREAISRESD
BE-MEBABERBBLREASE MBEE=AcH
TEZER  BIZEELMGE  ETF@SREREREHE -
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Key audit matters (continued)
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BRETEE )

We identified assessing the fair value of level 3 financial
instruments as a key audit matter because of the degree of
complexity involved in valuing these financial instruments
and the significant degree of judgement exercised by
management in determining the inputs used in the
valuation models.
BARTIEE="ReRIARFESZR S HHEREASE
B BRZEemIAAERAEMEECHEREMA
BABIBAEEEELERA G -

engaging our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in performing independent valuation
of certain level 3 financial instruments where
appropriate and compare their valuation with
the Group’s valuation. This included comparing
the valuation derived from the Group’s valuation
models with our knowledge of current market
practice, testing inputs to the fair value
calculations and establishing our own valuation
models to perform revaluations. If the valuation
is determined based on recent transaction
price, we evaluated the appropriateness of
management assessment and verified the
transaction price with supporting documents. For
unlisted fixed income securities and unlisted fund
investments, we also assessed the quality and
sufficiency of the collaterals where appropriate;
and
ZREMAMBEEERGHRMABETE=R
TRIAETECAE (WER) T HZEME
B EXEEMAEETLER WeREEl 5E5E
MEREE G HEERERMEERTmSENNM
o AARTFEFERAREREZRIEME H
BEEEETER - MEBEDERTHARSERE
- BMAFAGEREETGANGEE RBEBEIFEX
TR HER HRIELTEEWRZS NI
FHEERE  HANHEEFRRZRmERRS
rE(mEm) &
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Key audit matters (continued)

BRETEE )

assessing the appropriateness of the use of
the net asset value provided by external fund
administrators as the fair value of the level 3
financial instruments at reporting date. For the
valuation of fund interests we compared the fair
value adopted by the Group to the latest reported
net asset values from the fund managers, and
obtained the audited financial statements of the
funds where applicable to check the historical
accuracy of the reported net asset values; and
ERBRER RIS ESEREMREEESF
EREF=FeRIARTENGEE - HRE
CHERGEE BME ESERANATFEHEE
CERERENSHEREEFEETHY &
DEECHRERTBHRE (NER) B2 W
BEFENBEERE &

assessing the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.

AR BERRARE  ER2ERTGALE
B35 o
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Information other than the consolidated
financial statements and auditor’s report
thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% AR

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% AR

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continueq)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% AR

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continueq)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ko Sze Man.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEeEEmREMEEREX

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEFE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FBET T
Revenue PN 5 4,421,609 3,217,372
Other income H fth Yo 2 5,428 12,722
Revenue and other income W A R H i W 25 4,427,037 3,230,094
Staff costs 8 TR 6 (794,802) (781,340)
Commission to account executives EEFEHEE (167,540) (122,538)
Depreciation e (82,028) (85,352)
Net impairment charge FORE R (26,271) (59,490)
Other operating expenses Hibh & (559,658) (494,952)
Operating profit £ 5 ) 2,796,738 1,686,422
Finance costs A& A AR (2,430,107) (1,495,006)
Profit before tax B 356 B g A1 8 366,631 191,416
Income tax (expense)/credit 3 (AX) K& 9 (15,934) 14,689
Profit for the year F R F 350,697 206,105
Other comprehensive income for the year, £ REM2EWE - 1B
net of tax iR
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently HZRIGEEHF DA EIER ¢
to profit and loss:
— Investments at fair value through other —EBAVEFGFAEMEE
comprehensive income W R E (50,461) 4,741
— Exchange difference on translation of —HNEE N ZE 7R
foreign exchange (29,008) 5,750
(79,469) 10,491
ltem that will not be reclassified to profit and HETAIEH DB EIEE ¢
loss:
— Investments at fair value through other —BAFEFAEMEER
comprehensive income Wz S & 25,438 9,284
Total comprehensive income for the year FRAZHEWZEEE 296,666 225,880
Profit for the year attributable to: EEFERER :
Owners of the Company ZNYNECIE/ 2SN 347,783 201,261
Non-controlling interests FEFE iR 2,914 4,844
350,697 206,105
Total comprehensive income for the year E{hERZHEURFEELE :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIEZ =N 300,067 223,852
Non-controlling interests JEVE R R (3,401) 2,028
296,666 225,880
Earnings per share attributable to ordinary &2 A EBERKRRELE SR
equity holders of the parent |
- Basic (in HK cents) —E AR (ABE) 11(a) 3.6 2.1
~ Diluted (in HK cents) —#5E (LUBILED) 11(b) 3.6 2.1
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR &R

As at 31 December 2024
H2024%12831H

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI BB R 12 456,612 433,910
Goodwill and other intangible assets EENEMEREE 13 22,886 22,886
Other assets Hh&E 14 17,932 18,961
Deferred tax assets RIETIE & & 15 275,846 277,892
Derivative financial instruments TESmIA 21 244,946 323,154
Financial assets at fair value through EAFEFAERHN
profit or loss TREE 20 5,602,967 16,645,948
- Financial assets held for trading and —BIER S RKER
investments TREE 1,238,747 1,825,052
— Financial products —SBE®R 4,364,220 14,820,896
Total non-current assets ERBEEHLTE 6,621,189 17,722,751
Current assets RENEE
Loans and advances to customers BTEFHNEREBER 16 7,746,401 5,761,594
Accounts receivable & 18 11,096,370 8,391,475
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEfIFIE ~ 24 M H b
& W R TA 19 218,937 219,685
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABRH
profit or loss TREE 20 64,722,825 51,413,001
— Financial assets held for trading and —BHIER D RIKER
investments EEEE 28,833,169 17,698,760
— Financial products — % BEm 35,889,656 33,714,241
Financial assets at fair value through BAFERTAEAM
other comprehensive income EPHBENEEEE 20 8,985,272 446,604
Derivative financial instruments MTEEHMIA 21 1,511,594 1,612,106
Receivable from reverse repurchase [ 17 [ 88 13 2% P& M5k IR
agreements 22 9,982,509 739,579
Tax recoverable A Ug [ 77 18 29,821 70,525
Client trust bank balances BPEERITAR 23 12,054,082 13,750,018
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 23 7,204,149 7,407,815
Total current assets RBEEAH 123,551,960 89,812,402
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR &R

As at 31 December 2024
H2024%12831H

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FBET T
Current liabilities REAaE
Accounts payable JE < 7R 3B 24 (19,714,804)  (18,048,359)
Other payables and accrued liabilities HhENRERETAE 25 (809,290) (654,141)
Derivative financial instruments PTETRTE 21 (1,747,753) (1,396,383)
Interest bearing borrowings TR B 26 (5,935,911) (9,935,696)
Debt securities in issue EETEBRES 27 (41,244,641)  (31,427,498)
— At amortised cost — FR 8 SR AR (7,463,994) (2,808,810)
- Designated at fair value through —EERATE
profit or loss T AE &= (33,780,647)  (28,618,688)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit & A FEzt AIB25H)
or loss TRAE 28 (3,122,085) (2,432,272)
Obligations under repurchase agreements [B] 85 = (R 1R 29 (85,113,555)  (14,027,595)
Tax payable FET B IR (4,516) (4,574)
Total current liabilities REBEEHAE (107,692,555)  (77,926,518)
Net current assets REEEFE 15,859,405 11,885,884
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERRBER 22,480,594 29,608,635
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIE B (F 15 (9,015) (9,506)
Interest bearing borrowings FTEER 26 (20,889) (3,725)
Derivative financial instruments MESBMITE 21 (310,376) (297,192)
Debt securities in issue BERITEKES 27 (7,113,611) (14,336,214)
— At amortised cost — HR B SH K R (3,125,610) (3,144,937)
— Designated at fair value through —BEZATEFAER
profit or loss (3,988,001)  (11,191,277)
Total non-current liabilities ERBEBEE (7,453,891)  (14,646,637)
Net assets EEFE 15,026,703 14,961,998
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR &R

As at 31 December 2024
H2024%12831H

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B & FE T &I
Equity Rz
Share capital [N 30 10,911,163 10,911,163
Other reserve H b s 32 (1,236,460) (1,236,460)
Currency translation reserve BN R (17,451) 5,242
Share option reserve B 31 13,083 19,432
Investment revaluation reserve WEEHHE 32 (24,923) 4,893
Retained profits IR B8 4 F 5,269,245 5,135,203
Equity attributable to holders of the Shares A% {7 A% 58 J& {5 #E 25 14,914,657 14,839,473
Non-controlling interests JEIE S i = 112,046 122,525
Total equity R4 15,026,703 14,961,998
Dr. YIM Fung Ms. Ql Haiying
EEE L WBRLZ L
Director Director
EF o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREEH X
Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12 A31HILFE

Investment
Investment revaluation
Currency Share revaluation reserve Non-
Share Other translation option  Retained reserve (non- controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve profits  (recycling)  recycling) Total interests equity
REEfE REER
ERag i i
BA  EfbfEE E BRERE /REEY (78®) (FUa®E) wi FEREZ RRAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FET TET TEL TEL FET TET TEL TAT TET
Balance at 31 December 2022 #2022F12A318 &
and 1 January 2023 20231RA1BM%&ER 10,911,163  (1,236,460) (3,324) 26,132 5,114,186 - (4,998) 14,806,699 129,497 14,936,196
Total comprehensive income for ~ F R 2 A & 458
the year = = 8,566 = 201,261 4,741 9,284 223,852 2,028 225,880
Disposal of equity instruments HEESZTH - - - - 4,134 - (4,134) - - -
Transfer of share option reserve BRI KR M EE
upon the forfeiture of share BRERE
options (note 31) (FizE31) - - - (6,700) 6,700 = = - = =
Share repurchase (note 30 (a) MR EE (Fit3£30(a)) - - - - - - - - - -
Final special dividend for 2022F R EERIR 2
2022 (note 10) (K3E10) - - - - (95,589 - - (95539 - (95589
Interim dividend for 2023 2023 F HRR 8
(note 10) (FizE10) = = = = (95,539) = - (95,539) - (95,539)
Dividend paid to non-controlling A JE 1 B 25 K 1+ )
interest ) = = = = = = = = (9,000) (9,000)
Balance at 31 December 2023 72023F12 A31 A H)
&8 10,911,163  (1,236,460) 5,242 19,432 5,135,203 4,741 162 14,839,473 122,525 14,961,998
Balance at 31 December 2023 #2023F12A318 &
and 1 January 2024 20241 A1BMEH 10,911,163  (1,236,460) 5,242 19,432 5,135,203 4,741 152 14,839,473 122,525 14,961,998
Total comprehensive income for ~ F R 2 M 458
the year - - (22,693) - 347,783 (50,461) 25,438 300,067 (3,401) 296,666
Disposal of equity investments RERRERE - - - - 4,793 - (4,793) - - -
Transfer of share option reserve B KM EE
upon the forfeiture of share BRAERE (PiEE81)
options (note 31) - - - (6,349) 6,349 - - - - -
Share repurchase (note 30(a)) BB E (M7%30(@) - - - - (14,815) - - (14,815) - (14,815)
Final dividend for 2023 (note 10) 20234 K Hifk &
(K3E10) - - - - (95,539) - - (95,539 - (95,539)
Interim dividend for 2024 20245 F ER 8
(note 10) (K3E10) - - - - (114,529) - - (114,529) - (114,529)
Liquidation of a subsidiary ER-EHEAR
(capital redemption) (BAER) - - - - - - - - (5,000) (5,000)
Dividend paid to non-controlling A FE IR R HE 28 R 1+
interest Golgst - - - - - - - - (2,078) (2,078)
Balance at 31 December 2024 720245124318
Eofe oS 10,911,163  (1,236,460) (17,451) 13,083 5,269,245 (45,720) 20,797 14,914,657 112,046 15,026,703
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REEHERER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEFE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTHE T T
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEEFSESREFE 35 1,781,110 (4,906,371)
Cash flows from investing activities REZHHESRE
Liquidation of a subsidiary BB A A (5,000) =
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B EY¥ - KE L& E 12 (45,750) (32,670)
_Net cash flows used in investing activites ~ REEHBAREmEFH (50,750) | (32,670)
Cash flows from financing activities MEITBRERE
Net proceed of bank borrowings RITE RIS RIBF58 (4,017,566) 612,324
Proceeds from issuance of debt securities BITEEBESFTERIE 119,019,225 84,715,981

Repayment of debt securities
Dividend paid to shareholders and

BEREHES
1) % 3R Ko 22 s A 2 IR A 9

(116,976,777)

(80,508,594)

non-controlling interest % 2 10 (212,146) (200,078)
Principal portion of lease payments e H 74 opNE = (24,371) (34,155)
Interest portion of lease payments HENZFHOFEZH (1,636) (1,168)
Repurchase of Shares o] BE f% 15 30 (14,815) =
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing mMEEE (FTA) B R

_ actvies . ®wm&F&E (2228086 4584310
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BE€RB S EEWR L FE (497,726) (354,731)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FMHReRBEEEEY

year 7,188,329 7,537,316
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ER & &) & 2358 (28,761) 5,781
Effect of impairment provision on cash and  JREZEEHIR S MRS E(E

cash equivalents, net VIR R &5 58 225 (37)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FREERBEESZEY 6,662,067 7,188,329
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEFE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FBET T
Analysis of balances of cash and cash REeRESZEEYNEL
equivalents kil
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHE R 23 5,999,235 6,474,841
Non-pledged time deposits with original GFREREHETE=MA
maturity of less than three months when /2R 45 38 TF BB 17 3K
acquired 23 662,832 713,488
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the #GABRESREXRMAIIZIRE
consolidated statement of cash flows RIReEEY 6,662,067 7,188,329
Non-pledged time deposits with original TFHEE R EIHA B = (E
maturity more than three months but less A BTRR—FHREM
than one year when acquired 7E Bi1F 3k 23 542,082 219,486

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the  #GA P BERAKAMIZIRE
consolidated statement of financial position ~ NIR&ZE W) 7,204,149 7,407,815
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥R 3R B &

31 December 2024
2024%12A31H

Corporate and group information

The Company was incorporated on 8 March 2010 in Hong Kong
with limited liability under the CO and its Shares were listed on the
Stock Exchange on 8 July 2010. The registered office address of
the Company is 27th Floor, Low Block, Grand Millennium Plaza,
181 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong. The Company is an
investment holding company and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in brokerage, corporate finance, asset management, loans
and financing, financial products, market making and investments.

The Company’s immediate holding company and ultimate holding
company are GTJA Financial incorporated in Hong Kong and GTJA
incorporated in the PRC, respectively.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are
as follows:

RAREEEHR

KR A AR2010F3A8H R IEL(A
REINEEBFMALZBERA
A AR A 8D R201067 A8H
FEBRFT ET o KRR M EE
Wit A EBEF KNEF1815
LIRS R E27IE - KRR ARE
ZERAR - HNBAREZEREL
Lo ERE - BEEEE BEXRK
BE - SRER - MmRIEEER -

AREHEZEER AR RELER
DA D Bl A 8 R AR S B B 3R
=gt YN QIS E I R Y AVAS TR
B

R2024%E12A31H T EZME R A
MFFBEOT

Percentage of equity

Place of attributable to the Company
incorporation ARAEEREE A
Company name and business Share capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
ARAR AMAIRBE LT KA Ei M TEER
Guotai Junan (Hong Kong) Limited - Samoa/Hong Kong ~ US$816,300,000 100% - Provision of general administration and
support services to its subsidiaries
BFEER(BB)ARAHA BEZ/EE 816,300,000% T 100% - MERBARRE-RERRERB
Guotai Junan International Singapore SG$9,300,000 100% - Provision of general administration and
(Singapore) Pte. Limited support services to its subsidiaries
Gl 9,300,000 4% 7T 100% - AERBARRE-RERRERS
Guotai Junan International Asset  Singapore SG$21,703,325 100% - Asset management
Management (Singapore) Pte.
Limited
GiifIb 21,703,325 KT 100% - ZEER
Guotai Junan International Singapore SG$34,130,819 100% - Securities brokerage and other financial
Securities (Singapore) services
Pte. Limited
A 34,130,819%T M3 T 100% - BEFEEREMERRE
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31 December 2024
2024%12A31H

1. Corporate and group information (continued)
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AAIREBEER »

Percentage of equity

Place of attributable to the Company
incorporation AAREGERERD L
Company name and business Share capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
AABR SRR EERE RA Ei M TEER
Guotai Junan Securities Hong Kong HK$7,500,000,000 100% - Securities dealing and broking and
(Hong Kong) Limited provision of wealth management
services
AREREH (BB ERAT BB 7,500,000,0007 ¢ 100% - BARHREBIRREHEEERY
Guotai Junan Futures (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 100% - Futures dealing and broking
Limited
BZEXSE(F8)BRAR AR 50,000,000 7 100% - HEEERER
Guotai Junan Finance (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$1,760,000,000 100% - Trading in securities
Limited®
AREZHH (BB BERAT BB 1,760,000,000% 7T 100% - B5EER
Guotai Junan Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 100% - Provision of consultancy and financial
services
BRERBEARAT i 50,000,000 7 100% - REFARMBRY
Guotai Junan Assets (Asia) Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 100% - Asset management
AREZEEEE (TN ERAR BB 50,000,000% 7T 100% - BEER
Guotai Junan Financial Products ~ Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% - Trading in securities
Limited
HRELEBERER AR Bk 1,000,000 7 100% - ®HEE
Guotai Junan FX Limited Hong Kong HK$30,000,000 100% - Leveraged foreign exchange dealing
and broking
BRARNMEBRAA BB 30,000,000 ¢ 100% - ERANERSRER
Guotai Junan Securities (Vietnam)  Vietnam VND693,500 million - 50.97% Securities dealing and broking and
Corporation margin financing
BRERTS (BHRHAE B 693,500,000,000#E /& - 580.97% BHR5 KERFERE
Guotai Junan Securities (Macau) ~ Macau MOP100,000,000 100% Securities dealing and broking and
Company Limited provision of wealth management
services
EREZRES (RF) - AGRAF &P 100,000,000 70 100% BEXHREBARRETEEE RS
Guotai Junan Asia Dynamic Fund ~ Cayman Islands Note 1 - 100%  Investments holding
ki) G - 100% REAR
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥R 3R B &

31 December 2024
2024%12A31H

1. Corporate and group information (continueq) 1. 2EIRERER @
Percentage of equity
Place of attributable to the Company
incorporation AAREEREE AL
Company name and business Share capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
AABR SRR EERE RA Ei M TEER
Guotai Junan Asia Investment Cayman Islands Note 1 = 53%  Investments holding
Grade Bond Fund SP
REs il - 53% RAER
Guotai Junan Value Vintage Equity Cayman Islands Note 1 = 99%  Investments holding
Feeder Fund
REs izt - 99% REER
Guotai Junan International Private ~ Cayman Islands Note 1 - 100%  Investments holding
Equity Fund SPC
RERS iz - 100% ®EERK
Guotai Junan Greater China Hong Kong Note 1 = 60%  Investments holding
Growth Fund
BREZAHELRES BA Mzt - 60% IREER
Guotai Junan Asia Equity Singapore Note 1 = 100%  Investments holding
Long-Short Fund
N izt - 100% REER
Guotai Junan Investment Grade ~ Hong Kong Note 1 - 100%  Investments holding
Bond Fund
0 HizE - 100% REER
Note 1:  These consolidated investment funds are subsidiaries for the purpose of MizE1 : B ETRBADKMEE /M E %
Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules. These consolidated investment funds are ERAREESEWNB AT %
not body corporates and therefore do not have any share capital. ERARERESWIEEABEE -
& 1 B AE AR AR o
Note 2:  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company subscribed MizE2 : HZE2024FE12A31H ILEE © &K
newly issued shares of Guotai Junan Finance (Hong Kong) Limited at a ‘A &l LA {81,460,000,0007 T
consideration of HK$1,460,000,000. RERFE LUK (FB)BRA
RIFTEATHVRR ©
Note 3:  During the year ended 31 December 2024, Guotai Junan Fund Management MizE3 : B ZE2024F12A31HILFEE -
Limited completed its capital return to shareholders. In January 2025, RELESEEABRAADTK
Guotai Junan Fund Management Limited completed its members’ voluntary B& R & 7N [O 3} o ]A20254F1 A -
liquidation. BREZLZHEEEEEFRAQAITK

HRXEARBRBE -
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2.1

Corporate and group information (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Group, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Group,
result in particulars of excessive length.

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the Board on 26 March 2025.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs (which include all applicable HKFRSs, HKASs and
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA, and the CO. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Listing Rules. Material accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below. The consolidated financial statement
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, debt securities in issue designated at fair value through
profit or loss and derivative financial instruments which have been
measured at fair value.

These financial statements are presented in HK$ and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise stated.

1.

2.1
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21 REEE )

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without a loss of control) is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to
current year’s presentation.
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2.2Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

() New and amended HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

° 2020 amendments and 2022 amendments

o Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in a
sale and leaseback

. Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures — Supplier
finance arrangements

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
Impacts of the adoption of the amended HKFRSs are
discussed below:
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2.2Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(i)

New and amended HKFRSs (continued)
2020 amendments and 2022 amendments

2020 amendments and 2022 amendments impact the
classification of a liability as current or non-current, and have
been applied retrospectively as a package.

The 2020 amendments primarily clarify the classification of
a liability that can be settled in its own equity instruments. If
the terms of a liability could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments and that conversion option is accounted
for as an equity instrument, these terms do not affect
the classification of the liability as current or non-current.
Otherwise, the transfer of equity instruments would constitute
settlement of the liability and impact classification.

The 2022 amendments specify that conditions with which an
entity must comply after the reporting date do not affect the
classification of a liability as current or non-current. However,
the entity is required to disclose information about non-current
liabilities subject to such conditions.

Upon the adoption of the amendments, the Group has
reassessed the classification of its liabilities as current or
non-current and did not identify any reclassification to be
made.
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2.2Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(i)

New and amended HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in a
sale and leaseback

The amendments clarify how an entity accounts for a sale and
leaseback after the date of the transaction. The amendments
require the seller-lessee to apply the general requirements
for subsequent accounting of the lease liability in such a
way that it does not recognise any gain or loss relating to
the right of use it retains. A seller-lessee is required to apply
the amendments retrospectively to sale and leaseback
transactions entered into after the date of initial application.
The amendments do not have a material impact on these
financial statements as the Group has not entered into any
sale and leaseback transactions.

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: disclosures — Supplier
finance arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure requirements to
enhance transparency of supplier finance arrangements and
their effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure
to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments do not have any impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

(i)
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23 EREFHE

2.3 Material accounting policies

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, debt securities in issue designated at
fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments,
fund investments, debt investments and equity investments at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, (or in the
absence of a principal market) in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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23 EREFTHE»)

2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 1 -

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable (either
directly or indirectly)

Level 3 — pased on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
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23 EREFTHE»)

2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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23 EREFTHE»)

2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 25-40 years
Leasehold improvements 3 years
Office equipment 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 years
Motor vehicles 3 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Building

25 to 40 years
1 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

The Group’s right-of-use assets are included in property, plant
and equipment.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

()

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease (if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate). The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest bearing
borrowings.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

23 EREFTHE

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of property and office equipment (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases
of low-value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent
rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks and
rewards incidental to of ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee Group (other than legal title, are accounted for as finance
leases.
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23 EREFTHE»)

2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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23 EREFTHE»)

2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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23 EREFTHE»)

2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost. The
useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets, representing eligibility rights to trade on or
through the Stock Exchange and The Hong Kong Futures Exchange
Limited, with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level.
These intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Financial assets and liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.
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23 EREFTHE»)

2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or
financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a
financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability,
such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets
and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss
are expensed in profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition,
an ECL allowance is recognised for financial assets measured at
amortised cost and investments in debt instruments measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income, which results in an
accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss when an asset is
newly originated.

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the
transaction price on initial recognition, the entity recognises the
difference as follows:

()  When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an
active market for an identical asset or liability (i.e. a Level 1
input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data
from observable markets, the difference is recognised as a
gain or loss.

(i) In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the
timing of recognition of deferred day one profit or loss is
determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of
the instrument, deferred until the instrument’s fair value can
be determined using market observable inputs, or realised
through settlement.
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23 EREFTHE
tREEREES &)

2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(a) Financial assets

(1)

Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group’s financial assets include accounts receivable,
deposits and other receivables, loans and advances to
customers, client trust bank balances, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income, receivable
from reverse repurchase agreements, derivative financial
instruments, other assets and cash and cash equivalent.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 and classifies its
financial assets in the following measurement categories:

(i) Fair value through profit or loss;

(i)  Fair value through other comprehensive income; or

(i) Amortised cost.

The classification requirements for debt and equity
instruments are described below:

Debt instruments
Classification and subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depend on:

()  the Group’s business model for managing the
asset; and

(i)  the cash flows characteristics of the asset.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

()  Classification and subsequent measurement

(continued)
Debt instruments (continued)
Business model assessment:

The business model reflects how the Group manages
the assets in order to generate cash flows. That is,
whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the
contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect
both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising
from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable
(e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes),
then the financial assets are classified as part of ‘other’
business model and measured at fair value through profit
or loss. Factors considered by the Group in determining
the business model for a group of assets include past
experience on how the cash flows for these assets were
collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated
and reported to key management personnel, how risks
are assessed and managed and how managers are

compensated.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)

(1)

Classification and subsequent measurement
(continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

SPPI test:

The Group assesses the contractual terms of instruments
to identify whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI.
Financial assets that are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement are considered to meet the SPPI criterion.
In a ‘basic lending arrangement’, consideration for
the time value of money and credit risk are typically
the most significant elements of interest. It may also
include consideration for other basic lending risks such
as liquidity risks, costs associated with holding the
financial assets for a period of time (e.g. servicing or
administrative costs) and a profit margin.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are SPPI.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)

(1)

Classification and subsequent measurement
(continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

SPPI test: (continued)

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt
instruments into one of the following three measurement
categories:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
SPPI, and that are not designated at fair value through
profit or loss, are measured at amortised cost. The
carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any ECL
allowance recognised and measured as described in
note 2.3(a)(ii). Interest income from these financial assets
is included in ‘Market making — debt securities and
exchange traded funds’ and ‘Investments — fixed income
securities, funds, derivatives and equity investments’
using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income:
Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent SPPI, and that are not designated
at fair value through profit or loss, are measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive income, except for the recognition
of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and
foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument’s
amortised cost which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss and recognised in ‘Net trading income/(loss)
from fixed income securities, unconsolidated investment
funds, derivative and equity investments’. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in ‘Interest
income from fixed income securities’ using the effective
interest rate method.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

()  Classification and subsequent measurement

(continued)
Debt instruments (continued)
SPPI test: (continued)

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income are measured
at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on
a debt investment that is subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a
hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and
presented in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income within ‘Net trading income/
(loss) from fixed income securities, unconsolidated
investment funds, derivative and equity investments’ in
the period in which it arises. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in and ‘Interest income from
fixed income securities” using the effective interest rate

method.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes. The reclassification takes place from the start
of the first reporting period following the change. Such
changes are expected to be very infrequent and none

occurred during the period.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

()  Classification and subsequent measurement

(continued)
Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is,
instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation
to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the
issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity instruments

include basic Shares.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value through profit or loss, except where the
Group’s management has elected, at initial recognition,
to irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income. The Group’s
policy is to designate equity investments as fair value
through other comprehensive income when those
investments are held for purposes other than to generate
investment returns. When this election is used, fair value
gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not subsequently reclassified to profit
or loss, including on disposal. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value. Dividends,
when represent a return on such investments, continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when
the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Gains and losses on equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss are included in the ‘Net
trading income/(loss) from fixed income securities,
unconsolidated investment funds, derivative and equity
investments’ line in the statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued) ctHEEREES W
(a) Financial assets (continued) (a ZEHEE &)
(i)  ECL allowance (i) FERI(E FHEXREE
The Group applies a simplified approach to measure ECL AEBERBE S5 AT

on trade receivable and a general approach to measure
ECL on loans and advances to customers, time deposits

EXHRWRAENER
ERABELK AEA KR

and other financial assets accounted for at amortised FAGELRTEEHE
cost as well as loan commitment. HRa THEZR
b 1% B SE K R AR Y

Under the simplified approach, the Group measures the
loss based on lifetime ECL. Under the general approach,
financial assets migrate through the following three
stages based on the change in credit risk since initial
recognition:

Stage 1: 12-month ECL

For exposures where there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and that
are not credit-impaired upon origination, the portion
of the lifetime ECL associated with the probability of
default events occurring within the next 12 months is
recognised.

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

For exposures where there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but are
not credit-impaired, a lifetime ECL (i.e. reflecting the
remaining lifetime of the financial asset) is recognised.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)

(i)

ECL allowance (continued)
Stage 3: Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired

Exposures are assessed as credit-impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred.
For exposures that have become credit-impaired,
a lifetime ECL is recognised and interest revenue is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost (net of provision) rather than the gross
carrying amount.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk for
exposures since initial recognition by comparing the
risk of default occurring over the expected life between
the reporting date and the date of initial recognition.
The Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue
cost or effort for this purpose. This includes quantitative
and qualitative information and also, forward-looking
analysis. For certain portfolio of margin loans, the Group
rebuts the presumption that there have been significant
increases in credit risk since initial recognition when
financial assets are more than 30 DPD as management
considers the probability of default is highly correlated
with the collateral value rather than the past due days.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)

(i)

ECL allowance (continued)
Stage 3: Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired (continued)

The Group assesses whether the credit risk on an
exposure has increased significantly on an individual
or collective basis. For the purposes of a collective
evaluation of impairment, financial instruments
are grouped on the basis of shared credit risk
characteristics, taking into account instrument type,
remaining term to maturity and other relevant factors.
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The amount of ECL is measured as the JBHI= BEkmLE
probability-weighted present value of all cash shortfalls 2 AR ETE R R R
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the difference between all contractual cash flows that BEMEMEREBE - RS T
are due to the Company and all the cash flows that the REAMA G XKD

Company expects to receive. The amount of the loss is BAHES RS HAK Q

recognised using a provision for doubtful debts account.

If, in a subsequent period, credit quality improves and
reverses any previously assessed significant increase
in credit risk since origination, then the provision for
doubtful debts reverts from lifetime ECL to 12-month
ECL.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)
(i)  Modification of loans

The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies
the contractual cash flows of loans to customers. When
this happens, the Group assesses whether or not the
new terms are substantially different to the original
terms. The Group does this by considering, among
others, the following factors:

° If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the
modification merely reduces the contractual cash
flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be
able to pay.

° Whether any substantial new terms are introduced,
such as a profit share/equity-based return that
substantially affects the risk profile of the loan.

° Significant extension of the loan term when the
borrower is not in financial difficulty.

° Significant change in the interest rate.

° Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.

° Insertion of collateral, other security or credit

enhancements that significantly affect the credit
risk associated with the loan.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)

(i)

Modification of loans (continued)

If the terms are substantially different, the Group
derecognises the original financial asset and recognises
a ‘new’ asset at fair value and recalculates a new
effective interest rate for the asset. The date of
renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date
of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes,
including for the purpose of determining whether a
significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However,
the Group also assesses whether the new financial
asset recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at
initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the
renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable to
make the originally agreed payments. Differences in the
carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as
a gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the
renegotiation or modification does not result in
derecognition, and the Group recalculates the gross
carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of
the financial asset and recognises a modification gain
or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount
is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows
at the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted
effective interest rate for purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets).
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Derecognition other than on a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised
when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows
from the assets have expired, or when they have been
transferred and either (i) the Group transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Group
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neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and the Group has not retained

control.

The Group enters into transactions where it retains the
contractual rights to receive cash flows from assets but
assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows
to other entities and transfers substantially all of the risks
and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as
‘pass through’ transfers that result in derecognition if the

Group:

(i) has no obligation to make payments unless it
collects equivalent amounts from the assets;

(i) is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets;

and

(i) has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from

the assets without material delay.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(@)

(b)

Financial assets (continued)

(iv) Derecognition other than on a modification
(continued)
Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Group
under standard repurchase agreements and securities
lending and borrowing transactions is not derecognised
because the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards on the basis of the predetermined repurchase
price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore
not met. This also applies to certain securitisation
transactions in which the Group retains a subordinated
residual interest.

Financial liabilities

Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are
classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
except for:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this
classification is applied to derivatives and financial liabilities
held for trading. Gains or losses on financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss are presented
partially in other comprehensive income (the amount of change
in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability, which is determined
as the amount that is not attributable to changes in market
conditions that give rise to market risk) and partially profit or
loss (the remaining amount of change in the fair value of the
liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or
enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and
losses attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability
are also presented in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Derivative financial instruments

The Group’s derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at their fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.

Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and
as liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any gains or losses
arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Whilst the Group enters into a derivative contract for trading
purposes or to provide economic hedges under the Group’s risk
management framework, it does not apply hedge accounting.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Client trust bank balances

The Group maintains trust and segregated accounts with authorised
financial institutions to hold clients’ deposits arising from normal
business transactions. The Group has classified the clients’ monies
as client trust bank balances under the current assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position as the Group is allowed
to retain some or all of the interest income on the clients’ monies
and recognised corresponding accounts payable to the respective
customers in the current liabilities clients on grounds that it is liable
for any loss or misappropriation of clients’ monies. Under the SFO
and the Hong Kong Insurance Companies Ordinance (Cap. 41), the
Group is not allowed to use the clients’ monies to settle its own
obligation.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Fiduciary activities

Apart from the client trust bank balances as mentioned above, the
Group provides brokerage and asset management services and the
Group acts in a fiduciary capacity which results in the holding or
placing of assets on behalf of its customers. These assets and any
gains or losses arising thereon are not included in these financial
statements as the Group has no contractual rights to these assets
and its gains or losses under fiduciary activities.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Other assets

Other assets represent the deposits and admission fee paid to the
Stock Exchange, Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited, HKSCC
and other regulators. They are intended to be held on a long-term
basis and are stated at the nominal amount.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
profit or loss.
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23 EREFTHE

2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes, except that deferred tax is not recognised for
the Pillar Two income Taxes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

23 EREFTHE»)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

Provision of securities and futures brokerage services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time when the
customer has obtained control of the service, generally when the
trades are executed.

Provision of investment banking services

The performance obligation for sponsoring and certain consultancy
and financial advisory services are fulfiled when all the relevant
duties of a sponsor or a financial advisor as stated in the contract
are completed.

Depending on the nature of the services and the contract terms,
sponsor fee is recognised in profit and loss over time using a
method that depicts the Group’s performance, or at point in time
when the service is completed. Certain consultancy and financial
advisory services’ performance obligations are satisfied over time
as services are rendered if the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Provision of asset management services

Revenue from asset management services is recognised over time
as the services are provided. Fees for asset management services
are calculated based on a fixed percentage of the value of assets
managed.

Performance fees are recognised on the performance fee valuation
day of the investment funds and managed accounts when there
is a positive performance for the relevant performance period and
it is determined that it will not result in significant reversal in a
subsequent period, taking into consideration the relevant basis of
calculation for the investment funds and managed accounts.

Fund distribution activities are separate performance obligations
from the asset management and the obligation being satisfied at
a point in time upon the investors’ subscription. Subscription and
handling fees relating to the distribution services are recognised at
a point in time when the services are performed and the amount is
known.

Provision of wealth management service

The performance obligation relating to the insurance brokerage
service is satisfied at the point when the terms of the insurance
policy have been agreed contractually by the insurer and
policyholder, and the insurer has a present right to payment from
the policyholder (the ‘transaction date’).

Revenue from other sources and other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument, to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits

(@)

(b)

(c)

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Bonuses

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses,
based on an approved formula that takes into consideration
the profit attributable to the Group after certain adjustments.
The Group recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.

Share-based payments

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based
compensation scheme namely a share option scheme for the
purpose of assisting in recruiting, retaining and motivating key
staff members. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(c)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled share-based compensation to
employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the
date at which they are granted. The cost of equity-settled
transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding
increase in the “share option reserve” under equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled in share-based compensation expense. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or
loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

The dilutive effect (if any) of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Articles of Association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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23 EREFTHE

2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Securities borrowing and lending agreements
The Group has engaged in the securities borrowing and lending
business with financial institutions and the Group’s customers,
under which all transactions are secured in the form of cash. The
Group maintains no net position in such securities borrowing and
lending transactions and is not subject to significant price risk.
However, under the securities borrowing and lending arrangements,
the cash collateral received and cash collateral placed is included
in the accounts payable and accounts receivable from brokers
and dealers respectively. Fees received or paid in connection with
securities borrowing and lending is recorded as interest income or
interest expense, respectively.

Assets sold under repurchase agreements
(repos)

The Group may enter into repurchase agreements whereby
securities are sold to third parties with a concurrent agreement to
repurchase the securities at a specified date. The Group may be
required to provide additional collateral based on the fair value of
the underlying assets if necessary.

Assets purchased under agreements to resell
(reverse repos)

The Group may enter into purchases of assets under agreements
to resell. Reverse repos are initially recorded at the cost of the loan
or collateral advanced in the consolidated statement of financial
position. These securities are not recognised in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position as the counterparty
retains substantially all risks and returns of the securities. In the
event of failure by the counterparty to repay the loan, the Group
has the right to the underlying assets.
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the HKS$. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into HK$ at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are translated into HK$ at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the currency translation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group;
or
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2.3 Material accounting policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(if)

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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3.

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 2, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Measurement of ECL
A number of significant judgements are required in applying the
accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

= Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;

- Selecting appropriate models and assumptions for the
measurement of ECL;

= Establishing the relative probability weightings of
forward-looking scenarios.
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3.

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

ECL of different financial assets is measured by the Group on
either a 12-month or lifetime basis depending on whether they are
in Stage 1, 2 or 3 as defined in note 2. A financial asset moves to
Stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, and it comes to Stage 3 when it is credit-impaired (but
it is not purchased original credit impaired). In assessing whether
the credit risk of a financial asset has significantly increased, the
Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable
and supportable forward looking information with significant
judgements involved.

Models and assumptions used

The Group uses various models and assumptions in estimating
ECL. Judgement is applied in identifying the appropriate model for
each type of financial assets, as well as the assumptions used in
these models. Please refer to note 2 for more details on ECL.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial period.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
Certain financial assets are measured at fair values with fair values
being determined based on significant unobservable inputs using
valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are required in
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant
inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors
could affect the reported fair values of these instruments. See note
39 for further disclosures.
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3.

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Measurement of ECL

Impairment assessment under ECL for accounts receivable
(except for secured margin loans)

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for the
accounts receivable (except for secured margin loans) that result
from transactions within the scope of HKFRS 15. The provision
rates are based on debtor’s aging as groupings of various debtors
that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based
on the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable and
available without undue costs and effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information is considered. In addition,
accounts receivable with significant balances and credit impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL is disclosed in note 2.

Impairment assessment under ECL for financial assets at amortised
cost other than accounts receivable (including debt investments
at amortised cost, secured margin loans, reverse repurchase
agreements, deposits, other receivables and bank balances) and
debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

The impairment assessment under ECL for financial assets at
amortised cost (including debt investments at amortised cost,
secured margin loans, reverse repurchase agreements, deposits,
other receivables and bank balances) and debt investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income is an area that
requires the use of models and assumptions about future economic
conditions and the credit risk of the respective financial instruments.

BREZEARE | 202458 171

BERESFTHBEMEET

BHMERABEXNE
ER S E (BRI IRE S
FREEHEXIE T2 B EF 1
AEEERBREBEEFTERTENH
BEEAEFBEANZEL
M EMRIE (B R FRERRIN)
MEHERER BREXHENRA
BRUBEEANTRER AER
MEBARKETE - BERELE
RAKERNELENE IEEE
BAAXKHAELEER  BES
NHAUEHRARE N - R &R
SAM AKEEEHFHEEER
RIMBHE WY EBAELEER
MEE - I BEAERNEHRKE
ERER B RES BB EHE
IR T

EHERBLABEBEEHEDR
R o BRETEME R AL OEHRE
SRR -

BREHENAAENSREE (B
RIERS - BRZEHKANTED
BEHRE AERFAFRENR KA
ClEE = e EMERRIAR
RITHER) MEAFESAEMS
mWENEFRENBERERERX
T T B (E AT fh

REBREBHERAAENSREE (B
ERIREHEKATENEBRE B
ERARER RADBHR &
T HMEERERRITESR) &
BV EARMEE RS NED
KREMBRHERIBRETORERT
i FEERERERREERRER
FEeRTACERRBOER KRR -



172 Guotai Junan International | Annual Report 2024

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥R 3R B &

31 December 2024
2024%12 A31H

3.

Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)
Impairment assessment under ECL for accounts receivable
(except for secured margin loans) (continued)

(i) Inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques

ECL is the discounted product of expected future cash flows
by using the Probability of Default, Loss Given Default and
Exposure at Default, of which Probability of Default and Loss
Given Default are estimates based on significant management
judgement

(i)  Forward-looking information

In measuring ECL in accordance with HKFRS 9, it should
consider forward-looking information. The calculation of ECL
incorporates forward-looking information through the use
of publicly available economic data and forecasts based
on assumptions and management judgement to reflect the
qualitative factors and through the use of multiple probability
weighted scenario. Details of the impairment assessment of
financial assets at amortised cost and debt investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income are disclosed in
note 2.

Income taxes

Deferred tax asset has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position in relation to the estimated tax losses
as at year end for subsidiaries that are expected to have taxable
profits in the future. No deferred tax asset was recognised for the
unused tax losses in respect of subsidiaries where it is not probable
that sufficient profits will be generated. Details of the tax losses and
the deferred tax are disclosed in note 15.
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4.

Operating segment information

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the Group’s senior executive
management and in accordance with HKFRSs. The Group’s
operating businesses are structured and managed separately
according to the nature of their operations and the services they
provide. Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a
strategic business unit that offers services which are subject to
risks and returns that are different from those of the other operating
segments.

In preparing the segment information for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, the executive directors considered that
the business relating to wealth management, institutional investor
services, corporate finance services, investment management are
separate reportable segments.

Details of each of the operating segments are as follows:

(@)  wealth management provides comprehensive financial services
and solutions to individual investors, small to medium-sized
businesses and family office including: brokerage, loans
(mainly margin financing) and financing and other wealth
management services;

(b) institutional investor services provide market making,
investments, structured product solutions and other services
to corporations, governments and financial institutions,
and also includes Group investments to support the above
Services;

(c) corporate finance services provide advisory services, placing
and underwriting services of debts and equity securities;

(d) investment management provides asset management and
fund management services to institutions and individuals, and
also includes investment in funds, debts and equity securities;
and

(e) the “others” mainly represents rental income and the provision
of information channel services.

Inter-segment transactions, if any, are conducted with reference to
the prices charged to third parties.
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4. Operating segment information (continued)

The segment results of the Group for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024

4, BRESHER 2

B F20244F N2023F12A31H 1t
FE AEEHNDIBEEOT :

B £2024F12A318 1t §F

E
Institutional Corporate
Wealth Investor Finance Investment
Management Services Services Management Others Total
BEREE TrEmE
HEEE R R REER Hit @it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
Segment revenue and other income: 2 P R E fb Ui -
Commission and fee income RekERKE 439,410 86,378 318,628 27,339 - 871,755
Interest income M B 1,422,116 876,355 - 15,535 - 2,314,006
Net trading and investment income X 5 RIR & F W% 57,021 957,953 - 220,874 - 1,235,848
Other income A M g3 - - - - 5,428 5,428
Total Bt 1,918,547 1,920,686 318,628 263,748 5428 4,427,037
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRBLATE R/ (B18) 173,073 378,652 44,458 (229,552) - 366,631
Income tax expense FEHAS (15,934)
Profit for the year FREM 350,697
Other segment information: ABEMER
Net impairment charge on loans and % FRFEEFR K BHK
advances to customers FRERERE 12,198 - - - - 12,198
Net impairment charge on accounts  FEARFUE SR E &
receivable 2,471 3,987 (96) 9 - 6,371
Net impairment charge/(reversal) on  Eft 4 a4 E F R E
other financial assets BE/ (BE) (335) (194) - 23 - (506)
Net impairment charge on financial ~ ZAFEFAEMEE
assets at fair value through other WEmemEET
comprehensive income VRER:L = - - - 8,208 - 8,208
Depreciation wE 59,712 8,311 5,672 8,333 - 82,028
Finance costs BEKA 1,074,275 979,162 - 376,670 - 2,430,107
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4. Operating segment information (continued)

N
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4, BRESHER 2
Z£2023F12A318 1t §F

Year ended 31 December 2023 #
E
Institutional Corporate
Wealth Investor Finance  Investment
Management Services Services Management Others Total
BERESR rERE
MEER k% k% REEE Hity FoE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTREL TRL TR TREL TRL TRAL
Segment revenue and other income: 2 BB R E AUz ¢
Commission and fee income RekERKER 387,449 93,916 197,690 10,519 - 689,574
Interest income M B s 1,434,570 370,943 - 4,641 - 1,810,154
Net trading and investment income X5 kiR EF U&= 33,891 545,552 = 138,201 = 717,644
Other income H it zs - = = = 12,722 12,722
Total st 1,855,910 1,010,411 197,690 153,361 12,722 3,230,094
Profit/(loss) before taxation BEAER,/ (B8E) 398,480 251,590 (237,193)  (221,461) - 191,416
Income tax credit FrEHEe 14,689
Profit for the year ERia Al 206,105
Other segment information: DEEMER -
Net impairment charge on loans and 4 FRFER KRB H
advances to customers FRERE 23,984 - - - - 23,984
Net impairment charge on accounts  FEURFE %A B &
receivable 561 460 35,212 797 - 37,030
Net impairment charge/(reversal) on  Ef 4 a4 EF R E
other financial assets B/ (BE) (1,800) (387) = 152 = (2,035)
Net impairment charge on financial ~ ZAFEFAZMEE
assets at fair value through other hEmemEET
comprehensive income AERE - - - 511 - 511
Depreciation e 64,223 5,759 6,649 8,721 - 85,352
Finance costs BEMA 899,752 420,133 - 175,121 - 1,495,006
Geographical information b 19, & B
(a) Revenue and other income from external customers (@ INEEEFPARE A a5
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAIT
Hong Kong BB 4,153,919 2,887,306
Other countries HAth B K 273,118 342,788
4,427,037 3,230,094

The information of revenue and other income above is based
on the locations of the markets.

(b) Non-current assets

Majority of the non-current assets (excluding deferred tax
assets) of the Group are located in Hong Kong.

(b)

EXH A R E b 5 B R
THIRTH IS Hh B Am 8 o

FRBEE

AEEABLERBDEE (T
BRECRALE)HURE

B e

oA
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5. Revenue

5. IRA

The Group’s revenue is disaggregated as follows: AREBWRADFLT :
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Commission and fee income (Note (1)) W R EH YW (KiE))
Brokerage (Note (3)) wean 55 (B () 512,295 436,777
Corporate finance PERE
Placing, underwriting and sub-underwriting B & ~ &85 M 5 A& SR &
commission (Note (3)) (FfF 3£(3)) 255,129 141,754
Consultancy and financial advisory fee BEERBESHAE NS
income (Note (4)) (Bt 3%(4)) 47,930 45213
Asset management fee and performance BEEEBRRABRS
fee income (Note (4)) (FMt3E4)) 21,717 10,606
Handling income on financial products TREMTFEENS
(Note (3)) (M EE(3)) 34,684 55,224
S . ; ; 871,755 N BEaral
Interest income (Note (2)) FILE Yz (B15E2))
Interest income from customers (Note (5)) BEF B Y E (M EE(5)) 476,189 452,244
Interest income from banks (Note (5)) RITH) B Yz (FIEE5)) 1,006,883 1,026,468
Interest income from other financial H & s A S W
institutions(Note (5)) (Bt 3%(5)) 278,221 139,607
Interest income from fixed income securities & & W 25 7 5 Fl) B U 25 552,713 191,835
S . ; ; ; 2,314,006 Lo er
Net trading and investment income (Note (2)) X5 J #& & F W25 (B13E(2)
Net trading income/(loss) from fixed income 2K B EF W5 E %5 - FFA G
securities, unconsolidated investment BES  TETARKRARE
funds, derivative and equity investments BEmR S (BE) F5E 324,225 (42,501)
Net income from financial products & R E M WS 911,623 760,145
S 1,235848 ey
4,421,609 3,217,372
Note (1) Revenue arising from customer contracts under HKFRS 15 MaE(1) IRIBRBY SRS EDFE1555 K
BHEEFSHEENKA
Note (2) Revenue arising from other sources BEEQ) HabRREERMWA
Note (8) Commission and fee income arising from 1) brokerage, 2) placing, MIE@R) RBENELER 2R E « AH
underwriting and sub-underwriting commission, 3) handling income on Eo&EEMAE 3 /mE®RT
financial products is recognised at a point in time BEWNZNHEERERAKESENE
— B R
Note (4) Commission and fee income arising from 1) consultancy and financial a4 RAENVEREBREZABKZE  2)
advisory fee income, 2) asset management fee and performance fee income BEEBEELNKRREBNEZNES
are recognised over time R B AUk ES BE R RS e R
Note (5) Interest income from customers, interest income from banks and interest EEG) RKEEP - BITREMESREE

income from other financial institutions are calculated using effective interest

method

B R AR A ZEFE
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6. Staff costs 6. BT
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FB T TABTT
Staff costs (including directors’ BIRA(RIEEEMHS) :
remuneration):
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e - B4 K2R 781,457 768,002
Pension scheme contributions RIRESEFEIER 13,345 13,338
794,802 781,340
7. Finance costs 7. ELE R A
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FE T
Bank borrowings and overdrafts RITIERNES 633,006 572,163
Debt securities in issue ERTEERES 389,063 356,775
Securities borrowing and lending BHEE 2,747 2,511
Repurchase agreements o] B% 179 = 1,223,132 404,175
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,564 1,167
Accounts payable to clients BTREFREMNKIE 38,981 58,466
Others HAh 29,756 13,876
Sub-total (calculated using effective interest /Nt (BR BB B B H )£+ H)
method) 2,318,249 1,409,133
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit X AFEFABZN LR EE
or loss 111,858 85,873

2,430,107 1,495,006
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8. Profit before tax 8. PBRBiAIEF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): 7R &= B B BR B BT s A Th & HRL S (Bt
AN UTEERED :
2024 2023
2024% 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Auditor’s remuneration 1Z BT B
() audit services (i) Z=ERB 4,378 3,788
(i) interim review (iy " EAZEB 1,010 1,000
(i) Compliance and other consultancy (i) &R REMZARS
services 658 1,747
Other commission expenses HEAeMx 47,369 29,551
Information service expenses BERB A 49,529 48,398
Marketing, advertising and promotion MZHE BEREERE
expenses 4,525 4,361
Professional and consultancy fee BEERABE 95,607 90,309
Repair and maintenance (including system HiEhtZ(BERGERE)
maintenance) 100,593 84,365
Net impairment charge on loans and BTEPERERBTF
advances to customers BB B A 12,198 23,984
Net impairment charge on accounts FE R TR R (B B
receivable 6,371 37,030
Net impairment reversal on other financial H & mh & EF R ERE
assets (506) (2,035)

Net impairment charge on financial assets BAFER A M2 E
at fair value through other comprehensive K& B BEF R E R
income 8,208 511
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9. Income tax expense/(credit)

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong

Kong during the year.
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FreBipx (%)

FEREMNERDIAFAETEEEN
fl AT RERR Bt FIHZ 77 % 16.5% (2023

% :16.5%) B o

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FE T FAIT

Current — Hong Kong BNE — &%
— Charge for the year —FRHAZ 19,712 27,520
— Over-provision in prior years —BEFEEERE (1,159) (7,124)
Deferred (note 15) B (HI5E15) (2,619) (35,085)
Total tax expense/(credit) BB, (ER)B5HE 15,934 (14,689)

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit
before tax using the statutory rate to the tax expense at the

effective tax rate is as follows:

BOERDAEE MR Z BB A G F &
ZBREMAY (ER) BRBERHE
FREZRBER ZHERMAT

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FE T

Profit before tax B 15t B A 366,631 191,416

Tax at the statutory tax rate at 16.5% BATEHRE16.5%TE 2

(2023: 16.5%) 118 (20234 : 16.5%) 60,494 31,584
Over-provision in prior years BAEFEHBREEE (1,159) (7,124)
Income not subject to tax BB SR B A (207,849) (189,636)
Expenses not deductible for tax EE kR 93,958 118,390
Tax losses utilised EBAHIEERE (22) =

Tax losses not recognised AERBIBEE 66,918 30,071
Others Hith 3,594 2,026
Tax charge/(credit) for the year FRBEIL (ER) 15,934 (14,689)
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2.3, BB 3FMESHE  ~A&FH

the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of approximately HK$685,187,000 (2023:
HK$279,623,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits
against which the losses can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not expire

under current tax legislation.

3 4% 5k 2 51 7% TH 85 18 49685,187,000
7 7T (20234 : 279,623,000 7T)
MREERBEE  RFEASHEBH
HRlEEERREEBT AR
B) A 5% 5 B 18 DAE IR 85 /O R R IE =R
Fiom Al o WIBR TR A A - BB

&5 18 30 % f o HAER
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S

Income tax expense/(credit) (continued)

In 2021, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development published the Pillar Two model rules for a new global
minimum tax reform applicable to large multinational enterprises.
Certain jurisdiction in which the Group operates has implemented
Pillar Two income tax legislation based on this framework, and
those Pillar Two income tax laws became effective on 1 January
2024. As at 31 December 2024, the annual profits from jurisdiction
where the Pillar Two legislation is enacted or substantially enacted
but not yet in effect is immaterial. The Group is continuing to
assess the impact of the Pillar Two income taxes legislation on its
future financial performance.

FrB8Bimx (ER)»

20214 » R ES {FHL 8 R AH & %
HBTERRABEERCENTNS
KEEMNBHNENE I REH
Bl REEELMENSE TREAE
ERDTEREREREERETE =
SHERMERED  ZEEZZEFR
BRERN2024F1 A1H £ - B
2024F12H318 * £ - HEHIE
BB E B MIE R ERN R
BEERNFEMNBZETKR - A&
EIEEFETHE - EMERHRE
BT E R R FFRIBOFE -

10. Dividends 10. B &

2024
20244
HK$’000
FHET

2024 interim dividend, paid — HK$0.012 per 2024F R HARRE  EXN—ERK
Share f%30.0127%8 7T 114,529

2024 final dividend, proposed after the end of the 2024F RHAR B - A HAEREHEIK

reporting period — HK$0.02 per Share - RK71D0.025 T 190,731
305,260
2023
20234
HK$’'000
T

2023 interim dividend, paid — HK$0.01 per 2023FHHARRE  EXN—FRK
Share f%150.017% T 95,539

2023 final dividend, paid - HK$0.01 per 2023F RHARE - EX N —F&
Share i%190.017 7T 95,539
191,078

The 2024 interim dividend paid during the year were adjusted to
exclude the dividend for the shares bought back by the Company
before ex-dividend date amounting to HK$47,000.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming AGM and has
not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

7N E R 5 2024 4 Fh HR R B B E
FE - LAMB AR B A KRS B A
18] 59 f% 17 A% 247,000/ Tt °

AERRKARPREBFARAR
RREEBRRBERS EHAER
THAEE - RIS R HARER A
BfE-
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11. Earnings per share attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent

The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings per share are
based on:

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2024 is based on the profit attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the Company of HK$347,783,000
(2023: HK$201,261,000) and the weighted average number
of Shares in issue of 9,548,061,374 (2023: 9,553,994,707)
during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent. The weighted average number of Shares used in the
calculation is the number of Shares in issue during the year,
as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of Shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive Shares.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amounts presented for the year ended 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023 in respect of dilution as the impact of
the share option outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the
basic earnings per share amount presented.
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M. BLAREERKREREMN

B2

5 I H A T8 A D ER T 5%
R

() BREFXEF

(b)

B E2024F12831H It F
B BERELABFTRES
AARAE BRI RENR
347,783,000 7T (2023
% :201,261,000/8 7T) &
BEITRDAMNETFHEH
9,548,061,3740% (20234 :
9,553,994,707h%) B aH & ©

BREFREF
BRESRNDREAAE
BEBCREEFR M E
st E B AT R R B N4 F
KN EAESRERE N AR
RANFRASBITROKAE -
AR 8 3% P B B £ #E B D
7 5 31T B B () A0 #E
B8

AR ERITEBRESN S Z
HAEZINNERELABF ¢
BAREERE - B RE
8 ¥ E 22024512 A31H
K 2023F12A31H Ik F E Fr
EINEREARBHNSEE
HEFHE o
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12. Property, plant and equipment

12. 9% - BERRE

Right of use assets
EREEE
Office  Furniture Leasehold Motor Leasehold
equipment and fixtures  Buildings improvements  vehicles  Sub-total land  Buildings  Sub-total Total
HENE

BOZRE HAREE [ £ E4 RE Nt BELH g7 it &zt
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Thn Tén TAn TAn TAn TER TERL ThAR ThER TAR

31 December 2024 20245128318

As at 1 January 2024 R202451A1A
Cost K& 265,154 7,089 81,999 61,423 3,069 418,734 481,832 92,062 573,894 992,628
Accumulated depreciation 2iHirE (216,983) (6714 (30,334  (53408)  (3069)  (310,508)  (176,621)  (711,589)  (248,210)  (558,748)
Net carrying amount REHE 48171 375 51,665 8,015 - 108,226 305,211 20,473 325,684 433,910
Opening net carrying amount ENEEEE 48171 375 51,665 8,015 - 108,226 305,211 20,473 325,684 433,910
Additions RE 35,164 873 - 8,967 785 45,789 - 59,408 59,408 105,197
Exchange realignment SNEHE (236) - - (10) - (246) - (92) (92) (338)
Depreciation charged during the year £ /%7 & (32,958) (392 (2199  (7641) (22) (43212  (12988) (25828  (38,816)  (82,028)
Disposal e - - - (129) - (129) - - - (129)
Closing net carrying amount FREEFE 50,141 856 49,466 9,202 763 110,428 292,223 53,961 346,184 456,612

As at 31 December 2024 20245128318
Cost KA 296,346 6,488 81,999 68,061 3,497 456,391 481,832 88,122 569,954 1,026,345
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (246,205) (5,632) (32,533) (58,859) (2,734)  (345,963)  (189,609) (34,161)  (223,770)  (569,733)
Net carrying amount FEE 50,141 856 49,466 9,202 763 110,428 292,223 53,961 346,184 456,612
Right of use assets
RRELRE
Office Furniture Leasehold Motor Leasehold
equipment  and fixtures Buildings - improvements vehicles  Sub-total land Buldings ~ Sub-total Total
HENE

WAZRE BHREE g7 % A8 Nt BELH BT it &t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000 - HK$'000
FHAL THL TEL TEL FHL ThL FhL THL TAL TAL

31 December 2023 2023%F12/318

As at 1 January 2023 202351818
Cost KA 241,487 7,138 81,999 57,184 3,069 390,877 481,832 91,921 573,753 964,630
Accumulated depreciation ZiiE (185,270) (6,768 (28134  (50,006) (3,069  (273247) (163633  (49,061) (212,694  (485,941)
Net carrying amount REFE 56,217 370 53,865 7178 - 117,630 318,199 42,860 361,059 478,689
Opening net carrying amount FNREFE 56,217 370 53,865 7178 - 17630 318,199 42860 361,089 478,689
Additions "E 27,055 182 = 5,433 = 32,670 = 12,226 12,226 44,896
Exchange realignment SEHE (61) - - 24 - (37) - 25 25 (12)
Depreciation charged during the year £ R & (34,040) (177) 2,200) (4,620) - (41,037)  (12988)  (31,327) (44,315 (85352
Disposal HeE (1,000) = = = = (1,000 = (3,311) @311 @31)
Closing net carrying amount EREEFE 48,171 375 51,665 8,015 - 108,226 305,211 20,473 325,684 433,910

As at 31 December 2023 #2023512A31H

Cost KA 265,154 7,089 81,999 61,423 3,069 418,734 481,832 92,062 573,894 992,628
Accumulated depreciation 238 (216,989) (6,714 (30334 (53,408 (3,069  (310508)  (176621) (71,589  (248210)  (558,718)
Net carrying amount REE 48,171 375 51,665 8,015 - 108,226 305,211 20,473 305,684 433,910




Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥R 3R B &

31 December 2024
2024%12A31H

BHREZEK | 202453k 183

13. Goodwill and other intangible assets 13. HERHMELEE
Trading rights Goodwill Total
R G B et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T 7T T4
Net carrying amounts BREF(E
As at 1 January and 7R2023F1 A1H &
31 December 2023 12H31H 2,413 20,473 22,886
Trading rights Goodwill Total
RERE (5 #BEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET
Net carrying amounts BREFE
As at 1 January and R2024F1 18 &
31 December 2024 12H31H 20,473 22,886

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had three trading
rights in the Stock Exchange and two trading rights in The Hong
Kong Futures Exchange Limited. The intangible assets are not
amortised as they have no expiry date.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
the GTJA Vietnam cash-generating unit for impairment testing.
The recoverable amount (lower of fair value less cost of disposal
and value-in-use) of GTJA Vietnam has been determined based on
the value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections covering
a five-year period approved by the management. The discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections is 9% (2023: 8%) which
is determined based on the past business performance, the
management’s expectation of the market development and future
business plan. The discount rate used reflects specific risks
relating to GTJA Vietnam and have taken into account of the risk of
business uncertainties in the foreseeable future. As at 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023, the estimated recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit exceeded its carrying amount. Therefore,
no impairment loss was recognised.

R20244F K2023F12A31H » K&
EREAERBIAN =B ELE
BHERZHMAER AN -ERS
M AR IEDE A - R
W EE -

[EE- RN
BREBSHESHEESREE
RELYEBESELEEVMANBE
B - BB LA R E SR (A
N ER SRR REREEER
WEREEAE) HERFEAEEBS
EET BRTERATEERZTE
ZRERFHRSREN - HER
T8 8 BT A B3R X 59% (20234
8%) HNMERBEEBERIR B
BEH MG EZEBRARKEE
FEIEE  cFTAMBERBRERE
ZHEABEERR  EREFTR
AR RRAEBLTEEMERR - B
2024912831 H &20234F 12 B 31
H ReELEBMAOMGTATKE S
HEBHEREE - Bt WERER
REEBE -
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14. Other assets 14. Hth & E
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Basic contribution of the guarantee fund TN TEREENREES
paid to HKSCC EHARM K 769 630
Deposits with Stock Exchange REEZ RS
- Compensation fund —fEES 150 150
— Fidelity fund —ERE® 150 150
— Stamp duty deposit —ENfER R % 500 500
Admission fee paid to HKSCC TR FEBEENEANE 150 150
Reserve fund with THE SEHK Options REBBERZMEERE
Clearing House Limited AR ARNFES 6,895 7,577
Settlement risk fund paid to the Shanghai YRFLEEBELER SN
Stock Exchange HERBES 212 219
Deposit with HKFE Clearing Corporation RESPELEEARAGN
Limited ®e 4,172 4,769
License deposit with the Monetary Authority — FA T I3 & gb & 12 /5 5 HE R
of Singapore e 571 592
Statutory deposit with Hanoi Stock Exchange 7/ N %52 5 AT 80A E
re 4,363 4,224
17,932 18,961
The carrying amounts of the Group’s other assets approximate to NEBHEMEENETREEE AT

their fair values. HHEE
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15. Deferred tax

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year
are as follows:

Losses available
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15. IEFE R 18

FRAEEHBREBEREEZSNT

for offsetting
Accelerated tax against future Fair value
depreciation taxable profits (gain)/loss ECL allowance Total
AR
RRBERR AYE REER
MEHBHE e (&) /EE BABR )
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET TET TET
At 31 December 2023 and 1202312318 K
1 January 2024 2024%F1R1H (9,649) 236,911 - 6,070 233,332
Deferred tax charged to other REMZEKENR
comprehensive income EXHE = = (81) - (31)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to ﬁ@??iﬁ?ﬁ“\/ (10%)
profit or loss BB 1,771 36,020 - (2,706) 35,085
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 12023F 124318 J
2024 20241718 (7,878) 272,931 (31) 3,364 268,386
Deferred tax charged to other MG A2 ERER
comprehensive income BEEHE - - (4,174) - (4,174)
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss A B2 5t ABIEH A 135 186 - 2,298 2,619
As at 31 December 2024 202445124318 (7,743) 213,117 (4,205) 5,662 266,831

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same
taxation authority. The deferred income tax assets and liabilities
are to be utilised and settled after one year and the following
amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

EBRATEENAAGABHRIAEE
EAMBERBEEEIREEREHR
BN A ISR BRI RTE
FIEMEERABEREE - EL
FIEHEERBERR —FRTN
BRAMGEE M FIEFAEEER
HERBENSBUNESSTHNRR
RAFIER °

2024 2023
20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET THBTT

Deferred tax assets FEFRIBE E 275,846 277,892
Deferred tax liabilities RAEFIB B & (9,015) (9,506)
266,831 268,386

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2.3, the
Group has recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative
tax losses of HK$1,655 million (2023: HK$1,654 million) as it is
probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be
utilised will be available in the relevant jurisdiction and entity. The
tax losses do not expire under the current tax legislation.

BEMF23MHFLSAEE A&
E 5t 2B A E 81,6558 88 T
(20234 : 1,6548 &8 T) BRIE
ERIBEE ZERBABEEER R
B B8 1] AL A R R FE R AR FK 8 %
EEBR-BEEMRHE REEBE
S ARFNE -
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16. Loans and advances to customers

6. 8 TFTEFHNERKBERK

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FB T FE T

Margin loans FRER 9,628,032 7,631,029
Term loans to customers BTITEPHTHER 235,365 235,365
Less: impairment provision B R E R (2,116,996) (2,104,800)
7,746,401 5,761,594

Loans and advances are categorised into “excellent”, “fair” and
“individually impaired”. Excellent refers to exposures which margin
obligation are consistently met and the payment of principal and
interest is not in doubt, collaterals provided are highly liquid and of
good quality. Fair refers to exposures which principal and interest
are fully secured but the quality of the collateral is deteriorating,
shortfall would be expected when the collateral value continues to
deteriorate. Individually impaired refers to exposures which loss,
partial or full, has incurred and with insufficient collateral.

ERXRBRIBRIES] [E&E]
RIERIRE] - BFEERETT
FREE R A S M SR RIALER
R ARUWERRAEAERRAK
ERREFMENRER - EBEASM
MEE2HMEEAREERREELR®
gz AEAREEFETKRER
xS RErER - @RIRERD
ELXF B HERALERMWER
an Y LR
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16. Loans and advances to customers (continued) 16. 8 FEFHNERRKRER

(&)
Analysis of the gross carrying amount as at 31 December by the BAEBRNBEETBRLRERD L
Group’s internal credit rating and year end classification: HWM12 A1 B ERE B E T -
2024 20244
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
12-month not-credit- ECL credit-
ECL impaired impaired Total

RMEERE EfEERE
12/ A & NEHES NEHES

EREX EREX ERBEX At
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
(E—MB&) (F=FEER) (F=ME&)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
Internal rating grade W EB R AR THERT FTET TET TERT
Performing E%
Excellent B% 7,427,075 - - 7,427,075
Fair Lim - 332,060 - 332,060
Non-performing TR
Individually impaired EbbERI - - 2,104,262 2,104,262
7,427,075 332,060 2,104,262 9,863,397
2023 20234
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
12-month not-credit- ECL credit-
ECL impaired impaired Total
AEERE EEERE
1218 A 78 548 &) 2 B TE i) % B3 78 5
ERBX FEREX EREBX Bt
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
(B—RE&) (BZREER) (B=ER)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Internal rating grade MR T AR FAT FAT TAT THT
Performing ER
Excellent BF 5,434,461 - - 5,434,461
Fair Lim 302,448 25,783 - 328,231
Non-performing TR
Individually impaired EbbERIEL - - 2,103,702 2,103,702

5,736,909 25,783 2,103,702 7,866,394
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16. Loans and advances to customers (continued) 16. 8 FEFHNERRKRER

(4)
The movements of the gross carrying amount of loans and BF RPN ER LA RERAEEE
advances to customers are as follows: E N
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
12-month not-credit- ECL credit-
ECL impaired impaired Total

RMEERE EREERE
12f8 A & NE2HEY NEHES

EREX EREX EREX #at
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
(B—PBER) (B=FEER) (B=FEE)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THER THER THER
Gross carrying amount as at 1 20231 A1 MERE
January 2023 BME 6,208,751 - 2,379,854 8,588,605
New assets originated, purchased EE4% - BB ERNHE
or assets transferred ESCEENEE 1,903,502 1,956 4,068 1,909,526
Assets derecognised or repaid B R IFHER KB EEN
BE (2,307,664) (14,148) (309,925) (2,631,737)
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2 HHE—EEEAE K& (37,975) 37,975 - -
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 3 HFE—EEREALZ =& (29,705) - 29,705 =
Gross carrying amount as at R2023F 124318 &
31 December 2023 and as R2024F1 B1BH)
at 1 January 2024 REAE 5,736,909 25,783 2,103,702 7,866,394
New assets originated, purchased EE4% - BB ERNHE
or assets transferred EREEENEE 3,801,147 17,302 1,236 3,819,685
Assets derecognised or repaid ~ ERIFHER KD EEN
BE (1,761,529) (48,439) (12,714) (1,822,682)
Transfer from stage 1to stage 2 HBE—REBAFZ KR (337,414) 337,414 - -
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 3 ME—EEEAZ =K (12,038) - 12,038 -
Gross carrying amount as R2024F12 431 H K

at 31 December 2024 RHEAE 7,427,075 332,060 2,104,262 9,863,397
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16. 8 FTEFNERRER

16. Loans and advances to customers (continued)

(%)
The movements of the ECL allowance on loans and advances to BTITEFPHERNBAROTEREH
customers are as follows: B BT -
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
12-month not-credit- ECL credit-
ECL impaired impaired Total
KEERE EEERE
1218 A 2 278 5 M2
EREX EREX EHREX @t
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
(B—PBER) (B=FEER) (B=FEE)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET FHET THET
ECL allowance as at 1 January 1202351418 #TEE
2023 fERBEREE (3,296) - (2,193,940) (2,197,236)
New assets originated or BEEAXEBEN
purchased MEE - (75) (1,195) (1,270)
Assets derecognised or repaid B R IFER KD EEN
BE - - 117,433 117,433
Changes to risk parameters R 282 2,149 - (24,661) (22,512)
Changes arising from transfer of  JRR 8% B B # &
stage - (915) (300) (1,215)
ECL allowance as at 31 December %2023 12A31H k
2023 and 1 January 2024 2024F1 A1 A K FEH
ERBREE (1,147) (990) (2,102,663) (2,104,800)
New assets originated or BEASEEENTEAE
purchased (3) (661) (627) (1,291)
Assets derecognised or repaid 2R IFER KD EEN
BE - 216 10 226
Changes to risk parameters [2 [ 2 21 (395) 131 3,942 3,678
Changes arising from transfer of R EB R/ E
stage 60 (11,414) (3,455) (14,809)
ECL allowance as at 31 December 72024412 331 HH]
2024 RHEREXES (1,485) (12,718) (2,102,793) (2,116,996)

There were no loans and advances to customers which have

20244 K 2023412 A31H @ &
B SE RN AE TR FIHRITEA
BTFEPHNERRER -

been written off but were still subject to enforcement activity at 31
December 2024 and 2023.



190 Guotai Junan International | Annual Report 2024

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥R 3R B &

31 December 2024
2024%12 A31H

16.

17.

Loans and advances to customers (continued)

Margin financing operations

The Group provides customers with margin financing for securities
transactions, which are secured by customers’ securities held as
collateral. The maximum credit limit granted for each customer is
based on the customer’s financial background and the quality of
related collateral. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables and has a credit and risk management
department to monitor credit risks.

Margin loans to the customers are secured by the underlying
pledged securities, bear interest at a rate with reference to the
HK$ prime rate and are repayable on demand. The carrying
value of margin loans approximates to their fair value. No ageing
analysis is disclosed as the Group considers an ageing analysis
does not give additional value in view of the nature of the margin
loans business. The amount of credit facilities granted to margin
clients is determined by the discounted market value of the
collateral securities accepted by the Group. As at 31 December
2024, the total value of securities pledged as collateral in respect
of the margin loans was approximately HK$39,512 million (2023:
HK$30,655 million) based on the market value of the securities as
at the end of the reporting period.

Term loans to customers

The Group also provides term loans to customers. In determining
the interest rates, reference is made to the credit standing of
the relevant customers and the quality and value of the collateral
pledged.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all term loans were categorised
as Stage 3 and were fully impaired.

Loans to directors

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no
loans to directors pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the CO and Part
3 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation.

16.

17.

RMTEFNERRBR
()
FRBMEXRK

AREREFRHATFRHAR
BE UEPHNEFFHIERMmMmE
R -BREFPERNEREERE
TR PGS S RAAFARE
HmMERRELE AEERRE
B E KB (B R W R IR B B AR I
WY TEE REREEBFISEE
EERR -

BTREEFMNAFREZARBE KH
BHER BEREBEBIRERFE
EEMREFE  WIRERKERER-
FEEFMEEDEREQRFEM
B -HRAEERE ERNFRE
REBHMEE Rk TSR
HEIHNEE WHERZRRED
M- BYFHFREFNEERERTD
BIEAEBEZENAIERZESFIEIRT
EET - N20245F12A31H - 1k
ATREFEFRRNERBESA
B 49 £39,5128 B & T (20234 :
30,655 B IL) ' WWHIEBEFR
REMANTEFESH -

RMTEFNEMER
AEBREESRETEHER - 1
EEFER  §2ZAWRES M
BEEMRAURMERNERRE
ERIEME -

R20244 K 2023%12A31H © fi A
EHERYOBAE=-RRI 25
JEL1E o

MTESHWER

B 220244 K2023F 12 A318 1L F
& &R (R REHI) 55383(1)
(AERARI(BEEENZER) R
BIEIHBLTEENER ©
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18. Accounts receivable 18. FE W K18
The carrying values of accounts receivable arising from the course REBEBBEDRELNEIR
of business of the Group are as follows: EREMBENAT :
2024 2023
2024% 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Accounts receivable arising from brokerage &840 2 7% i U 3R 1B
— cash and custodian clients B RAERP 558,174 15,378
- the Stock Exchange and other clearing — BT R A A& E R
houses 2,296,273 1,135,430
- brokers and dealers —BERR5E 7,052,717 6,660,076

Accounts receivable arising from securities & %5 {5 B % 75 e W k18
borrowing and lending
— brokers and dealers —RERRFHHE 1,098,216 149,641

Accounts receivable arising from corporate ~ ¥FE - EEEE SRIE

finance, asset management, financial m T R IR A 2T HE HGR
products, market making and investments |
— corporate clients, investment funds and —ERF - REESRH
others f 167,080 500,826
11,172,460 8,461,351
Less: impairment provision W R E R (76,090) (69,876)
11,096,370 8,391,475
The movements in the impairment allowance on accounts receivable FEUW B R EREEE T -
are as follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
At 1 January MW1A18 69,876 32,756
Impairment provision charged to profit or loss 4F AT A8 %5 B R {8 B
during the year 7,360 37,426
Impairment provision reversed during the year 4 A [0 #5518 £ 1 (989) (396)
Exchange difference E N =58 (157) 90

At 31 December M12H31H 76,090 69,876
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18. Accounts receivable (continued) 18. EWWRIE ()
There was no accounts receivable which have been written off but HR20244F K2023F12HA31H » &
were still subject to enforcement activity at 31 December 2024 and BB EE TR BEITENN
2023. JE U FRIR -
The carrying values of accounts receivable arising from the course NEBEEFBIREPRPTE S EIRK
of business of the Group are as follows: BEEERMEWDT :
31 December 2024 2024F12831H
Accounts
receivable
Accounts Accounts from
receivable receivable corporate
from cash  from the Stock Accounts clients,
and  Exchange and receivable investment
custodian  other clearing from brokers funds and
clients houses and dealers others Total
ReR BRMmR BER LEEF -
TEEF Hitn &8 X5H REESER
FEW A FEW KA Ekzos  HtEKRE #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TART TER TET TET
Gross carrying amount REAE 558,174 2,296,273 8,150,933 167,080 11,172,460
Less: impairment A ORE
- Stage 1 - F-BR N/A
(111) (1,279) (10,809) TEHA (12,199)
- Stage 2 -5-RR N/A
(1) - - TER (1)
- Stage 3 - F=RER N/A
(948) - - TEHA (948)
- Simplified approach -fB5% N/A N/A N/A
TEA TEA TEA (62,942) (62,942)

557,114 2,294,994 8,140,124 104,138 11,096,370
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18. Accounts receivable (continued)
31 December 2023
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18. EURFRIE ()
2023%12H31H

Accounts
receivable
Accounts Accounts from
receivable receivable corporate
from cash  from the Stock Accounts clients,
and Exchange and receivable investment
custodian other clearing from brokers funds and
clients houses and dealers others Total
ek Bt ST % gk rERR -
AEEF HEiEE R5HME REEER
FEW IR FTIE W 3R0E EYHE  HtERRE Fobe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TAT TR TR
Gross carrying amount FHEAE 15,378 1,135,430 6,809,717 500,826 8,461,351
Less: impairment B ORE
- Stage 1 —E—EE N/A
(1) (651) (4,981) TiEf (5,639)
- Stage 2 - F-BE N/A
(127) = - TiE A (127)
- Stage 3 —E=RB N/A
(1,006) = - TiE A (1,006)
- Simplified approach ~#@ 5% N/A N/A N/A
TER TiE TER (63,110) (63,110)
14,244 1,134,779 6,804,736 437,716 8,391,475
Accounts receivable from cash and custodian clients represent HEe R tEE PN EWRZIE T
unsettled client trades on various securities exchanges transacted REFERZANEEMI =T
on the last two to three business days prior to the end of the EARETRZBLHR ZETETH AR
reporting year. When the cash and custodian clients fail to settle gEREG S  —HIRS® NAER
on the settlement date, the Group has the rights to force-sell the EPARENGEEHENKE  AEH
collateral underlying the securities transactions. The collateral HiEa % EF A 5 EBEN K
held against these receivables is publicly traded securities. The oot ¥z S E I R IAE A K
impairment provision is made after taking into consideration the EAEARARSESR REREEE
recoverability from the collateral. No ageing analysis is disclosed EEMIHTWEHEEL =5
as the Group considers an ageing analysis does not give additional DA BARNZEEKFEBNES -

value in view of the nature of these accounts receivable.

Rk DT A& HREIMEE - #K
WBEEARE DN -
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18. B FRIE ()

ReHheMEEEPWERKREAD
REAREZESHIINT

18. Accounts receivable (continued)

The movement of the gross carrying amount of accounts receivable
arising from brokerage of cash and custodian clients are as follows:

Lifetime ECL Lifetime
12-months not credit- ECL credit-
ECL impaired impaired Total
AEERE BiEERE
128 A MEEES i ihER
P ERBEX EREX @t
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
(B—PE&) (BfEER) (E=E&)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TET TET TET
Gross carrying amount as at R2023F1 1B KRR
1 January 2023 faE 9,309 88 569 9,911
New assets originated, purchased CEL  CBEMNHE
or assets transferred EXCEENEE 4,871 2,321 4,734 11,926
Assets derecognised or repaid ERERRAEEEN
BE (6,492) (1) 34 (6,459)
Transfer of stages B EE (1,119) 943 176 =
Gross carrying amount as at 7202312 318 R
31 December 2023 and as at 20241 A1EMEE
1 January 2024 @E 6,569 3,296 5,513 15,378
New assets originated, purchased EEL  EBEEMNHE
or assets transferred EXEBRENEE 552,957 6 (4,150) 548,813
Assets derecognised or repaid ERIEERHZEEEN
43 (5,688) - (329) (6,017)
Transfer of stages BHREE 3,156 (3,270) 114 -
Gross carrying amount as at 202412 A31 R )
31 December 2024 REAE 556,994 32 1,148 558,174
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18. Accounts receivable (continued) 18. EUWFKIE (&)
The movements in the ECL allowance of accounts receivable arising KA S NI ERE PR EWRIER
from brokerage of cash and custodian clients are as follows: TEBHERERBEEESHHIMT
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
12-months not credit- ECL credit-
ECL impaired impaired Total

RMEERE ERERE
12f8 A B W2HRN HE2HEH

ERB% ERBAX EEPS @t
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
(B-F&) (E-B&) (B=ER)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL FHT THAT
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2023 72023F 1518 £ H
ERBAEE (6) 7) (568) (581)
New assets originated or purchased EEASEBENFEE 4 - 8 12
Assets derecognised or repaid BERIRRAIEEENEE 2 (120) (279) (391)
Changes to risk parameters e e (1) - (179) (174)
ECL allowance as at 31 December  12023F12 4311 [k20245F
2023 and 1 January 2024 1A1BMBEHEREX
B (1) (127) (1,006) (1,134)
New assets originated or purchased ~EEAHEBENHEE (109) - (169) (278)
Assets derecognised or repaid BRIBRRAIEERENEE 2 - 341 343
Changes to risk parameters e ¢ @) 126 (114) 9
ECL allowance as at 31 R20245F12A31 BB EE

December 2024 FELEE (111) (1) (948) (1,060)
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18. Accounts receivable (continued) 18. EWWRIE ()

For accounts receivable from the Stock Exchange and other
clearing houses, brokers and dealers, and insurance brokerage,
no ageing analysis is disclosed as the Group considers an ageing
analysis does not give additional value in view of the nature of these
accounts receivable. There was no transfer of ECL allowance to
different stages, and all of them are classified as stage 1 under ECL
model during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Accounts receivable from corporate clients and investment funds
arising from asset management, corporate finance, investment
holding and market making which have not yet been settled by
clients after the Group’s normal credit period. The credit rating and
reputation of the trade counterparties were considered as sound
for the past due accounts receivable from corporate clients and
investment funds.

Ageing analysis of the relevant trade receivables at the date of
consolidated statement of financial position based on past due date
is as follows:

HRBMRXAREMERER S8R
R 5 1 DA R AR B 45 42 B e W Rk IR
AEERB  HRZFEKFKIED
ME - BRBRSTM A ERFEINE
B MAEEEMEE DT - RE
£ 20244 K2023%F12A31H 1IE 4
B -HEgEHREREAEEEY
E2TRIKBE  BHRBHEREBEL

BRBISESE R -

EPRAKE—REEHRERKRE
ENEEEPRKREESMEER
H(EEBEEERE OHERE -
REZEREEM) HREXEF
REEESNEBHRKE X
SHFHONEEFREBERER

Rz BAR AKX B BRRZESE A
AR FE U B 5 R IE H) AR BR 0 AT 28
T

2024 2023

2024 % 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET TABTT

Not yet past due i#] 7K 480 Bf 74,838 433,356
Past due less than 1 month BHEI—E A AR 22,651 83
Past due between 1 to 3 months mH—Z=={EA 5,551 1,687
Past due over 3 months wHA=1E A LA £ 64,040 65,700
Total et 167,080 500,826

Accounts receivable from corporate clients and investment funds
arising from asset management, corporate finance, investment
holding and market making using a provision matrix under simplified
approach. The provision rates are based on DPD for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, and
coverage by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade
receivables are written off if past due for more than one year and
are not subject to enforcement activity.

BB AERBRBREFENDE
EPEEREESMRBERE (EL
BEEEE GBXERE REEK
K)o B R Ty ER A A B U
BEEA (AR EE  EmREE -
BEPERLFIR ULERERE
BESHBTANEERR) <&
&P D EETDE 2 BEREGE
B -ZERRBXNELER &
B RHREEENRREBBESMN
B AT AR B R B AR O A O TRORI Y
BERHUESHAERIFEE
Fe —R&imE - W E S KRR
Hi—F AL - RIMGHE K E 5508
I BAZ@BNMITIEBPTARR
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18. Accounts receivable (continued) 18. EUWFKIE (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on AT EFEREEEETENEGBAR
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: EFHEWREZESFTBEZ ZERRER :
2024 20244
Gross carrying

amount ECL Total

REAE FEHEHEBEX #et

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET FHET

Not yet past due i A 80 HA 74,838 (77) 74,761

Past due less than 1 month BEI—1E A AR 22,651 (14) 22,637

Past due between 1 to 3 months #EH— = =& A 5,551 (55) 5,496

Past due over 3 months wHEI =1 A A £ 64,040 (62,796) 1,244

Total R 167,080 (62,942) 104,138

2023 20234
Gross carrying

amount ECL Total

RERE TEHERABX Bt

HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000

TAT AT AT

Not yet past due 14 7 481 Hf 433,356 (203) 433,153

Past due less than 1 month E B — & A AR 83 - 83

Past due between 1 to 3 months #El—Z= =1 A 1,687 (163) 1,524

Past due over 3 months B HEI =& A LA & 65,700 (62,740) 2,960

Total e 500,826 (63,106) 437,720

19. Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 19. {4 & E - ZE& K H b

=+
FE W 5k 18

2024 2023

2024 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FBAFXIB « & & & E fib &

YRR 135,771 117,790

Interest receivables & WA B 83,166 101,895

218,937 219,685
None of the above assets is either past due or credit-impaired. The it & 2 L e HA T W 4 (= BOR
financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables Bot A L& mE ot EENE R

for which there was no recent history of default. B E RS EWRIER -
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20. Financial assets at fair value

20.ZAFEHIENEME

=3
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FRET
Non-current JERED
Financial assets held for trading and BIEEEREENEREE
investments
— Unlisted equity securities —JE LT AR E 1,238,747 1,825,052
Financial products (note (b)) & pi = m (Fi ¥ (b)) 4,364,220 14,820,896
5,602,967 16,645,948
Current mE
Financial assets held for trading and BIEEEREENEREE
investments
— Unlisted fixed income securities —JE ETHEE W &S 39,402 3,402
— Unlisted convertible securities —3E Em A MR E S 215,593 205,920
— Listed equity securities —EFTRARES 1,199,157 1,325,364
— Listed debt securities — T ERES 21,877,735 4,276,860
— Unlisted debt securities —EEMEBES 2,735,536 5,088,358
— Listed fund investments —LTHESKE 1,741,131 5,912,798
— Unlisted fund investments (note (a)) —FLEMESEKE (Wik@) 516,627 726,619
— Other financial instruments —Hih ST A 507,988 159,439
Financial products (note (b)) & mi = m (Fi () 35,889,656 33,714,241
64,722,825 51,413,001
Total financial assets at fair value through EAFEFABSNSH
profit or loss BEBT 70,325,792 68,058,949
Financial assets at fair value through other BRAFEFAEMEEEES
comprehensive income e REE
Current mE
Financial assets held for investments BIERENSREE
— Listed equity securities — R ARES 670,284 76,481
— Listed debt securities —FhEBES 7,523,556 370,123
— Unlisted debt securities —FLEMEBHIES 791,432 =
8,985,272 446,604
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20. Financial assets at fair value (continued)

Notes:

The Group invested in unconsolidated investment funds for capital appreciation
and investment income. The interests held by the Group are in the form of
participating shares which provide the Group with the share of returns from
the investment funds, but not any decision making power nor any voting right.
Given that the Group only held the beneficial interests without holding any voting
right or substantial decision making power as principal, these investments are
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The financial products invested by the Group included listed equity investments,
listed debt investments, unlisted fund investments, unlisted equity investments
and derivatives. As at 31 December 2024, securities collateral of HK$193 million
(2023: HK$185 million) were placed to the counterparties.

Financial assets are categorised as “financial products” when it is acquired by
the Group for the primary purpose of meeting customers’ investment needs
and used as hedging instruments for structured notes issued under the MTN
Programme (note 27), financial liabilities (note 28) or derivative instruments
acquired by customers (note 21). As a result, the variable return of these
financial products and the financial liabilities in relation to these financial
products is not significant.
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20 BAFEHIFENEHME
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AEBERERARAHREES AR
BEXRZERRERA - AEE I
2RV AFERER REAKET
DEREESHMEEE  EXEME
MRRBAEMNERRE - ERAE
EEFAERERNTEEAKRE
BHXMEZABERNRERE %%
RESBEREBEATFTEAARENS
BEE °

AEERENSREREE ETWR
AEE  EHEBERE FLTHE
SERE FETRARERITET
A - R2024F12A318 ' TR R
SHFHNELHEKA R B193EEH
7 (20234 : 185A BB IT) ©

EREERNHASEIERRER
FRERBKMPER BRI R
Eml - YERRETHREEE
THAEBERE (MZE27)  S8E
& (ffae8) R E P UKEBMITAET A
(ME&E21) MR T A - MUt ZEF S
MEMIREEABcMARZTZO
AKX e

Assets pledged BERAEE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Trading assets, financial investments and cash pledged X ZMEE @B ENMBHEFES 538,529 1,136,193
Amount of liabilities secured FEREEESE (562,746) (928,035)

The table above shows assets where a charge has been granted to secure
liabilities on a legal and contractual basis. These transactions are conducted
under terms that are usual and customary to collateralised transactions
including sale and repurchase agreements and securities lending, derivative
margining, and include assets pledged to cover short positions and to facilitate
settlement processes with clearing houses.

ERIRABERABMIREEZRS
HMEERERNEE ZFERH IR
FEARS (BEHE OB
BHEE FTETARIS)N—MR
REBGFET  LBEAERRK
BhREGEMETEEREMER
HONEE -
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21. Derivative financial instruments M. TE€mI A

The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial
instruments recorded as assets or liabilities together with their
notional amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the
amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference rate or index
and is the basis upon which changes in the value of the derivative
are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of
transactions outstanding at the year end and are indicative of

TREJLHKASEERRENITTE
TRITANAFEEREEZES
BB EaxsBEER/TE
TEAMBEE 2EZEXRIIEHN
SE VYARITETIABENEE

MEE - ZRSBERANFRRE
KR ZE - BET =2 % AR IRk

neither the market risk nor the credit risk.

FEERBRMNER -

Fair value
ATE
Notional
amount Assets Liabilities
EHRLHE BE =K+
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET THET
As at 31 December 2024 M2024F12831H
Non-current FETRED
Currency derivatives EMTET A
Foreign exchange forward i BRSNGE 7,471,417 22,371 (244,863)
Interest rate derivatives MEFTET A
Interest rate swap 1) % 4 B 6,122,881 119,164 (54,042)
Equity derivatives BEETETR
Stock options fix 5= B 4 459,934 26,485 (3,347)
Warrants M 165,034 - (5,692)
Swaps = 5 70,320 71,139 -
Other derivatives HafTAETH 758,192 5,787 (2,432)
15,047,778 244,946 (310,376)
Current Vi
Commodity derivatives EmiTAE TR
Metal futures swap T EHEEH 13,554,539 184,604 (187,526)
Currency derivatives EETETR
Foreign exchange forward = BN 42,930,108 458,332 (642,790)
Cross currency swap R X & ¥ = By
Interest rate derivatives FEHFTETH
Interest rate swap 7] 2 $e3 B 28,927,947 76,422 (42,324)
Equity derivatives ANTETER
Stock options iz 2= HA 9,398,736 212,776 (216,134)
Warrants RIRE R 4,457,956 - (61,437)
Futures HE 1,463,780 14,129 (32,981)
Swaps = 5 12,499,628 563,958 (563,483)
Other derivatives HMATET AR 957,233 1,373 (1,078)
114,189,927 1,511,594 (1,747,753)
129,237,705 1,756,540 (2,058,129)
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21. Derivative financial instruments (continued) 21. T4 €mI B
Fair value
NEE
Notional
amount Assets Liabilities
HESHE EE aE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T TT T T
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12H31H
Non-current JE B
Currency derivatives EETET A
Foreign exchange forward = B HINE 12,404,918 13,645 (159,641)
Interest rate derivatives MEFTET A
Interest rate swap I & 4 HA 9,663,688 303,260 (125,124)
Equity derivatives EmBITETER
Stock options fix 5= BA 4 96,054 3,603 (36)
Warrants R 114,974 = (2,795)
Swaps 1= 5 547,904 2,096 (9,336)
Other derivatives HEapTAET A 347,899 550 (260)
23,175,437 323,154 (297,192)
Current mE
Commodity derivatives EmiTE TR
Metal futures swap BT 10,932,437 87,919 (85,097)
Currency derivatives BEBSTAET R
Foreign exchange forward iR BRSNE 29,418,555 89,815 (157,862)
Cross currency swap R X E¥i=H 390,590 3,230 =
Interest rate derivatives MEFTET A
Interest rate swap 7] 2 $e3 B 7,882,832 33,618 (39,407)
Equity derivatives BASTETE
Stock options % 5= HA 4 9,980,193 262,217 (214,086)
Warrants RIKHE B 2,818,254 = (43,290)
Futures HE 1,939,342 8,130 (20,476)
Swaps 2 5 25,273,092 1,127,032 (831,022)
Other derivatives HafTAETHE 622,978 145 (5,143)
89,253,273 1,612,106 (1,396,383)
112,428,710 1,935,260 (1,693,575)

The Group entered into ISDA master netting agreements or similar
agreements with substantially all of its derivative counterparties.
Where legally enforceable, these master netting agreements give
the Group the right to offset cash collateral paid or received with
the same counterparty. As at 31 December 2024, amounts of cash
collateral of HK$3,397 million and HK$2,587 million were paid
to and received from respective counterparties (2023: HK$3,904
million and HK$3,083 million), which are included in “accounts
receivable and accounts payable arising from brokerage — brokers
and dealers” in notes 18 and 24 to the financial statements
respectively.

REFEBRBOTETELSH
SV BB R OTE RS FREIE
5 2 1 sk S SR LU o TEMRVA A] 58
FEITER T RS FEEEER
R T AN 2 [ A ) DA 8 B2 AR [R) 32
SHANBEMNKBERESIEAER - 1
2024F12A31H - B EHEmE
¥83,397H B8 7T %2,587E B & T
(20234 : 3,904 7 & & 7T 3,083
BEBET) 2B T R E HEER
S5 DR BREENEHRERME8
NoAR [ 45 40 5 75 FE IR 5078 K JE -
RBE-ELRRFE] -
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22.

23.

Receivable from reverse repurchase
agreements

The receivable from reverse repurchase agreements arises
when the securities are bought by the Group with a concurrent
agreement to resell at a specified later date and price. These
securities are not recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position as the counterparty retains substantially
all risks and returns of the securities. The amount paid by the
Group is recognised as receivable. In the event of default by
the counterparty, the Group has the right to sell the underlying
securities for settling the outstanding receivable.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding amount paid for the
reverse repurchase agreements was HK$9,982,509,000 (2023:
HK$739,579,000) and was recognised as receivable from reverse
repurchase agreements.

The fair value of securities received as collateral for the outstanding
receivable at the year-end was HK$9,963,680,000 (2023:
HK$858,909,000).

Cash and cash equivalents and client trust
bank balances

22.

23.

f= 12 (2] 55 165 3% M W 5K IR

[ 17) [2] A& 199 2 2 e W AR IR IR AR 5
BEBSREL EWRKEIML—
A AIREERRAHRER
BE ZEEFLERAEEES
MBMRRKRTHER RARXST
REZEEFNBRBD AR NE
o ARE N HHIAHER DRI
KRB -WMXBHEN AKEBERE
HERBEZAEERBBHEWR

TRIH °

MR2024F12H831H @ #t & @
DEBEITNAREERES
9,982,509,000/% jt (20234 :
739,579,000/ L) * WHER &R M
=] B 107 = P WA o

RERDWEIE AR KRGS E K
REEBEMNEHFNAFTES
9,963,680,000/% Jt (20234 :
858,909,000/ 7T ) ©

BeRkRATSEURE
FEFEIRITAER

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TR
Cash and bank balances ] RIRITAEEH 5,999,235 6,474,841
Time deposits E BE R 1,204,914 932,974
— with original maturity of less than three —REBHALR=EA
months 662,832 713,488
— with original maturity of more than three —REHBABBE=[EA
months 542,082 219,486
7,204,149 7,407,815
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23. Cash and cash equivalents and client trust 23. B¢ RESEEBYRE

bank balances (continued) FEEAE1TESR =
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FABIT
Cash and cash equivalents BEUATEBETFENERE S X

denominated in: HEEEY :
HK$ BT 2,650,926 1,954,761
Us$ ETT 1,653,891 2,470,664
RMB AR 2,328,405 2,371,407
VND W E 138,845 128,906
Others HAih 432,082 482,077
7,204,149 7,407,815

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one month and 6 months depending on the cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective time
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no history of default.

As at 31 December 2024, the ECL allowance of bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, and client trust bank balances
amounted to HK$1,795,000 (2023: HK$3,503,000) in aggregate. All
of them are classified as Stage 1 under the ECL model and there
was no transfer to/from the other stages.

The Company maintains segregated accounts with authorized
institutions to hold client money in the normal course of business.

RITBEERFARTHERN KR
FBR R E - EHERNFERHA
BAEENREFRME N F—
BAZENMEA - LiREEEHFR
MEFB - RITERETHFEAGER
b BB R ESE EVERTTH ©

R2024%F 128318 » SR1ITFER -
RekReEEYAREFPER
THHENTBHEREREBREE LR
1,795,000 7T (20234F : 3,503,000
BIL) IR TBEERBAERERE
PEF—RE BXAREBA EH
H A PEER -

ARARERBEBREBELIRS -
REEXBBRTRATFPER
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24. Accounts payable

24. FEFRIE

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Accounts payable arising from brokerage ERE Y AN O
- clients —-®F 13,429,990 11,987,595
- brokers and dealers — KRR 5 4,544,838 4,524,821
— the Stock Exchange and other clearing — B R FT R E A A E P
houses 802,238 318,581
Accounts payable arising from securities BHEE XG5 KIE
borrowing and lending 49,618 6,025
Accounts payable arising from corporate TERE BETHE SRE
finance, asset management, financial m o T BB R EMER
products, market making, investments and i ANE A
others 888,120 1,211,337

19,714,804 18,048,359

The majority of the accounts payable are repayable on demand
except for certain accounts payable to clients which represent
margin deposits received from clients for their trading activities in
the normal course of business. Only the excess amounts over the
required margin deposits stipulated are repayable on demand.

The Group has a practice to satisfy all the requests for payment
within one business day. No ageing analysis is disclosed as the
Group considers the ageing analysis does not give additional value
in view of the nature of these businesses.

Accounts payable to clients also include those payables in trust
accounts with authorised institutions of HK$12,057 million (2023:
HK$13,753 million), Hong Kong Futures Exchange Clearing
Corporation Limited and other futures dealers of HK$130 million
(2023: HK$131 million).

Accounts payable arising from insurance brokerage services include
those payables in trust accounts with authorised institutions of
HK$nil (2023: HK$nil). Accounts payable are non-interest-bearing,
except for the accounts payable to clients.

REBOENRBEARELKEE
HEETRENTEPHNRBARREP
REFXBBETETEEIPIK
REFPHREEKRI - REBHR
ERBEHSEANRBERBEEER
Eo

AEEERE—EEXBRBERMR
BNREFR - NEE W E R FERE
o RRASSREEREIZERD
MEE  RRRERDT TS REMARE
SMEME °

BN FEPHFRENBEIED BT K
KRR EESTRFEMN12,0578 8
7 7T (20234 : 13,753@ &8 7T)
BEEHEHEERR AR NEMBE
X5 EE1308 8 7 T (20234 :
131E BB L) RN -

REELCREGENRARER AR
BEXRPNENFE/TET
(20234 : TBT) - REMN TP K
RSN - A RIEG NG E o
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25. Other payables and accrued liabilities

25.
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HWENREARET&

&

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTH T T

Other payables b &3R8 16,119 24,810
Accrued liabilities JEEtaE 793,171 629,331
809,290 654,141

Other payables and accrued liabilities are non-interest-bearing and
have an average term of three months.

Hitp N KB REFREA TG
B FOHRA=M@EA -

26. Interest bearing borrowings 26. 5T EfER
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TABIT
Non-current: ERE :
Lease liabilities HEBE 20,889 3,725
Current: mE
Lease liabilities HEBE 35,378 17,597
Unsecured bank borrowings IR IR IRITE K 5,900,533 9,918,099
5,935,911 9,935,696
Total interest bearing borrowings FEBRAARE 5,956,800 9,939,421
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET TABIT
Denominated in: LA T EETERE ¢
HK$ BT 40,195 15,070
Us$ X 5,861,443 8,436,744
Other currencies Hih g 55,162 1,487,607
5,956,800 9,939,421

The Group’s bank borrowings bear interest at the Interbank Offered
Rate plus an interest spread.

The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings approximate to their

fair values as the impact on discounting is not significant.

The Group’s lease liabilities bear weighted average interest rate at
4.66% per annum (2023: 3.60% per annum).

AEBERITERGRRITRAEZRE
MBEFE -

HRMENTZEL TBEKR  8Z
FRTBFOEEEREEQFER

4+

Eo

AEBENHEEAGHMETSF
F & £4.66% (20234 @ F F &
3.60%) °



206 Guotai Junan International | Annual Report 2024

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥R 3R B &

31 December 2024
2024%12A31H

27. Debt securities in issue

27.ERTEBES

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TABTT
Non-current IER B
At amortised cost (note (a)): RE R A (i)
Listed unsecured medium-term notes EiERRPBHER 3,125,610 3,144,937
Designated at fair value through profit or EERATEF AEE
loss (note (b)): GEAE
Structured notes issued in relation to BEETHNEMEDRMER”Z
financial products EEMERE 3,988,001 11,191,277
7,113,611 14,336,214
Current ViE)
At amortised cost (note (a)): R# R A (I 5E())
Unlisted unsecured medium-term notes JE LT EEEPHEE 7,463,994 2,808,810
Designated at fair value through profit or EERATEF AEE
loss (note (b)): GEAE
Structured notes issued in relation to EETHNEMEMMERZ
financial products EEMERE 33,780,647 28,618,688
41,244,641 31,427,498
48,358,252 45,763,712
Unsecured medium-term notes 7T 5 &5 (B /Y 4 48 1
denominated in: FRERZE R
us$ ETT 7,878,010 5,923,027
HK$ 7 TT 22,656 7,196
RMB AR 2,688,938 23,524
Other currencies Hfh &k - -
10,589,604 5,953,747
Structured notes issued in relation to ETIAEEINENEZETHNS
financial products denominated in: BEMBRE&BIEREE -
us$ Y 34,335,888 36,739,674
HK$ BT 1,109,698 471,689
RMB AR 1,993,201 2,229,133
Other currencies H B 329,861 369,469
37,768,648 39,809,965
48,358,252 45,763,712
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27. Debt securities in issue (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The outstanding balance of HK$10,590 million (2023: HK$5,954 million)
stated at amortised cost represents the amount of unsecured notes issued by
the Company under the Company’s MTN Programme and GSN Programme
maintained by its subsidiary. As at 31 December 2024, the debt securities in
issue bore fixed interest rates ranging from 2% to 5.85% (2023: 0.5% to 6.14%).
The carrying amounts of the debt securities in issue approximate to their fair
values.

The outstanding balance of HK$37,769 million (2023: HK$39,810 million)
represented the amount of unlisted structured notes which arose from selling
structured products under the MTN Programme with underlying investments
related to listed equity investments, listed debt investments, unlisted debt
investments, unlisted fund investments and derivatives.

The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other
breaches with respect to their liabilities during the year (2023: nil).

Part of debt securities in issue are repayable on demand and the
Group has a practice to satisfy the request for redemption on the
settlement date.
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28. Financial liabilities at fair value through 28.

profit or loss

25y
MY b
i -

8

EI‘I_'
>
i
Bk
&
g

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FRET
Financial liabilities held for trading: HEEENESRAR:
— Listed equity securities — ERARES 567,426 148,747
- Listed debt securities —FHEBES 1,238,875 506,494
— Unlisted debt securities — LT EBES 1,240 1,600
Financial liabilities designated at fair TBERAFEFABEN
value through profit or loss Gl =R
- Financial products (note (a)) — o @ER (WiEa@) 1,091,844 1,593,032
— Third-party interests in consolidated —MAGHIREESH
investment funds (note (b)) F =T (M aED)) 222,700 182,399
3,122,085 2,432,272

Notes: Bt
(@) The amount of change in fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through (a)
profit or loss, during the year and cumulatively, attributable to changes in own
credit risk was insignificant.
(b) Third-party interests in consolidated investment funds consist of third-party (b)

unitholders’ interests in consolidated investment funds which are reflected as

liabilities since they can be put back to the Group for cash. The realisation of

third-party interests in investment funds cannot be predicted with accuracy
since these represent the interests of third-party unitholders in consolidated
investment funds that are subject to market risk and the actions of third-party

investors.

RER BASEEARED IR
MEHBEAFEAABENSRE
EATELANSBLDETEX -

MAEHBREESNE=TTHRE
EMAGHREESNE =TT EN
FAA D ARZEEEIRD
AEBUKDERE B RBEE-
REESHE =TGN EREX
ERERA - DTRAEERRKRAA
EHBREESHNE=TEMLFEA
Byt e RGN TS RER & E=
TREENTE -
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29. Obligations under repurchase agreements

The obligations under repurchase agreements arise when the
securities are sold by the Group with a concurrent agreement to
repurchase at a specified later date and price. The amount received
by the Group is recognised as liabilities as the Group retains
substantially all risks and returns of the securities.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding amount received
from repurchase agreements was HK$35,113,555,000 (2023:
HK$14,027,595,000) which was recognised as obligations under
repurchase agreements.

Fair value of financial assets under the repurchase agreements:
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20. Bl g E R

AEERBEOBHALEES &
HRERI Y —HipENREEER
RHRERRBER BARAKE
REBHFNBAI D BB KO -
BASEEBORIARRSEE -

R2024%F 128318 © B EE =K
LK) 2K 4578 778 435,113,555,000
7B 7T (20234 @ 14,027,595,0007%
JC) c WHER AL EiREAEE -

COEHBEETTMEENLFE:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEL

Financial assets held for trading BEEEMSREE
— Listed debt securities — L mEBES 17,401,716 3,279,729
— Unlisted debt securities — LT EBES 465,890 174,331
Financial products TRUE M 21,220,676 13,593,858

39,088,282 17,047,918

30. Share capital

30. R A

Number of
issued and fully
paid shares Share capital

ERITRAR

gt = LIS
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR

At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 7202341 A1 H K&20234

12H31H 9,5653,994,707 10,911,163
Share repurchased i 88 [/ 3% 1D (17,445,000) =
31 December 2024 M2024F12 A31H 9,536,549,707 10,911,163

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
bought back a total of 17,445,000 shares at an aggregate
consideration (before expenses) of HK$14,671,220 on the
Stock Exchange at share prices ranging from HK$0.60 to
HK$1.22 (2023: Nil). The share repurchase consideration and
the related expenses were charged against retained profits
pursuant to section 257 of CO.

(a) # Z=2024%F12H318 Ik F
IR N/NIS DAY s =3
0.60/8 TTE1.22/ T BIRE
O & #£17,445,0000% B 17 - 4
KRB AH14,671,2205 7T (0%
B2 A1) (20234 : ) » B 1D
BORERBEBRXBERIE
CRaMED) Fo5715 B R B %
0B o
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1. BRERE

31. Share option reserve

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 19 June 2010.
The Share Option Scheme was valid for a period of 10 years from
the date of adoption and has expired on 19 June 2020. No further
share options shall be granted after it expired, but all granted and
outstanding share options remain exercisable for a period of 10
years after the respective dates of grant, the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme thereof remain in full force and effect.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme (i.e.
164,000,000 shares). The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in the Share Option
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time (i.e. 16,400,000 shares). Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director or chief executive of the
Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of
their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
ends on a date which is not later than ten years from the date of
offer of the share options.

KN B FR2010%6 A19H8 £ 44 B i%
RS - BREAE R EMA B R
FH10F B A 2 - Z HifR B 142020
F6RHA19RR B -REREBTEH
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BEEERESEILEBARAE
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ThBR N A &) R ] B B 31T AR
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1. ERERE

31. Share option reserve (continued)

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the
share options; and (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price
of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer.

The fair values of share options at the date of grant of the options
are calculated using a Binomial Option Pricing Model. The fair value
of the share option is based on the terms and conditions of the
share options upon which the options were granted, share price
at the date of the grant, the historical volatility of the Company’s
shares, the historical dividend vyield and the risk-free interest rate
is referenced to the prevailing interest rate of the Hong Kong
Government Bonds.

Upon completion of the bonus issue on 9 July 2015, the exercise
price and the number of shares to be issued and allotted under the
outstanding share options had been adjusted pursuant to the terms
of the Share Option Scheme in the manner set out below:

Immediately before the completion of

the bonus issue

BRENTEERESFETE L
AERUATHRSE () AR2 ARG
B B i 2 40 BB 7 B S P O W T
B Ri)ARARONREZREZHA
H AT AL AR 5 B R R AT F 0

BRERLBEHNAFEDIR =R
AHAEEERLFE -BRENRD
AR RIBE T R IR A RSN
- HTHAHMNKRE ARARBN
RBERIE - BERE RS RN E
REEMEX(2ZFEBNESFNR
IMR)FFESFH -

R2015F7 AR SERR AL BR 317 1% -
i AR 7T E B AR RE B9 1T {5 (8 I i Utk 7%
FERIREZERMNEE B RERER
HEETEI MK ARMNT ¢

Immediately after the completion of
the bonus issue

FEARBITTAA ZRARBITTAE

Exercise price Number of Adjusted exercise  Adjusted number of

Date of share options granted per share  outstanding options price per Share  outstanding options
KRERTRE

BRUERENAH BROGEE ATRBRENHE RABRBRIEE RAEHI 2 B
24/4/2012 HK$2.48 4,856,448 HK$0.827 14,569,344
201264 248 24887 4,856,448 0.8274 7T 14,569,344
10/1/2014 HK$3.79 36,959,910 HK$1.264 110,879,730
2014517108 3798 36,959,910 12647870 110,879,730
11/6/2015 HK$14.56 4,500,000 HK$4.854 13,500,000
2015F6A11H 14,56/ 7T 4,500,000 48548 T 13,500,000

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No share option was exercised during the year ended 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
did not recognised an equity-settled share-based compensation
expense for the share options under the Share Option Scheme in
profit or loss.

BAEY EE TR ABIREE X
RIRRAEG EIREZRER -

H 22024512 H31H k2023412
A31HILFE @ $HEITEBRE -

B 220244 K2023%F12A31H 1
FE - AEEWVEERESIE
THERERESERNERSEE
AR BERAFHMAS -
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31. Share option reserve (continued) 31

ERERE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, nil and 15,448,806 share
options were lapsed or forfeited (2023: nil and 12,147,493 share
options were lapsed and forfeited, respectively) prior to the vesting
date as a result of staff resignation.

B E2024F12A31H IEFE -
HREIFHE 2538ZMHK
15,448,806 & I E N 5 E B &
AT Sk R K SR WK (20234 - H Rl B E
19 %12,147,4931 & PR #E KR B8
) o

2024 2023
20244 20234
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price Number of  exercise price Number of
HKS$ per share options  HKS$ per share options
19 HEF
THEE 1B
FRE T BREZE FRET BREH A
At 1 January M1A1R8 1.570 34,048,806 1.562 46,196,299
Forfeited during the year F R8I 1.327 (15,448,806) 1.540 (12,147,493)
Lapsed during the year F KK - - - -
Exercised during the year FRITE - - = =
At 31 December ®W12A31H 1.772 18,600,000 1.570 34,048,806

At 31 December 2024, the Company had 18,600,000 (20283:
34,048,806) share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represents approximately 0.20 % (2023: 0.36%) of
the Company’s shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

The exercise in full of the remaining share options would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 18,600,000 additional Shares (2023: 34,048,806 shares) and
additional share capital of HK$32,951,000 (before issuance
expenses) (2023: HK$53,454,000).

The option periods of the share options are from 13 July 2017 to 12
July 2027, from 4 July 2018 to 3 July 2028 and from 11 September
2019 to 10 September 2029.

R2024F12H31H + A& 7
H18,600,0001 (20234 :
34,048,80617) AR AT EIH T 4
RITEMERE - (GR2024512 8
1B AR Al B #1717 A 490.20%
(20234 : 0.36%) °

BIEARGBATNEARE BH
HEBRERHITE  FEHEIN
%% 1718,600,0000% J& 15 (20234 :
34,048,806/%) + LA KB HNIE R
32,951,000/ 7t (RN BREEFTH )
(20234 : 53,454,000 7T ) °

8 Hx B HY BA A 1T (8 HA R B201 747
B13H 2202747 H12H * 20184
7H48 £2028%7 A3H &201949
HA118 £2029%F9H108 -
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32.

33.

Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Other reserve of the Group represents a merger reserve, being
the difference between the issued share capital of HK$31,980,000
of Guotai Junan (Hong Kong) Limited and the amount of share
capital and share premium of HK$1,268,440,000 of the Company
transferred and issued to GJHL in exchange for the entire issued
share capital of Guotai Junan (Hong Kong) Limited on 14 June
2010.

Investment revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative net
change in the fair value of investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income under HKFRS 9 that are held
at the end of the reporting period.

Capital commitments and other
commitments

Capital commitments

The Group had capital commitments for system upgrade and
renovation of premises of approximately HK$6,445,000 which were
contracted but not provided for as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$11,614,000).

Other commitments

The Group undertakes underwriting obligations on placing, IPO,
takeover and merger activities and financial obligations to loan
facilities granted to customers. As at 31 December 2024, there was
no underwriting obligation (2023: HK$nil).

32.

33.
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&t

AEENFHEEBEREZHNES
BEEHRANZR -

AEBEMBEESGHEE  BR
2010F6 A 148 BHZE L (FB)
AR QA R/ E 1T R2481,980,000
BITEARAARMBEEE TR EE
B ITRR AN R IR 15 4 B /) (LA EX
BEREZ (FEB)ARAFANEZIHE
TR R) & %81,268,440,0005 7T
ZEHZEE -

REEHFEERERBRERRTA
BREZBVMBEREERNFSRIEE
REAFEFARMEE RSN
ERFEMRTEFE -

EXREAERHEMEAR

BEAREE

REBRABRRHERWEREEL
B IR A E 496,445,000/ 7T © %018
BT HB I AR R2024F128318 F
VAR (20234F : 11,614,000/ 7T) °

Hth A& &

AEBARE BAAHAEE I
BRAEFEIIREAEEAE R B
TEEHNERMERERE R -
MR2024F12A31H » 2 & B #f £ &
$HA G (20234 « BB TT) °
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34. Directors’, chairman’s and chief executive’s
emoluments

UMEE -ETERITHEAR

current emoluments
The current emoluments of every director of the Company
paid/payable by the Group for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 are set out below:

Year ended 31 December 2024

(a) Directors’, chairman’s and chief executive’s

[

(@ EE TFERITHREAR
RS
N & B A £20244F 20234
12A31B L FEEN B
AARBSEZRENHEH
SR CNE

HZE2024512831HLELFE

Employer’s
contribution
Salaries and Discretionary  to pension
Director fee  allowances bonuses* scheme Total
ExmEne
EZHe HeREW MR A HE LA #st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
Name of director EEng TET TET TET TET TET
Executive directors: HIEE:
Yim Fung (note (i) & (i 2x()) - 4,320 3,396 18 7,734
Qi Haiying (note (ii) A8 2 (it (i) - 4,002 3,378 18 7,398
Non-executive directors: FRITES:
Yu Jian W - - - - -
Hu Xupeng tHIB g - - - - -
Yu Xuping BT - - - - -
Dong Boyang et - - - - -
Han Zhida BEE - - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFRITES
directors:
Fu Tingmei BiEx 550 - - - 550
Tsang Yiu Keung (note (v)) 2% (f13Ew) - - - - -
Chan Ka Keung Ceajer P 550 - - - 550
Liu Chung Mun (note (v)) B b () 550 - - - 550
1,650 8,322 6,774 36 16,782
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34. Directors’, chairman’s and chief executive’s
emoluments (continued)

(a) Directors’, chairman’s and chief executive’s
current emoluments (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023
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UMEE -ETERITHEAR

< =

() EE IERTHAR
REME w2
B ZE2023F12831A L FE

Employer’s
contribution
Salaries and  Discretionary to pension
Director fee allowances bonuses™ scheme Total
EXRRAKE
EZHe HekER iy EEE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Name of director g THT THT THET THL THT
Executive directors: RWITES:
Yim Fung (note (i) & (P =E() - 4,320 3,390 61 7,771
Qi Halying (note (ii) AR5 2 (Bt (i) - 4,108 3,360 93 7,561
Non-executive directors: FRTES:
Yu Jian Wi - - - - -
Hu Xupeng e - = = = =
Yu Xuping ER¥ - - - - -
Independent non-executive B FHITEE :
directors:
Fu Tingmei fEEs 550 - - - 550
Tsang Yiu Keung (note (v) 225 (V) 548 - - - 548
Chan Ka Keung Ceajer e 550 - - - 550
Liu Chung Mun (note (v)) B {m & (P 2 (v) 91 - - - 91
1,739 8,428 6,750 154 17,071

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year.

This amount is the discretionary bonus for immediate distribution of
directors’ service in the corresponding year, and the deferred bonus will
be disclosed in the annual report corresponding to the year in which the
payment is made (after the Company’s established conditions are met).

FRALBEERETETHA
B M E %R B RE A H
B2 B

e ANBAERESALT
1[5 FR 5 0 B 1A T AT - R B
AR IR (BRAD AR
T e 14 ) B 4F A 0 97 3R
R -
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34. Directors’, chairman’s and chief executive’s
emoluments (continued)

(b) Directors’, chairman’s and chief executive’s
deferred emoluments
In prior years, certain directors were granted share options,
in respect of their services to the Group, under the Share
Option Scheme, further details of which are set out in note
31 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options,
which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included
in the financial statements for the current year is included in
the following directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
disclosures.

The amount of share-based compensation expense illustrated
in the below table represents amortisation to profit or loss of
the fair value of these share options granted to the directors
measured at the respective grant dates.

MEBEE FTFERTHEAR
[ EAC D)

(b) EF - EERTHRAR

RBEFE ETEERER
REEETHESAEER
TR IR 75 T 2 X RE RHE -
—THBERNMBRRME
31 - EHBRENLFE(E
REBHENEaEME
g R P RERR) IR R A
HIEETE @ Mat ARFEM SR
TNEBRCIATNESER
TETHABHMBES

TRFTAAB D B ER N H
WRXEBEARTESTNE
RERAEREAHFTEN
RFERBSETHEESHE -
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34. Directors’, chairman’s and chief executive’s 34. B - I ERTHAEAR

emoluments (continued) M€ )

(b) Directors’, chairman’s and chief executive’s b) EE5 - TERITHEAR
deferred emoluments (continued) EIEEN € (2)
Year ended 31 December 2024 HZ2024F12H31H L FE

Share-based compensation

reserve Cash-based compensation
DRBAERTHEE NRERERGH
Share Option Scheme Deferred cash bonuses
BREE BEERETA
Deferred
Respective cash bonus
Share option year of Year of expense
Date of grant expense service  distribution (note(iii)
BERETA
REEH  BREEX RARBEH AREE B (HE=E(ii))
HK$'000 HK$'000
Name of director ESHE Thn TER
Executive directors: #IES:
Yim Fung (note (i) B (B EH() - 2020 2024 1,741
- 2021 2024 2,441
- 2022 2024 829
Qi Halying (note (i) AR 2 (i 3 (i)) - 2020 2024 1,209
- 2021 2024 1,985
- 2022 2024 742
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Yu Jian f = - -
Hu Xupeng el - -
Yu Xuping BT
Dong Boyang R
Han Zhida BEE - -
Independent non-executive BUFNITES:
directors:
Fu Tingmei FEx - -
Tsang Yiu Keung (note (v) 212 (fiHw) - -
Chan Ka Keung Ceajer FEE - -
Liu Chung Mun (note (iv)) BE{f e (MizEv) - -
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34. Directors’, chairman’s and chief executive’s
emoluments (continued)

(b) Directors’, chairman’s and chief executive’s

deferred emoluments (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023

Share-based compensation

UMEE -ETERITHEAR

< =)

b) EE - EERITHEAR
EIEEN € (2)
B ZE2023F12831HLEFE

reserve Cash-based compensation
DARR 1 A 5 o & RERG M
Share Option Scheme Deferred cash bonuses
BfkEEE BER A
Deferred
Respective cash bonus
Share option year of Year of expense
Date of grant expense service distribution (note (iii)
BERSTA
RHAH  BREFY XERBEH PREE R (B (i)
HK$'000 HK$'000
Name of director ESEE TR THL
Executive directors: HIES:
Yim Fung (note (j) I (i EH() - 2021 2023 2,441
- 2020 2023 1,741
- 2019 2023 1,339
Qi Halying (note (i) AR 2 (i 3 (i) - 2021 2023 1,985
- 2020 2023 1,209
- 2019 2023 1,008

Non-executive directors:
Yu Jian

Hu Xupeng

Yu Xuping

Independent non-executive
directors:

Fu Tingmei

Tsang Yiu Keung (note (v))

Chan Ka Keung Ceajer

Liu Chung Mun (note (iv))

FHTES:
k2

il
RE¥

BUFHITES:

BEX
= SAGE)
Rx %
EEAGET)
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34. Directors’, chairman’s and chief executive’s
emoluments (continued)

(b) Directors’, chairman’s and chief executive’s
deferred emoluments (continued)

Note (i): Dr Yim Fung is the executive director and chairman of the
Company.

Note (ii): Ms QI Haiying is the executive director and CEO of the Company.

Note (ii):  The deferred cash bonus was paid after the completion of

evaluation of prior years performance of the executive directors.

Note (iv):  Mr. Liu Chung Mun was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 10 October 2023.

Note (v): Mr. Tsang Yiu Keung resigned as an independent non-executive
director with effect from 31 December 2023.

The directors remunerations included share-based
compensation of approximately HK$nil (2023: HKS$nil)
attributable to share options granted by Company, part of
which was in respect of their services to the Company.
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UMEE -ETERITHEAR

< =)

b) EE - EFERTHAR
EIEEN € (2)

B EE () -

B = (ii) -

i = i) -

B 3£ (iv) ¢

M EE(VY) |

BIEE L RARR BT
BERIRF

WEBELLTBARAH
TESFRTHABE

ERBEFERATES
REAMFHE TR
ERSTELL -

5 i B 55 £ 2023210
B10B S AB T ¥
HITHE -

T RROR ST BB IE
HMITEF - 52023512
B31B AR -

EEFMEeRAamREn
BREBEARND BERZ
ABIL) AR EMO TR EER
AREREA IR M S AT
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35. Notes to the consolidated statement of Bt REeREXRKFE
cash flows
(a) Cash flows from operating activities (a) REZBHEENRER
=
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FE T
Cash flows from operating activities KEFHEEANBERE
Profit before tax B 7% Al Vg 366,631 191,416
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation weE 82,028 85,352
Unrealised gain on financial instruments 2 A F{EF AB#ETE 8
measured at fair value through profit TR T ERER W
of loss (660,928) (71,113)
Unrealised loss on debt securities in BEITEFEZELFRER
issue 18 552,092 68,057
Unrealised change on derivative financial 744 gt T B A&k & 15 &
instruments 285,426 126,207
Finance cost A& AR 2,430,107 1,495,006
Interest income B A (1,966,627) (1,763,134)
Dividend income g B WA (46,651) (21,323)
Loss on disposal of property, plantand HEWE - MENRREZ
equipment E518 89 4,311
Effect of loss allowance on loans and f\A%g)E'ff &iﬂm/%fﬁiﬁ
advances to customers, net BEE 12,198 23,984
Effect of loss allowance on accounts JE U R Iﬁﬁr}ﬁﬂﬁﬁéﬁw =
receivable, net 6,371 37,030
Effect of loss allowance on client trust BEREERBRITEBRFER
bank balance, net B2 (1,468) (2,289)
Effect of loss allowance on other H b B YR IE F B B e
receivables, net wa 1,380 608
Effect of loss allowance on receivable [ 1) 1B B 175 FEJ%Z RIR
from reverse repurchase agreements, ElEBEETE
net (193) (391)
Effect of loss allowance on cash and FEEREHRe RS
cash equivalents, net LEYMNTE - -
Effect of loss allowance on bank RITFRFEERELE
deposits, net (225) 37
Effect of loss allowance on financial EEBREERATFESA
assets at fair value through other E2EK=ENEmE
comprehensive income ERNTE 8,208 511

1,068,438

174,269
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35. Notes to the consolidated statement of 35. MABRELHREERMTE o
cash flows (continued)
(a) Cash flows from operating activities (a) BEEZHELENRER
(continued) B &)
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Decrease/(increase) in other assets Hip&ERD / (E) 1,029 (5,281)
Increase in financial assets at fair value  EAFEFABRENE/E
through profit or loss EEE N (1,679,936)  (10,401,590)
Changes in derivative financial instruments 74 & g T B & &) 257,848 207,404
(Increase)/decrease in loans and advances # TR F B EZ &L (38 0)
to customers e (2,015,735) 622,387
Increase in accounts receivable JE R TE A N (2,711,672) (2,786,692)
Increase in receivable from reverse [ 1) [E] & 177 & & UK R I8 38 N
repurchase agreements (9,242,737) (152,343)
Increase in obligations under repurchase  [Gl 8 17 & K {& 12 1 A1
agreements 21,085,960 6,332,522
Increase in prepayments, deposits and  FE{TFRIE - £ & N H fth e Uk
other receivables SRIEIE AN (622) (6,380)
Increase in financial liabilities at fair value #E A FEFFABZMNEEE
through profit or loss &3 N 718,390 330,260
Decrease/(increase) in client trust bank B FEEFERTASR L
balances (3 1) 1,697,404 (400,708)
Increase in time deposits JE B 77 ZR 3% N (322,596) (222)
Increase in accounts payable JE < FRIE 1S N 1,666,445 1,322,031
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and H {th & {5 018 K7 & 51 & (5 1%
accrued liabilities m/ Crd) 245,948 (199,965)
Increase in financial assets at fair value 322 FEH A H b2 U
through other comprehensive income 75 B & =1 0 (8,571,899) (350,786)
Cash generated/(used in) from operations A& #1715, (FiH) R & 2,196,265 (5,315,094)
Hong Kong profits tax refund BB F SR K 26,267 103,531
Interest received 2 U F B 2,030,801 1,527,915
Interest paid BT H A (2,519,270) (1,242,690)
Dividend received 2 AR B 47,047 19,967

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating  &ZEERE,/ (FTA)ERE
activities mEF 1,781,110 (4,906,371)
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B.ZERERERKZT @

35. Notes to the consolidated statement of
cash flows (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEETHEELENERBRS
activities B
Debt
Bank Lease securities
borrowings liabilities in issue
RITER HEAE SRTEEES
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET TERT
At 1 January 2023 R2023%F1 818 9,305,776 43,231 41,488,268
Changes from financing cash &l &R & i & &
flows 513,679 (35,323) 4,155,408
Foreign exchange movement, 4 E & 8% 58
net 98,645 3,383 51,979
Interest expense FMERX 562,366 1,168 355,347
Additions NE - 13,833 -
Disposal e - (4,970) =
Interest paid classified as DEAKERSREN
operating cash flows B E (511,616) = (355,347)
Increase in interest payable  F& {7 £ 4 N (50,751) - -
Unrealised loss on debt BERETEBESFRER
securities in issue 518 - = 68,057
9,918,099 21,322 45,763,712
At 1 January 2024 R20245%1 A1H 9,918,099 21,322 45,763,712
Changes from financing cash &R S REZ H)
flows (3,913,878) (26,007) 2,505,508
Foreign exchange movement, 4 FE & 8% 58
net (103,688) (87) (463,060)
Interest expense MEBRX 619,318 1,636 428,674
Additions NE - 59,403 -
Disposal k= - - -
Interest paid classified as DERKEEEHESMEN
operating cash flows B E (680,816) - (428,674)
Increase in interest payable &1 F| 83 0 61,498 - -
Unrealised loss on debt BETEBELFRER
securities in issue 18 - - 552,092
5,900,533 56,267 48,358,252
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35. Notes to the consolidated statement of
cash flows (continued)

(c) Major non-cash transactions
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right
of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$59,407,000 (2023:
HK$12,226,000) and HK$59,403,000 (2023: HK$13,833,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for property,
plant and equipment.

36. Unconsolidated structured entity

A structured entity is an entity in which voting rights are not the
dominant factor in deciding control. Structured entity is generally
created to achieve a narrow and well defined objective with
restrictions around their ongoing activities.

Depending on the Group’s power over the activities of the entity
and its exposure to and the ability to influence its own returns, it
may consolidate the entity. In other cases, it may sponsor or have
an interest in such an entity but does not consolidate it. The Group
sponsors an entity when:

(i) It is the majority user of the entity;

(i) Its name appears in the name of the entity or on the products
issued by the entity;

(i) It provides implicit or explicit guarantees of the entity’s
performance; and

(iv) It led the formation of the entity.

The unconsolidated structured entities invest in a range of asset
classes. The Group receives income from these unconsolidated
structured entities through the receipt of arrangement fees and
interest income from interest bearing notes issued by these entities.
As of 31 December 2024, the Group held notes of HK$612 million
(2023: HK$1,153 million), under financial assets held for trading and
investments (note 20), issued by these entities.

35.

36.
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(c) XEFREXRS

RERN NEEBEYE - W
EREEHEEZHED R
ReRBFRAREEREE
B 559,407,000/ 7t (2023
F:12,226,0008 ) &
59,403,000/ st (20234 :
13,833,000/ 7T ) °

AR BHER

HRREEEBARERL IFREZEH
BONTERZNER -EHEER
BESERERMBAENERM

% HBECEEDHTIHRY -

BIEAEEHERESNEN M
XEBOBNTEREEREATE
B EREBE NN E - KA e
HAaAk -EHEMBERT  H
EPERANERTHAREZ B
THEBEE AR TIBREAR
SEEYN-—HERE:

/

T e mi

3| mi O

(i) EEWEREZERNEE
KR EBEITHEML :

iy HAZEEWMEGERHRES

(iv) EZETEKIZER -

RZEREBEERRENRSZBEE
Al - AEEBBEZRSERET
Wt EZ BT S A KA B
AMBZERGEE SR M T BUE
WA o B £2024F 128318 + A&
EERFEEEREESMEE (F
H20) B TR AEZREERBITNE
#6128 88 T (20234 : 1,153F
EBTL) °
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36. Unconsolidated structured entity (continued)

Income from the sponsored structured entities and assets
transferred to the structured entities are as follow:

36. RrEEBUHEE »

KEXEPHEBUEEROBRAR
BETHEBUEEENEELT

2024 20283
2024% 20234
Interest Commission Assets Interest  Commission Assets
income and fees  transferred income and fees  transferred

MERA AekER CEREE FSWA R2RER CBREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 H
TERT TERL

K$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TR AL

Assets securitisations BEEHL - 7,799

- 3,283 - (107,967)

37. Five highest paid individuals

Excluding amounts paid or payable by way of commission of sales
generated by the individuals, the five highest paid employees
during the year included two (2023: two) directors, details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 34 above. Details of the
remuneration of the remaining three (2023: three) non-director and
highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

7. ENEEHFMA L

BRUERNALTEENHEESREHA
Ak R R IE SN FRANL
== HE S BIEMm %A (20234 :
MB)ES EHFMEFBEHN LX
Bi 334 - F A H 8 = & (20234 :
—R)FEERESHTMEENH

RIS LT -

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Salaries and allowances e KoEBh 7,860 9,310
Discretionary bonuses B 1B IE AL 16,003 15,647
Employer’s contribution to pension scheme & = [E:R R & 5T 2] 4 2 54 54
Sub-total NEF 23,917 25,011

Share-based compensation reserve LA R 0 7 2 1t 5 B 8 4
— Share option expense — B AR R R S - =
Total #Et 23,917 25,011
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37. Five highest paid individuals (continued)

The number of non-director and highest paid employees of the

BHREREK | 202453, 225

7. A VB HFM A 2
FEE MALXEEESTHIES

Group whose emoluments fell within the following bands is as WABRAMSEELAT :
follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
Number of Number of
employees employees
BEEAE EE A
Emolument bands B < &1 &
- HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 - 6,500,001 7T 27,000,000/ 7T 1 -
- HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 - 7,000,001 7T 27,500,000/ 7T - 1
- HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 - 7,500,001 7T 28,000,000/ 7T 1 -
- HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 - 8,000,0017% 7T 28,500,000/ 7T - 1
- HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 -9,500,001/% 7T %10,000,00078 7T 1 1
3 3

38. Related party transactions

(@)

In addition to the transactions and balances set out elsewhere
in the financial statements, the Group had the following
material transactions with related parties during the year.

3B.HBLRZ

@ BRREBRXATHIINR

5 RAEERIN

AREBERFALE

R T EITATERR S -

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT 5 FRET FBT
Commission expenses to the ultimate 32 i F & & LA A & &Y
holding company BerX () (13,251) (5,702)
Professional and consultancy fees I FRRK B AR
paid to fellow subsidiaries BEXRAAE D) (32,500) (36,750)
Information technology logistic TR TFREZERARNGEL
consultancy fees paid to RitnLaE
the ultimate holding company (iii) (19,472) (9,825)
Consultancy services income received B & &R A Al WELR) & 7
from the ultimate holding company AR 7% s 2= (iv) 5,767 5,247
Consultancy services fee paid to B3 ONEIFEN I
the ultimate holding company AR 7% & (v) (7,257) (8,682)
Commission & handling income from B B #ZZKR A =) WEH A€ K&
an immediate holding company FEBEW= (vi) 10 10
Commission and handling income BHRRERARWBNEE K
from the ultimate holding company FEBEW= (vi) 92 4,703
Underwriting fee and sponsor fee BEREERARNBAEHEE
income from the ultimate holding RIREANERKE
company (viii) 1,179 410
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38. Related party transactions (continued) 38.BHAERZ )
(@) (continued) (@ (&)
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FET T
Commission and handling income B [F Z KB 2 5 U H &
from fellow subsidiaries EFEEBEWZ (ix) 11,167 10,174
Commission income and handling B 5 — R ZKE 2 & W ELAY
income from another fellow HekFEBWRZS
subsidiary (x) 34 82
Consultancy service fee and S FREZERARRRR
corporate finance service fee WEB ARG AREE R
paid to the ultimate holding PEEBERESE
company and fellow subsidiary (xi) (19,472) (14,019)
Commission income of private REKBRAAESELEES
funds managed by a fellow BE A
subsidiary (xii) 429 1,031
Notes: e &
(i) The commission expenses to the ultimate holding company were (i) T FERKRER A RS

calculated based on the percentage of the transaction value stated in the
Cooperation Agreement signed with a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company.

(i) The professional and consultancy fees paid to the fellow subsidiaries

for the provision of capital market information were charged at
HK$32,500,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:

HK$36,750,000).

(i)

The Information technology logistic consultancy fees paid to the

ultimate holding company for the provision of information technology
logistic services were charged at HK$19,472,000 for the year ended 31

December 2024 (2023: HK$9,825,000).

(iv)

The consultancy services income received from the ultimate holding

company for the provision of consultancy services was received
at HK$5,767,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:

HK$5,247,000).

(v) The consultancy services fee paid to the ultimate holding company for
the provision of consultancy services was charged at HK$7,257,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$8,682,000).

(if)

(if)

(iv)

RXTIEERRBN—K2
AMBARRLN A EHS
FIANRZ ZHEB DL E -

B E2024F12A31H IE5F
Bt EAMIBERM
mlﬁ%w% AXHEER
4 6 E32,500,0003% 7T (2023
£ : 36,750,000/ 7T) ©

B E2024F12A31H IE5F
E-RiEfEEEMTYR
R 7 1A & R AE IR A R X
MEEERMYRERER
19,472,000 7T (20234 :
9,825,000/ 7T) °

H £2024%412H318 It F
BRI EFBARERARE
P2 AR A &) U B A9 55 5 AR 755 Uk
A 55,767,000 7T (20234 :
5,247,000/ 7T ) °

H £2024%412H318 It F
ﬁ B2 L 55 38 AR 75 M &% R
TRARZANFEARSE B
7,%7,257,000,%71 (20234 :
8,682,000/ 7T ) °
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38. Related party transactions (continued) 38. B G X

(@) (continued) (@ (&)
Notes: (continued) B & -
(v  The commission and handling income received from the immediate (vi)

holding company was based on the pricing stated in the signed
brokerage agreement with wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

(vij  The commission and handling income received from the ultimate holding (vii)
company was based on the pricing stated in the signed brokerage
agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

(viiij ~ The underwriting and sponsor fee income received from the ultimate (wviii)
holding company was based on the underwriting and sponsor agreement
with the ultimate holding company.

(ix)  The commission and handling income received from fellow subsidiaries (ix)
were based on the pricing stated in the signed brokerage agreement
with wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

(x) The commission income and handling income received from another x)
fellow subsidiary were based on the pricing stated in the signed
brokerage agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

(xi) The consultancy service fee and corporate finance service fee paid (xi)
to the ultimate holding company were based on the pricing stated in
consultancy services and corporate finance services agreements with
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

(xii) The commission income received from private funds was based on the (xii)
pricing stated in the signed brokerage agreement with wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company.

(xii)  Included in the Group’s accounts receivable was a broker receivable (xiii)
due from the ultimate holding company of HK$325,820,000 (2023:
HK$81,226,000) arising from dealing in securities as at 31 December
2024. The credit terms provided to the ultimate holding company were
consistent with the practice of the securities dealing industry. The
balance was unsecured, interest-free and receivable on the settlement
day under the relevant market practices.

=z (#)

BEEZERARKBRNMES K
$@§Wﬁﬂ&@$ Az
& P B A B 2R LA AR AT
W%WE1W§°

E?mﬁ “ﬁ%ﬂmﬁﬁ
FHEEBREDIREARR
*%%émgﬂjhimﬁ

iR EEKE -

B & AR R A A WEH B
RAREAE B R E&RER
RAIFZINEH R E B WE
Y& -

B R XM E R FWRE R
RFBEBWETIREKRRA A
2EMBARRLNEL R
HIIBMEBRE -

B 5% — R R E QR WEH
Beka®kFEE KRR
EARB—REEMBEAR
L EY AR AT 199 % 51 R RO E (B
W -

XN TREERARNENR
RIEERDERE RS &R
HEARNFEEME R R HH
AR 75 Ko 4b 3 B B IR 75 1hh ok
Ffr 8% 5E (B YR ©

BALEESKEROME KA
THERERRA2E MM E R
Bl PTR] S AR 42 1% & P 8 E B
Y ER

RNEEMEKRKERER
2024F12A31H EE B HE
AR RERREZER AR &L
X IE325,820,0007 7T (2023
£ : 81,226,000/ 7T) ° [ &
ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ#mﬁﬁﬁﬁ
HELFBEBETENEL
mﬁmﬁm%fm-%%m
BEER 2B REREE
H I E
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38. Related party transactions (continued)
(@  (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(xiv)  Included in the Group’s accounts payable was a broker payable due to
the ultimate holding company of HK$1,827,000 (2023: HK$8,506,000)
arising from dealing in securities as at 31 December 2024. The balance
was unsecured, interest-free and payable on the settlement day under

the relevant market practices.

(xv) Included in the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables of
HK$58,378,000 (31 December 2023: HK$58,793,000) was an advance
prepayment to the fellow subsidiary for the professional and consultancy
fee as at 31 December 2024 mentioned in note (ii) above.

(xvi)  Included in the Group’s accounts payable was an accrual payable due
to the ultimate holding company of HK$9,637,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$5,943,000) arising from information technology logistic consultancy
service received as at 31 December 2024 mentioned in note (iii) above

(xvii) Included in the Group’s accounts receivables were amounts due from
the ultimate holding company of HK$7,005,000 (2023:HK$5,830,000) for
consultancy services income provided mentioned in the note (iv) above.

(xviii) Included in the Group’s accounts payables were amounts due to the
ultimate holding company of HK$8,431,000 (2023:HK$8,718,000) for
consultancy services fee paid mentioned in the note (v) above

(xix)  Included in the Group’s payables were the accounts payables to
clients in note (vi) above arising from dealing in securities of HK$3,000
(81 December 2023: HK$4,000). The balances were unsecured,

interest-bearing and payable on demand.

B.BEHAIRZ &)

(xv)

(xvi)

(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

t (&)

REB 2ENEREER
2024 12ABIB EBE B A E
EZ RN REERAR 2K
40 FE 1 3K 71,827,000/ 7T
(20234 : 8,506,000/ 7T) °
BRERBETHBEG  Z&E&H
AERE RERERKEE
HX o

AEBEMBEMNKE B2
& E i g Uk 5% 7858,378,000
Bt (2023F12H318 :
58,793,000/ 7t) B &R £ X
B 5 (ii) By 2t 742024412 B 31
BEXRFHAERR RN B
NCIBERN I =10

MR2024%F12HA318 - A& B
H FE 1 BR B $E b ST R
(i) Fr it B W15 B &K 15 9 i
5 5 AR T EE AR A FE N AR
f% 2~ & fE 5F % 789,637,000
#B ot (2023F12H318
5,943,000/ 7T) °

7 £ B /Y FE U R IE B 1 FE IR
=& 4% 122 % A R) 3 7B7,005,000
7 70 (20234 : 5,830,000/
JC) AR E XXM EE(v)FT it e
55 30 AR 75 UL FE IR AR AR 4
R A BB ER K ©

AEEMEMNERBERE
XM FE (VAT AL B 5 78 78 AR 75
B i e AR A R /R
7X8,431,000/% Jt (20234 :
8,718,000/ 7T) °

AEBZENERBERES
BB E 4 2 B ST RE(vi)
= F BE 748,000/ 7T (20234
12H31H : 4,0008 L) ° &
HBRAEERR FERARE
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38. Related party transactions (continued)
(@  (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(xx) Included in the Group’s accounts payables were amounts due to
the ultimate holding company of HK$154,000 (2023: HK$182,000)
mentioned in note (vii) and the fellow subsidiaries of HK$117,039,000
(2023: HK$444,328,000) mentioned in note (ix) and another fellow
subsidiary of HK$12,000 (2023: HK$55,000) mentioned in note (x)
arising from dealing in securities, futures and foreign exchange as at 31
December 2024. The balances were unsecured, interest-bearing and

payable on demand.

(xxi)  Included in the Group’s accounts payables were the accounts payable
to the ultimate holding company mentioned in note (xi) for the consulting
service fee and corporate finance service fee of HK$16,599,000 (2023:

HK$5,423,000) as at 31 December 2024.

(xxii)  Included in the Group’s accounts receivable were accounts receivables
to private funds of HK$61,000 (2023: payables of HK$31,000) arising
from dealing in securities mentioned in note (xii) as at 31 December
2024. The balance was unsecured, interest-bearing and payable on the

settlement day under the relevant market practices.

The Company’s ultimate holding company, GTJA, is a
state-owned enterprise controlled by the PRC government.
Therefore, other PRC state-owned enterprises are related
parties of the Company and its subsidiaries and any
transaction entered into between the Group and other
PRC state-owned enterprises are regarded as related party

transactions of the Group.

EREZER | 2024535 229

B.BEHAIRZ &)

FsE - (8)

(xx)

(xxi)

(xxii)

R2024F128318 » K&
BErRENRECEREE
EES5 HERIINEEEZ
B BT EE(vii) BT FE o B AR R
B A &154,0005 7T (2023
182,000 70) * 5t M &
(ix)Fy it fE 1+ R & BT B R A
117,089,000/% 7T (20234 :
444,328,000 70) & Bt B 5
(X)Fr it FE 1 5 — 8 R & B /B
A A]12,000/% 7T (20234 :
55,000/ T ) © 7% &5 &k 0
B REREKEE A o

R2024F12A318 * A5 &
B FE 15 318 2 3 R BT 5 (xi)
FIT it & 1+ B AR 42 IR A R K 7%
HRBERCEBRERSEE
16,599,000 7T (20234
5,423,000 7T ) °

R2024%12H318 * "&E B
R 7 U 3R 38 B 33 Bt BT R (xii) AT
A B E B S E LR KA A
H 4 FIE61,000 7T (2023
& & {5 5K IE31,000 7T) ©
HEeRRERE - 5B RBRE
HEITTIBEGIRN &R B S o

ARBRBRERARBEARE
LRTEBAESNEE R

=

At - EPEBEERE

RARARENE R
By AEBREMTHEEE
CEATLZERRZHRE
RAKENBEB OIS -
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38.

39.

Related party transactions (continued)

(@  (continued)

Majority of the bank borrowings and deposits of the Group
were entered into with state-owned banks. In addition, the
Group enters into transactions with state-owned enterprises
that relate to the Group’s normal business activities, including
but not limited to brokerage services, corporate finance
business, asset management business, loan and financing
business and investment holding and market making business.
These transactions are entered into in the ordinary course of
business at an arm’s length and under the normal commercial
terms and conditions as to those that would have been
entered into with non-state-owned enterprises, which were
not considered as individually significant in accordance with
HKAS 24.

The related party transactions in respect of items (i) to (ix) and
(xi) to(xii) also constitute continuing connected transactions to
be disclosed in the annual report as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

(b)  Details of the remuneration of the key management personnel
of the Group are disclosed in note 34 to the financial
statements.

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities mainly expose to such financial risks as
credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management framework focuses on the analysis, evaluation,
acceptance and monitoring of these risks which are an inevitable
consequence of being in business. The Group’s aim is therefore
to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and
minimise any potential adverse effect on the Group’s financial
performance.

The Group’s risk management policies are approved by the
Board and are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor the risks and
adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information.
The Board provides written principles for overall risk management.
The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies to reflect
any change in the market and clients.

38.

39.

RS e
(a) (&)

REBABHRITEREF
Y EBBIRITRISL © BN -
AEHEERABLRETRAE
BEEXBEHERNRS -
BRERENERELRS %
MEXK BEBEXB &
RERBEED  REEBREM
MER - ZERXZINATEE
BRREPAFHREFRE
CEETHRSBUNESR
BRI S R TT - AR
BB ERFE24R R A K
BRERNEARRS

= ST G)E (ix) B (xi) E (xii) 38 HY
RAHE 5 R 5 TN K A R F
BEHEHERS (EER
CEMRADEFHAE) -

() AEEEXTEEEABHHMF
BB TS R M XS4 IR -

TREREE

AEENEHIZHEEERR
mERRERBESRRE SR
FEk AEEBEEEREEERS
TR FEBXREEZF
REBBETRTAELORER - B
o ARENEREREE B TFER
Rl WA ARNEEMBRR
BENEAIRZERERE -

AEENREREEREHESSH
M B ES R RO LR - R
TE 8 S H R PR BRI 4 il K% BR AR A
i N e A ] 5l SR Y B ARUABR ST
RE EFeiERARERESE
EMRA - AKEE B EER
EEEE  URBTSEEEFPHE
fa] & &
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. cMmAMRERE »)

39. Financial risk management (continued)

The main financial risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk. The
policies for managing each of these risks are summarised below:

Credit risk

Credit exposures arise principally from loans and advances to
customers, accounts receivable, debt securities, bank balances and
client trust bank balances which are included in the Group’s asset
portfolio.

Credit risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Board delegates to the management committees the
duties to monitor the credit risk of the Group. Members of the
management committees include, inter alia, the CEO, the CFO,
the CRO, responsible officers and the head of related control
departments. The management committees are mainly responsible
for the development of financing business and approval of major
credit exposure and the risk management committee to provide
independent supervision of all credit risk metrics and limits.

The risk management department and business department are
responsible for approval, monitoring and review of the Group’s
credit risk of financing clients. It is also responsible for making
settlement calls when the trades of financing clients exceed
their respective limits. Failure to meet margin calls may result
in liquidation of the client’s position. The credit limit and margin
limit for each client and the lending ratio of securities acceptable
as collateral prepared by business department and approved by
risk management department, the significant transaction will be
approved by the management committees.

Loans and advances to customers including IPO loans for
subscription of new shares are normally settled within 1 week from
the drawdown date. Forced liquidation action would be taken if
the customers fail to settle their shortfall within a specific period of
tolerance after the IPO allotment result is announced.

For debt securities, external rating such as Standard & Poor’s
and Moody’s ratings or their equivalents are used by the risk
management department for managing credit risk exposures as
supplemented by the Group’s own credit assessment.

AEEcHMTEMELENEZSH
Bk AEERE - mi5RR KRS
B RR - B ESERR AR
R

FEEER
EERREIERAAEEMEEMS
PR TEPOERRBR R
HE EHES ROBBRES
ERERITAEL o

1= JEL 1% IR BB 1 ) R AR PRI R
EXEZ REREZESERAEH
EERR ERZER21E (FE
foh) ITHRARE  MBRE BF
REE - B8 AB RHEHEERPM
ITE -BEHZBETEREERA
BEBGRMETECEERR LR
ERZER@BVEEMAGEAR
SHERRE -

FERERS R EEBAEEMNE B
TREHNASEENRERFEEM
R HENMBERBMERTFARSBA
HEPIBRERZELEERM - KA
WENEFARETE STEFPH
FEREMFEREAREESE
T N B R B B R4 o AT A A 4R A
MBEFERLR EARSIEHRE
BEZEgHE -

RTEPHNERRBERBEEER
BHROBASAREBEEEN — K
REREBAME-ARNES - HME
FPRERAFAREREERAMR
MEERRIARGEGEEEZER
Al ERETA

REGEHTS - AR EERHBPIE
AN E R (AR R
BB LR FITTIR) EITEEE
pER  AREETHAMETE
A -
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit risk limit control and mitigation policies (continued)

The Group’s bank balances are deposited in respectable and
large commercial banks. For the client trust bank balances which
are held in segregated accounts, they are deposited in authorised
financial institutions in Hong Kong. The credit risk of bank balances
and client trust bank balances is considered insignificant.

Accounts receivable from clients represent receivables from clients
arising from dealing in securities, which normally had a delivery—
against payment settlement term of 1 to 3 days. The Group allows
credit up to the settlement dates of the respective securities
transactions (normally from T+1 to T+3 days). All applications for
credit limits must be reviewed by the credit manager and approved
by risk management department or the management committees.
The risk management department and business department
determines whether a forced liquidation action is to be taken
against clients with overdue balances on a case-by-case basis. The
management committees regularly reviews the overdue balances.

The Group only accepts margin deposits in the form of cash for
futures, options and leveraged foreign exchange dealing and
broking. No unauthorised transaction is allowed to be executed
if the current position of the customer exceeds its trading limit.
The margin deposit placed and the aggregate of the required
margin deposits of each futures, options and leveraged foreign
exchange contract are timely monitored by both the dealers and
the risk management department. Margin calls will be executed
by the on-site duty staff for futures, options and leveraged foreign
exchange brokerage business if there is a deficit with the margin
deposit. Forced liquidation of the customer’s position will be
executed if the customer fails to meet the margin calls.

Management considers that the credit risk of the Group resulting
from securities, futures, options and leveraged foreign exchange
brokerage business as well as margin and other loan financing is
properly managed within the defined internal control framework.

Accounts receivable from brokers and dealers are placed with large
financial institutions which are governed by regulators. The credit
risk of accounts receivable from brokers and dealers is considered
insignificant.

FEERK 2
1= A 2 Bz R BB 77 | ] 4% FE I %
()

AEBRITHEBNIENRBEER IFH
REEHERIT -RUABURFPFA
MEFPERRITEHBMNE  ZF&
BRIOFRELERA ZBHEE - |17
EHREREPERRITAERNEER
RIRBTENK -

BREFREREFARDEENE
WEERE  MRXKHEE I —
MAE—EZX - AEBETFTHNEE
NRZELEELRIHINEER (—
BAETHET+3HR) - FIEEER
BHHRBYAKEEETET A
REREERESKEREL 8 £ - &
SEENREENECRERAN
EHREEHERNTEFRIREHER
E - EEZESeTHRT A
ﬁ%o

AEBHHE  HMERERINEER
BERRLEEXBESHANKE
& o i} F P B2 B B 25RO R 5 X
ZERE - AT SETEMREEE
MRS FIRANRES REEH
B HRRERINESHEREY
RECREARXZELEREEE
FkEER -HMERESTE RH
EBRNETERHE  HELER
SNERLEBHRBHRBA - RAE
MENTPEREHAE -

EEERRAKSERES HE-
HRMERINERLREBARFR
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R R A FKIAF RN E
ERBEARATHNAILSEEE - &
WRERRFENFRENEERR
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit risk limit control and mitigation policies (continued)

Ageing of accounts receivable from corporate clients and
investment funds arising from corporate finance, asset management
and investment holding and market making businesses is closely
monitored. There were no significant defaults in the past.

The credit risk of accounts receivable from the Stock Exchange and
other clearing houses is considered to be minimal.

Regarding the risk of the counterparties, the Group monitored the
margin call process in accordance with the credit terms under the
trading master agreement entered into with the counterparties. In
addition, the Group assesses counterparty’s credit risk through
assigning internal credit ratings and set counterparty limits
according to counterparty’s types, credit ratings and business
demand.

ECL allowance and provisioning policies

The Group’s policy requires the review of individual outstanding
amounts at least monthly or more regularly depending on individual
circumstances or market condition.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 9, where the ECL allowance
requirements under HKFRS 9 are based on an ECL model. The
Group applies simplified approach to measure ECL on accounts
receivable from corporate clients, investment funds and others;
and general approach to measure ECL on loans and advances to
customers, time deposits and other financial assets accounted
for at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive
income as well as loan commitments. Under the simplified
approach, the Group measures the ECL allowance at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL. Under the general approach, financial assets
migrate through the following three stages based on the change in
credit risk since initial recognition: Stage 1: 12-months ECL, Stage
2: Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired and Stage 3: Lifetime ECL —
credit- impaired.
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on the
Group’s historical experience and expert credit risk assessment,
including forward-looking information. The loan and advances use
the number of DPD and LTV to determine significant increase in
credit risk. For non-standard financing, internally derived credit
ratings have been identified as representing the best available
determinant of credit risk. Credit risk is deemed to have increased
significantly if the credit rating has significantly deteriorated at
the reporting date relative to the credit rating at the date of initial
recognition.

Calculation of ECL

The ECL are assessed by the Group on semi-annual basis. Based
on DPD, LTV and internally derived credit ratings, loans and
advances to customers are classified into 3 stages.

Under stage 1 is calculated on collective basis. For the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023, the 12-month ECL was measured
based on loss rate approach.

The ECL of each scenario is then calculated in accordance with the
respective loan exposure. When the loans are classified under stage
2 and stage 3, the lifetime ECL is calculated.

As at 31 December 2024, the average loss rate for 12-month ECL,
Lifetime ECL not credit-impaired and lifetime ECL credit-impaired
was 0.02%, 3.83% and 99.93% respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the average loss rate for 12-month ECL,
Lifetime ECL not credit-impaired and lifetime ECL credit-impaired
was 0.02%, 3.84% and 99.95% respectively.
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Calculation of ECL (continued)

If there is material decrease in collateral value and the full recovery
of the loan is in doubt, the retail and non-standard loan will be
classified into stage 3. For the loans classified as stage 3, the
Group may further calculate the ECL based on probability-weighted
scenarios to measure the ECL. Each scenario is associated with
different exposure at default and probability.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

When estimating the ECL on loan and advances to customers,
the Group has incorporated forward-looking economic information
through the use of industry trend and experienced credit judgement
to reflect the qualitative factors, and through the use of multiple
probability-weighted scenarios by the stock market analysis.

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or
other credit enhancements

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the
counterparties fail to perform their obligations as at the end of the
reporting period, in relation to each class of financial assets, is the
carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the statement of
financial position.

These amounts represent the worst case scenario of credit risk
exposure to the Group at 31 December 2024 and 2023, without
taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements
attached.

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk
exposure
(@) Bank balances and client trust bank balances

The counterparties of all client trust bank balances and the
majority of cash and bank balances are located in Hong Kong.
As the Group’s bank balances and client trust bank balances
are deposited with a number of financially sound financial
institutions, in the opinion of the Group, the concentration risk
of the Group’s bank balances and client trust bank balances
is insignificant.
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk
exposure (continued)

(o)

Loans and advances to customers and accounts
receivable from clients

The counterparties of the majority of loans and advances to
customers (including margin loans, IPO loans and other loan
financing) and accounts receivable from clients are individuals
who are mainly located in China. The business department
and risk management department daily prepares an analysis
of key financing client and futures, options and leveraged
foreign exchange client exposure for review to avoid excessive
concentration of risk. The Group manages its concentration
risk by diversified clients and collateral portfolio and various
concentration limit.

Accounts receivable from brokers, dealers as well as
clearing houses and others

The Group also has accounts receivable from clearing houses,
brokers and dealers from its securities, futures, options and
leveraged foreign exchange brokerage business as well as
other receivables from asset management, corporate finance
and investment holding and market making businesses.
Responsible officers manage the concentration of risk by
monitoring their respective exposures on a timely basis.

Securities borrowing and lending

In the normal course of brokerage business, the Group may enter
into securities borrowing and lending arrangements with customers
and financial institutions. The Group is not subject to significant
price risks under the securities borrowing and lending arrangement.
The cash collateral received and cash collateral placed are included
in the accounts payable and accounts receivable from brokers and
dealers, respectively. The Group is principally liable for repaying the
borrowed securities in case of any default by the customers.
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Securities borrowing and lending (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group outstanding securities
borrowed/lent to customers and financial institutions and their
corresponding cash collateral paid/received are as follows:
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EERB &)

EHFEEXRT ()

HE2024F12A318  AEERE
FRemgiEae A ESHHREE
BHELEBAENERN BRRSIE
@A

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Equity securities borrowed from BESmEEE ANKRERS

financial institutions 999,041 141,839

Equity securities pledged by margin customers 1R & & & P A& f& 5% 2 i $£ 17
for stock lending B IR R FE 5 3,374 3,375
1,002,415 145,214

Cash collateral placed with financial RS EEERNIESER D
institutions 1,052,538 148,033
Equity securities lent to customers Mm% F B LR REE S 43,763 2,394
Cash collateral received from customers AR FWEAIR < KT R 49,618 6,025

Market risk ™35 & B

The Group takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk
that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks mainly
arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity
products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market
movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or
prices such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity
prices.

The financial instruments held by the Group mainly exposed
it to interest rate risk and price risk. The market risk mainly
includes cash flow interest rate risk and price risk. The Group has
established policies and procedures for monitoring and controlling
the market risk arising from these financial instruments.
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s loans and advances to
customers, accounts receivable, financial assets and liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, accounts payable to clients,
bank borrowings, debt securities in issue, receivable from reverse
repurchase agreements, obligations under repurchase agreements,
client trust bank balances and cash and bank balances. Debt
investments usually bear a fixed rate interest and they are managed
through the sensitivity analysis and risk limit to monitor and control
the interest rate risk.

Interest on cash at banks will fluctuate at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. Bank borrowings and margin loans
receivable at variable rates exposed the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. Other financial assets and liabilities which are mainly
hedged the interest rate risk, not sensitive to the movement of
interest rate, of which the interest rate risk is also considered to
be minimal. The Group mitigates its interest rate risk by monitoring
market interest rate movements and revising the interest rates
offered to its customers on an ongoing basis in order to limit
potential adverse effects of interest rate movements on net
interest income. The Group regularly calculates the impact on
profit or loss of a possible interest rate shift on its portfolio of bank
borrowings, margin loans receivable, debt securities investment and
interest-bearing bank deposits.

The following table illustrates the potential impact, of a parallel
upward or downward shift of 100 basis points in interest rate
curves with all other variables held constant on the Group’s net
profit for the next twelve months from the reporting date, based on
the Group’s positions of interest-earning assets, interest-bearing
liabilities and listed debt securities investments at year end.
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39. Financial risk management (continued)
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Market risk (continued) &R &)
Interest rate risk (continued) Fl| 2 Ja e (4%)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis R E D AT
Increase/(decrease)
in profit before tax
BREE AR RGN GRS
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
Interest rate increase 100 basis points  X/= L H100& & FE T BT
Interest-earning assets and interest-bearing 4 B & E Kt BB E
liabilities 103,967 (22,618)
Debt securities investment BHEAFKRE (166,941) (53,206)
Net Amount peikail (62,974) (75,824)

Note:

Sensitivity analysis focus on directional investment which may potentially
impact the Group’s profit before tax. For the securities, financial product
and derivative financial instruments held by the Group are structured as
derivative products in issue for sales to customers and for hedging purpose.
They are not subject to the sensitivity analysis as the risk has been either
transferred to customers or properly hedged and mitigated accordingly. For
the securities held by the Group, whether they have been hedged against
the interest rate risk and price risk or not sensitive to the movement of
interest rate or equity index (e.g. money market fund), they are not subject
to the sensitivity analysis. For financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to the sensitivity analysis.

The estimated 1% increase in interest rate represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates over the period until the next annual reporting period.
The sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative because the year-end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk from listed
equity instruments and fund investments held by the Group which
are classified in the statement of financial position as financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Price
risk is the risk of changes in fair value of financial instruments
from fluctuations, whether such a change in price is caused by
factors specific to the individual instrument or factors affecting all
instruments traded in the markets. The Group mitigates its price
risk by performing detailed due diligence analysis of investments
and dedicated professionals are assigned to oversee and monitor
the performance of investments.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
assumption that the price of all the direct investment of listed equity
instruments and funds move according to the historical correlation
with the Hong Kong Hang Seng Index and other relevant equity
indices. The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity
index had changed by 10% with all other variable held constant, it
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in equity index.
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Increase/(decrease)
in profit before tax

BRBLAE R0, (R 4)

2024 2023

2024% 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

Changes in relevant index AHBEIE BB B FHET FATT
Increase 10% E7H10% 40,713 34,975
Decrease 10% TF&E10% (40,713) (34,975)
Note: Sensitivity analysis focus on directional investment which may potentially Mz - BRREDITAIE R A] e S AR EH

impact the Group’s profit before tax. For the securities, financial product
and derivative financial instruments held by the Group are structured as
derivative products in issue for sales to customers and for hedging purpose.
They are not subject to the sensitivity analysis as the risk has been either
transferred to customers or properly hedged and mitigated accordingly. For
the securities held by the Group, whether they have been hedged against
the interest rate risk and price risk or not sensitive to the movement of
interest rate or equity index (e.g. money market fund), they are not subject
to the sensitivity analysis. For financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to the sensitivity analysis.
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Price risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative because the year-end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Besides, the asset quality of the margin clients’ margin collateral
will deteriorate when the market comes down drastically, scenario
analysis and stress testing are regularly performed on an individual
client basis.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movements in foreign
currency exchange rates will affect the Group’s financial results and
its cash flows.

The Group’s foreign exchange risk principally arises from its
leveraged foreign exchange dealing and broking business as well as
the Group’s transactions which are denominated in currencies other
than the HKS.

For the leveraged foreign exchange brokerage business, the Group
hedges the majority of the client positions through back-to-back
transactions with external counterparties. The Group adopts
stringent control over its positions to minimize its exposure to
foreign exchange risk.

The Group’s principal operations are transacted and recorded
in Hong Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi. The Group is not
exposed to material foreign exchange risk as HK dollar is pegged
with US dollar. When the exchange rate of Renminbi or other
currencies fluctuates, the Group will take appropriate hedging
measures if necessary. The impact of other foreign currency
exposure is relatively minimal to its total assets and liabilities.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient
cash, the availability of funding from an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, the
treasury department maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining
available committed credit facilities from the banks.

Sources of liquidity are daily reviewed by treasury department
to ensure the availability of sufficient liquid funds to meet all
obligations.
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

. cMmAMRERE »)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity
reserve (comprising undrawn borrowing facilities) and cash and cash
equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows in strict compliance
with statutory requirements. This is achieved by monitoring the
liquidity position of the individual companies within the Group on a
daily basis to ensure the availability of sufficient liquid funds to meet
all obligations and compliance with the statutory requirements such
as the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Financial Resources)
Rules.

The following tables summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s
financial liabilities, based on the contractual and undiscounted cash

flows:

As at 31 December 2024

REBELREM &)

EREREENESREERASE
EHREBE S G (RIERIRIE
HRE) RECRELEB/BYNE
FHEA UBRBETETER A
ENHEN AEMEEFHEN
ETARNARIHES RN - AR
EHREARRNABESBIME
EA UHAABETER (WS
BELREE (HBER) B -

BREGOMKRUERRSTE  TK
BAAEESRBENZHIBFR

M2024F12H31H

Uptoi 1t03 3to 1to
month months 12 months 5 years Total
-@BAR —-Z=fA =Z+=f@A —ZARF @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TER TAR THERT TEAR
Liabilities 8
Accounts payable &4 7008 19,714,804 - - - 19,714,804
Bank borrowings RITER 5,901,536 21,221 - - 5,922,757
Lease liabilities MERE 2,043 4,087 18,233 38,734 63,097
Debt securities in issue BETREES 34,487,680 3,478,297 3,421,881 7,124,455 48,512,313
Financial liabilities at fair value BOTAEGABRD
through profit or loss EA =N 3,122,085 - - - 3,122,085
Obligations under repurchase ElE % EE
agreement 26,648,054 6,282,558 2,758,209 - 35,688,821
89,876,202 9,786,163 6,198,323 7,163,189 113,023,877
Off-balance sheet items EERERINMER
Underwriting obligations AGHEH - - - - -
Capital commitments BRI 6,445 - - - 6,445
6,445 - - - 6,445
Derivative cash flows TERERE
Derivative financial instruments RBBEEENTE
settled on a gross basis SRTA
Total inflows ‘RN 17,565,489 7,280,278 18,699,740 7,168,775 50,714,282
Total outflows @ (17,644,299)  (7,026,211) (18,855,234)  (7,580,938) (51,106,682)
(78,810) 254,067 (155,494) (412,163) (392,400)
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 30. ERAKRERE @
Liquidity risk (continued) RBELER 2
As at 31 December 2023 72023%F12H31H
Up to 110 3to 1to
1 month 3 months 12 months 5 years Total
—@AR" —Z=fA =E+=fdA —ERE @i

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
T TAT TR TR TAT

Liabilities g%
Accounts payable AN 18,048,359 - - - 18,048,359
Bank borrowings RITIER 7,244,585 2,164,736 614,499 - 10,023,820
Lease liabilities HEER 2,820 5,640 10,312 3,821 22,593
Debt securities in issue BETEEES 30,050,634 1,219,724 232,499 14,394,114 45,896,971
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEABEN
through profit or loss cHEE 2,432,272 - - - 2,432,272
Obligations under repurchase |15 i 0 228
agreement 5,212,771 6,917,427 661,613 1,641,468 14,433,279
62,991,441 10,307,527 1,518,923 16,039,403 90,857,294
Off-balance sheet items BEEESEXINEE
Underwriting obligations AR - _ _ _ _
Capital commitments BARAELE 11,614 = = = 11,614
11,614 = = = 11,614
Derivative cash flows TERERE
Derivative financial instruments RRBEENITE
settled on a gross basis SRMIA
Total inflows ‘iR 8,573,529 12,527,206 7,341,224 11,942,259 40,384,218
Total outflows Yot (8,594,306) (12,528,843)  (7,356,756) (12,450,973) (40,930,878)

(20,777) (1,637) (15,5632) (608,714) (546,660)
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Financial instruments not measured at fair value

At the end of the reporting period, the fair values of the Group’s
financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value were not
materially different from their carrying amount due to their short
term nature.

Financial instruments measured at fair value

Group’s valuation process

The fair values of financial assets in Level 1 and Level 2 are
measured by reference to quoted market prices and brokers’
quotes, respectively. The Group engaged independent professional
valuers to perform the valuation of financial instruments in Level 3
for financial reporting purposes. These valuation reports are sent to
the finance department and discussed at the Audit Committee at
least twice per annum, which is in line with the Group’s reporting
dates.

At each financial year end, the finance department reviews all
significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments used to
measure the fair values of financial instruments in Level 3. Changes
in fair values of financial assets in Levels 2 and 3 are analysed at
each reporting date.

TRHEERERNATE
WHERFETENEH TR
PR 2 B R 4 R I - R R B IR
AFEFENSBREAERABOA
TEEZSEERRBENEHEE
MEARAEEEALR

BAFEFEN 2@ A
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F1RLEE2REMEEN R FET
DHBZ2ENHERELKLRET
B-AKEC BB EXMGERD
HWEMRE T AETHEE  NAIE
MHEHRBEN - ZFEERSHEE
FEIMR(BAEENRS BB
—B)EXTHHBARNEREZE

gL e

REVFRFER  HBKALBRMMAE
AR EFIMER T AR FER
ERBEBRZ2HNMGERAE B
RN FINEMEENRFEE
REREBRETOMN -
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 3. cREREE»)
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities cREEREENAFE
(continued) (%)
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued) A FETENZHTAE)
Fair value hierarchy NEEFR
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy ATEERTRXEARNEFRESF T
of the Group’s financial instruments: BEWATFEFEER:
Assets measured at fair value: BATFEFENEE :
As at 31 December 2024 72024512831 H

Fair value measurement using

RAATRENATENE

Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservables
active Markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EE BRT BRE®
S RE BE2Y BE2Y
(B14R) (%E24R) (34) @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR TR TART
Non-current £ )
Financial assets held for trading and #H{EEERIREL BB E
investments
- Unlisted equity securities —EEMRAES - - 1,238,747 1,238,747
Financial products SREM 421,670 3,133,350 809,200 4,364,220
Derivative financial instruments TS RmIE - 244,946 - 244,946
421,670 3,378,296 2,047,947 5,847,913
Current E
Financial assets held for trading and #{EE & kA K4 &L
investments BE
- Unlisted fixed income securites ~ —3E £ Eﬂﬁﬁﬁ?fi - 39,402 - 39,402
— Unlisted convertible securities —JE ET AR E - - 215,593 215,593
~ Listed equity securities — R AE A 1,199,157 - - 1,199,157
- Listed debt securities - L mEEES - 21,877,735 - 21,877,735
- Unlisted debt securities —FLMEBES - 2,502,631 232,905 2,735,536
Financial assets at fair value through & A FEzt ABZEHE &
profit or loss BE
- Listed fund investments —FmESHRE 1,741,131 - - 1,741,131
- Unlisted fund investments —EEMEEERE - 355,803 160,824 516,627
- Other financial instruments - Hitte @I A - 507,988 - 507,988
- Financial products —SHEM 3,071,286 27,553,726 5,264,644 35,889,656
Financial assets at fair value through 1272 F{Ezt A £ it 2 FE W
other comprehensive income nREREE
—Listed equity securities - F R AE A 670,284 - - 670,284
—Listed debt securities —FmE i‘%m% - 7,523,556 - 7,523,556
-Unlisted debt securities —FLEMERE - 791,432 - 791,432
Derivative financial instruments TESRIE - 1,511,594 - 1,511,594
6,681,858 62,663,867 5,873,966 75,219,691

7,103,528 66,042,163 7,921,913 81,067,604
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39. Financial risk management (continued) 30. ERAKRERE @
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities tRMEEREENATE
(continued) (%)
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued) BAFHEGTEMLHTAE)
Fair value hierarchy N EFZER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy NEEEF TREHEAERES R T
of the Group’s financial instruments: ERNATFEAEER:
Assets measured at fair value: EAFEFENEE
As at 31 December 2023 M2023F12H31H

Fair value measurement using

FRATEENAFEE

Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
R EYNG| BEAEE
mHRE BR2Y BR2Y
(F18R) (524%) (E38) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THAT THET THET
Non-current ERE
Financial assets held for trading and #{EE B k& &
investments SHEE
- Unlisted equity securities —FEMRAES - - 1,825,052 1,825,052
Financial products THEM 470,712 7,962,967 6,387,217 14,820,896
Derivative financial instruments TESMIA - 323,154 - 323,154
470,712 8,286,121 8,212,269 16,969,102
Current E
Financial assets held for trading and #F{EE & Ri% E K £ &
investments BE
— Unlisted fixed income securities ~ —3F £ Bl F iz & 5 - 3,402 = 3,402
- Unlisted convertible securities —JE AR E S - - 205,920 205,920
- Listed equity securities — MRk AES 1,325,364 - - 1,325,364
— Listed debt securities - FTEKESR - 4,276,860 - 4,276,860
- Unlisted debt securities —FITEBES - 4,339,712 748,646 5,088,358
Financial assets at fair value through & A F{Ext A B &)
profit or loss SREE
- Listed fund investments —ImESKE 5,912,798 = = 5,912,798
- Unlisted fund investments -k ETMEEKRE - 378,958 347,661 726,619
- Other financial instruments —HiemIA - 159,439 - 159,439
- Financial products —eREm 5,770,907 27,039,339 903,995 33,714,241
Financial assets at fair value through & A FE AL 2E
other comprehensive income haneRBE
—Listed equity securities — ERAES 76,481 - - 76,481
~Listed debt securities - FTEKESR - 370,123 - 370,123
Derivative financial instruments MTHEERIE - 1,612,106 - 1,612,106
13,085,550 38,179,939 2,206,222 53,471,711

13,556,262 46,466,060 10,418,491 70,440,813
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
(continued)

Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Liabilities measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2024
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V. cHMEAREE »
EMEEREBNATEE
(&)
B FEFFENHTAE)
ATFEZE (&)

EAFEFENERE:
M2024%12H31H

Fair value measurement using

RAATEENAFENE

Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservables
active Markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BB EPNT| BEAEXE
hiERE BE2Y BE2Y
(B14R) (%E2%%) (%38) #@gt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TER TER TR
Non-current ERE
Debt securities in issue designated 18 & A FE ABEH
at fair value through profit and loss 2 #1773 - 2,866,883 1,121,118 3,988,001
Derivative financial instruments fTEERIE - 310,376 - 310,376
- 3,177,259 1,121,118 4,298,377
Current mE
Debt securities in issue designated at#5 7 ? AFEFABRH
fair value through profit and loss BIIEBESR - 28,564,605 5,216,042 33,780,647
Financial liabilities held for trading % 1’E,a Encmas
- Listed equity securities — FRAER 567,426 - - 567,426
~ Listed debt securities - FmEKESR - 1,238,875 - 1,238,875
- Unlisted fixed income securities ~ —3F £ B E % & 5 1,240 1,240
Financial liabilities designated at fair 8T B A FEF ABER
value through profit or loss tRAR
- Financial products —EREM - 1,091,844 - 1,091,844
~ Third-party interest in —REREEEM
consolidated investment funds E=HkEn - 222,700 - 222,700
Derivative financial instruments TESRIE - 1,747,753 - 1,747,753
567,426 32,867,017 5,216,042 38,650,485
567,426 36,044,276 6,337,160 42,948,862
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
(continued)

Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Liabilities measured at fair value: (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

V. cHMEAREE »
EMEEREBNATEE
(&)
B FEFFENHTAE)
AP EER &)

BATEFENEE: (8)
M2023%F12H31H

Fair value measurement using

FRATRENATEE

Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Vg EpNG| BAEE
Mm% e BR2Y ER2Y
(B18%) (5528%) (538) Bt
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET FET THET
Non-current ERE
Debt securities in issue designated 18 1k A FE ABEH
at fair value through profit and loss 2 %1787 & % - 4,489,336 6,701,941 11,191,277
Derivative financial instruments THEERIA - 297,192 - 297,192
- 4,786,528 6,701,941 11,488,469
Current mE
Debt securities in issue designated at 35 € iR A FExt A B
fair value through profit and loss ~ BE#1TEXKEH - 27,809,903 808,785 28,618,688
Financial liabilities held for trading ~ H{EEEMERBAE
- Listed equity securities — ERAES 148,747 - - 148,747
- Listed debt securities —FLTEBES - 506,494 - 506,494
- Unlisted fixed income securitiess ~ — 3 LT EIE fimEH - 1,600 - 1,600
Financial liabilities designated at fair 15 AT Eit ABEH)
value through profit or loss tRAR
- Financial products - EREM - 1,693,032 - 1,593,082
— Third-party interest in —REREEEM
consolidated investment funds E=HkEn = 182,399 - 182,399
Derivative financial instruments fTEERIE - 1,396,383 - 1,396,383
148,747 31,489,811 808,785 32,447,343
148,747 36,276,339 7,510,726 43,935,812
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
(continued)

Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

(@)

Financial instruments in Level 1

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active
markets are based on quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting period. A market is regarded as active if quoted
prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, or broker and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length
basis. The quoted market prices used for financial assets and
financial liabilities held by the Group are the current bid price
and the current ask price.

Financial instruments in Level 2

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example, over-the-counter) are
determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates. If all significant inputs used in the valuation for
financial instruments are observable, the financial instruments
are included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs are not based on
observable market data, the financial instrument is included in
Level 3.
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

. cMmAMRERE »)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities tREEREBNATE
(continued) (%)
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued) BAFHEGTEMLHTAE)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NEEER (&)
(c) Financial instruments in Level 3 () F3ZEmIE
The following table presents the changes in Level 3 financial T % 2% 8, £20244F %2023
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. F12A8318 IFFEE @ B35 4
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels of MTAENEE - AEBERKRE
fair value hierarchy as at the end of each reporting period in B AR SR A HE 4 T R R A
which they occur. TEEZHEHEE -
Level 3 financial assets IR RMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE2024%F12831 AL EE
Unlisted Unlisted Unlisted Unlisted
equity fixed income fund  convertible Financial
securities ~ securities investments  securities products
(note 20) (note 20) (note 20) (note 20) (note 20) Total
FLEm FLm kL FEm
kA®Es BEWAZS ELRE FHRREF  SRER
(Ma20)  (FFE20)  (M¥&E20) (Hz£20) (Mz£20) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TETL TERL TR TERL TR TER
At 1 January 2024 1202451818 1,825,052 748,646 347,661 205,920 7,291,212 10,418,491
Purchases EE - - - - - -
Disposal e - - - - (966,492)  (966,492)
Transfer to level 1 (note 1) EAE1R (FIFE) (349,350) - - - - (349,350)
Transfer to level 2 (note 2) &\ FE2 (fizt2) - (514,292 - - - (514,292
Net (loss)/gain recognised in A B HERH (BB) /
profit or loss K& 58 (236,955) (1,449) (186,837) 9,673 (250,876) (666,444)
At 31 December 2024 120245124318 1,238,747 232,905 160,824 215593 6,073,844 7,921,913
Note 1:  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the unlisted equity MiEE1 : B Z20245F12 8318 1L &
securities are listed in stock exchange. As at 31 December 2024, the EIE PR AR B A NE
fair value is determined by market price. £33 ST E T o 20244
12A81H ' AFEHMS
BIREETE °
Note 2: As of 31 December 2024, the valuations of unlisted fixed income

securities and unlisted fund investments were determined by
observable broker quotes or market price of the reference securities.
As of 31 December 2023, the valuations were determined by
unobservable inputs such as the credit assessment of the issuer and
value of collateral held.

B EE2

& £2024%12H318 * 3k
FHEERAZESKIEE
MESKRENHEBRBA
BRCERERBE RS
KT & € - & £20234F
12A318 - HENRETA
R (= B AR K B i 198
MEES T BRE A
BETE -



Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 5 ¥R 3R B &

31 December 2024
2024%12A31H

39. Financial risk management (continued)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

(continued)

Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

(©

Financial instruments in Level 3 (continued)

Level 3 financial assets
For the year ended 31 December 2023

BHREREK | 202453k 251

. cMmAMRERE »)
tREEREBNATE

(%)

B FEFTENE#TA &)
N EFR#E)
FEIRE T E (&)

(©

EIMEMEE
B £2023F12A31BLFE

Unlisted  Unlisted fixed Unlisted
equity income Unlisted fund ~ convertible Financial
securities securities  investments securities products
(note 20) (note 20) (note 20) (note 20) (note 20) Total
kLT ¥ ¥ ¥
hkAEs BEhAZEr EERE ABKRESF  fREm
(sk20)  (Wso0)  (Migko0)  (Wi&k20)  (MEkoo0) @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET THET THT THT THT
At 1 January 2023 120231418 1,769,013 1,304,539 400,137 196,640 7,398,973 11,069,302
Purchases EE - - - - - -
Disposal e - (47,610) - - (61,020) (108,630)
Transfer from level 2 (note 1)~ #EE2REA (1) - 83,167 - - 155,940 239,107
Net (loss)/gain recognised in A B R HERH (BB) /
profit or loss fbeike 56,039 (591,450) (52,476) 9,280 (202,681) (781,288)
At 31 December 2023 12023124318 1,825,052 748,646 347,661 205,920 7,291,212 10,418,491
Note 1:  The valuations of unlisted fixed income securities and unlisted fund MizE1: FELTETERAZERIE

investments were previously determined by observable broker quotes
or market price of the reference securities. As of 31 December 2023,
the valuations were determined by unobservable inputs such as the
credit assessment of the issuer and value of collateral held.

FHESEENGELA
BBERCLRERS
EEFNTMEEE - #HZE
202312 A318 - fili & A
BT ANEETLE R
RiERNEESTIER
BABEEE -
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
(continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
(c) Financial instruments in Level 3 (continued)

Level 3 financial liabilities

For the year ended 31 December 2024

. cMmAMRERE »)

TREEREENAFE
(%)
R FEGTENTH LA (&)
N EEL (&)
(c) F3e@MTITE#E)

E3P MBS

B ZE2024F12A31HLLEE

Debt

securities

in issue

ERTEKEES

At 1 January 2024 R2024F1 /18 7,510,726
Issuance 1T -
Redemption fE [ (966,491)
Net loss recognised in profit or loss RiB = ERA BB F R (207,075)
At 31 December 2024 7K2024%12A31H 6,337,160

Level 3 financial liabilities
For the year ended 31 December 2023

E3WEMEE
HZE2023F12A31 B LFE

Debt

securities

in issue

B 217

BBES

At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 H1H 7,650,290
Issuance AT =
Transfer from level 2 (note 1) i85 B2 (FIsE1) 123,567
Redemption on maturity 7 Bl HA B fE ] (61,645)
Net loss recognised in profit or loss 8 2 TR R B 1B F 58 (201,486)
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12 31 H 7,510,726

Note 1:  The valuations of unlisted fixed income securities and unlisted fund
investments were previously determined by observable broker quotes
or market price of the reference securities. As of 31 December 2023,
the valuations were determined by unobservable inputs such as the

credit assessment of the issuer and value of collateral held.

MieE1 - FELEMETER=EFESRKRIE
EESRE NG E LA
RABRECLEARERS
EBLFNMBGERETE -
#H =2023%412A318 &
BENREREITANEEF
HRAFHEFREEST
AR A BIEEE -
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
(continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Financial instruments in Level 3 (continued)

(©

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments as at 31 December 2024

and 2023:

31 December 2024
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. cMmAMRERE »)
tRHEEREEBNATE

(%)

HRFEGFENTEH A (K)
RFEER &)
(c) EIMEEMTA A

TX A< I ER2024F K&
2023F12A31HLHEMNE KX
ELBR2EME

2024%12H31H

Significant Sensitivity of the
Valuation technique  unobservable input Average fair value to the input
EE R 1 EAXEEBESY ¥ AVFEHZENERE
Unlisted convertible Market Approach Pricing multiples of market 13.41 10% increase or decrease in
securities comparable companies used the underlying stock price,
to determine the estimated the fair value would be
equity value of the Project increased by HK$22 million
Company: or decreased by HK$22
- Price to earnings multiple million, respectively.
I ET AR RREE 5 %% FREEER ARl RIER 1341 HERELAKBEEI10% AF
ENTHTELRARNE ERHRIEM2BE &8 TR
BEH: WA22RERT
~HR%
Unlisted fixed income  Income approach Collateral value N/A - N/A
securities
FETMEERAZEE WAE BHRREE TER  TER
Unlisted fund Net asset value N/A N/A - N/A
investments
FEMESKRE BEFE NEA ER  AEA
Unlisted equity securities Market approach Pricing multiples, discount rate N/A  The higher the pricing multiples,
for lack of marketability, the higher the fair value.
volatility The higher the discount rate, the
lower the fair value.
The higher the volatility, the
higher the fair value.
FETRAE S %% EERE B2 manate TER EERERES ATEES-
BHE KR BEEYR A TFAEBE -
KiEHS A TEES o
Financial products Net asset value N/A N/A N/A
SHER BEFE NEA NER  NEA
Debt securities in issue  Net asset value N/A N/A - N/A
BETEBES BEFE NEA ER  AEA
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. cMmAMRERE »)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities tRMEERBENLATE
(continued) (%)
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued) R FEGTENTH LA (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NEEEZER (E)
(c) Financial instruments in Level 3 (continued) (c) FE3hemTA#E)

31 December 2023 2023%12831H

39. Financial risk management (continued)

Significant Sensitivity of the
Valuation technique unobservable input Average fair value to the input
HERM EABEERZ T ATEH2IENHERE
Unlisted convertible Market Approach Pricing multiples of market 10.41 10% increase or decrease in
securities comparable companies used the underlying stock price,
to determine the estimated the fair value would be
equity value of the Project increased by HK$22 million
Company: or decreased by HK$22
— Price to earnings multiple million, respectively.
I FT AR RREE 5 %A ARETER AR RER 1041 HEBERELAHEEI0% 1
ENTiHA &L RRRNE FEESRIEM2EEE T
EBEE: SR 2B 8B T o
—-mAX
Unlisted fixed income  Income approach Collateral value N/A N/A
securities
FITETRAZESE BAE BHmER TER  TER
Unlisted fund Net asset value N/A N/A N/A
investments
FEMEERE BEFE T TER  TER
Unlisted equity securities Market approach Pricing multiples, discount N/A The higher the pricing multiples,
rate for lack of marketability, the higher the fair value.
volatility The higher the discount rate,
the lower the fair value.
The higher the volatility, the
higher the fair value.
I ERAE Liko)zs EEEH RE5RELN TER  EEREES ATESS-
BIRE R BEEYR  ATEME -
RiEMSE  ATEES -
Financial products Net asset value N/A N/A N/A
& RIEm BEFE ik TER  TER
Debt securities inissue  Net asset value N/A N/A N/A
EETEBES BEFE i TER  TER
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39. Financial risk management (continued)

Capital management

The Group’s objectives for managing capital, which represent a
broader concept than the “equity” on the face of the statement of
financial position, are:

° to comply with the capital requirements under the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules for its
subsidiaries which are licensed corporations;

° to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

° to support the Group’s stability and growth; and

° to maintain a strong capital base to support the development
of its business.

The liquid capital is monitored daily by each individual licensed
subsidiary’s management based on the Securities and Futures
(Financial Resources) Rules. The required information is filed
with the SFC on a timely basis. The SFC requires each licensed
corporation to maintain a level of required liquid capital which is
the higher of the floor requirement ranging from HK$0.1 million to
HK$15 million and 5% of the aggregate of its adjusted liabilities
and clients’ margin. All licensed corporations within the Group
complied with their required liquid capital during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

A subsidiary of the Company is a member of the Hong Kong
Confederation of Insurance Brokers and is required to maintain
a minimum net asset value of HK$0.1 million at all times. Two
subsidiaries of the Company are registered with the Monetary
Authority of Singapore and are required to maintain a minimum
base capital requirement of SG$250,000 and SG$1,000,000 at
all times, respectively. A subsidiary of the Company is a licensed
subsidiary under Monetary Authority of Macao and is required to
satisfy with relevant capital requirements.

The capital of the Group mainly comprises its total equity.
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40. Offsetting financial assets and financial

liabilities

The Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
Continuous Net Settlement (CNS) money obligations receivable and

4. BEHEETHEERSTHE

&

AEEBRHEB AR RITENE
HEFEEENFEFAIR K

trade payables with HKSCC and it intends to settle on a net basis
as accounts receivable from or accounts payable to the Stock
Exchange. The net amount of CNS money obligations receivable or
payable with HKSCC and the guarantee fund placed in HKSCC do
not meet the criteria for offsetting in the financial statements and

the Group does not intend to settle the balances on a net basis.

BRI EUER R 5 RN R
B URIRFREE(ELRKSE
NEMXMEREE EEBEEDN
548 3 RR ST A A B o R A+t B O R
BEERRBERENRERESY
THERMBRERABHNFE

AEETHIZFREEGERER

£ o
Net
Gross amounts
amount of of
recognised financial
Gross financial assets/ Related
amount of (assets)/ (liabilities)  amounts not
recognised liabilities reflected in  set off in the
financial  offset in the the statement
assets/ financial financial of financial
(liabilities) statements statements position Net
REBHE REBBHEE
ERR  E#ERZ  2IMNER  HARME
SREE/ ¢R(EE)/ BE/(Bf) MRARESH
(BfE) A% BELE BE  WEHSH 2]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TET TET THT
As at 31 December 2024 12024F12A31R
Financial assets SREE
Accounts receivable arising from brokerage 442 5 % fe Y508
— the Stock Exchange and other clearing  —B X FT R A& E R
houses 6,102,189 (3,807,195) 2,294,994 - 2,294,994
Loans and advances to Customers BFEFNERRBH 7,746,401 - 7,746,401 (7,742,749) 3,652
Financial liabilities SRER
Accounts payable arising from brokerage & 42 £ e 5B
— the Stock Exchange and other clearing  —B X FT R A& E R
houses (4,609,433) 3,807,195 (802,238) - (802,238)
As at 31 December 2023 1202312 A318
Financial assets SREE
Accounts receivable arising from brokerage 4F47 £ fE iU
~ the Stock Exchange and other clearing  — B P R E b & B Fy
houses 3,992,580 (2,857,801) 1,134,779 - 1,134,779
Loans and advances to Customers BTEPHERRBH 5,761,594 = 5,761,594 (5,759,086) 2,508
Financial liabilities SRER
Accounts payable arising from brokerage ~ 4R42 £ fE I B
~ the Stock Exchange and other clearing  — B P R E b & B Fy
houses (3,176,382) 2,857,801 (318,581) - (318,581)
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40. Offsetting financial assets and financial 40. RS MMEEHEESRE
liabilities (continued) &
The tables below reconcile the “net amount of financial assets/ TRE EXFTE R [R5 ER
(liabilities) presented in the statement of financial position”, as set SRV ERMEE(AE) FE|H
out above, to the amounts presented in the statement of financial BIEIANARERNCREETHERR -
position.
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Net amount of accounts receivable arising from  _E SCFT il K $5 1% 45 40 £ 5 &
brokerage after offsetting as stated above Wk F 5
- the Stock Exchange and other clearing BRI REMEER
houses 2,294,994 1,134,779
Accounts receivable other than the Stock Bk 22 P I EL A 45 B AT DA MY
Exchange and other clearing houses JiE Uy A 8,876,187 7,325,921
Less: Impairment B ORE (74,811) (69,225)
Accounts receivables in the statement of B 5 R0 2k 79 FE WO IE
financial position 11,096,370 8,391,475
Net amount of accounts payable arising from EXFrt SR R R ETS
brokerage after offsetting as stated above FE FRIE S 88
- the Stock Exchange and other clearing — B AP R B At AR P
houses 802,238 318,581
Accounts payables other than the Stock B 22 BT o L 45 B AT DA MG
Exchange and other clearing houses JE S 508 18,912,566 17,729,778
Accounts payables in the statement of financial B 7 #A i 3k P & 15 2B
position 19,714,804 18,048,359
The “net amounts of financial assets/(liabilities) reflected in the FXFREN TREBREREYN S
financial statements”, as set out above, is included in “accounts MEE/(AE)FEISBEERE
receivable and accounts payable arising from brokerage — the B 7% 3 3% MY sE18 2248 [ 4R 42 % 75
Stock Exchange and other clearing houses” in notes 18 and 24 to FEWHRERENRE-BTRRE

the financial statements, respectively. o= FR | o
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41. Statement of financial position of the 41

Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

D R BB IR R &

BREARBIRHERAROT BN
KRBT :

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TET FETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries A B A A 26,117,665 21,862,665
Fixed assets EBE - 989
_Deferred tax assets BEERBREE 1810 1,548
26,118,975 21,865,202
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables T8 5 Zk 3B - R4 K H {th FE U 7108 8,382 18,925
Amount due from subsidiaries JE L Bf /B A B FRIB 13,224,891 14,386,786
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEEEY 180,638 55,459
_Total current assets nEBEERE 13,413,911 14,461,170
Current liabilities REBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE - (877)
Accrued liabilities EEtEaE (15,418) (64,473)
Debt securities in issue BBITESES (8,062,170) (4,110,743)
— At amortised cost — RS N (6,834,597) (2,534,065)
— Designated at fair value through —BEZATEFAER
profit or loss (1,227,573) (1,576,678)
- Bank loans —RITE (5,861,443) (9,449,391)
- Amount due to a subsidiary — B —KK B AR FKIA (6,330,501) (3,194,774)
Tax payable AN (1,822) (3,166)
_Total current liabilites nBAafe®r 00 (20,271,354)  (16,823,424)
_Net current liabilites AEBREFE 00 (6,857,443) (2,362,254)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Debt securities in issue BEETEBRES (3,125,610) (3,225,006)
— At amortised cost — R SH K AR (3,125,610) (3,144,937)
— Designated at fair value through —EBEEAFEFABR
profit or loss - (80,069)
(3,125,610) (3,225,006)
Net assets EEFE 16,135,922 16,277,942
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41. Statement of financial position of the 41. X AT BERRE @)
Company (continued)
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Equity Rz
Share capital fig 4 10,902,195 10,902,195
Currency translation reserve BEmE S - =
Share option reserve B AR 13,083 19,432
Retained profits =88 Al 5,220,644 5,356,315
Total equity AR 16,135,922 16,277,942
Dr. YIM Fung Ms. Ql Haiying
g 8 + WEERLZL
Director Director

EF EF
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41. Statement of financial position of the
Company (continued)

41

VNNV E 307 97 3¢ ),

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: NEFESRZENT :
Currency
translation  Share option Retained

reserve reserve profits Total

ERRERE ERERE RE R @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

Thn TAT TAT TAT

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 1202212318 K2023%1 A1A 187 26,132 5,567,965 5,594,284

Total comprehensive income for the year FRZERESE - - (27,459) (27,459)

Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HRBARA (187) - 187 -
Recognition of equity-settled share-based BANEREEARD AREBHHR

payments - - - -

Transfer of share option reserve upon the BERELAmEZERERE

forfeiture of share options - (6,700) 6,700 -

Final special dividend for 2022 2022 R ERRIR S - - (95,539) (95,539)

Interim dividend for 2023 (note 10) 2023 F R ERR 8 (I 7E10) - - (95,539) (95,539)

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 202351231 K202451 A1H - 19,432 5,356,315 5,375,747

Total comprehensive income for the year EREANELE - - 82,863 82,863

Share repurchase RipEE - - (14,815) (14,815)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based BRUNERTEARR AEBEHFR

payments - - - -

Transfer of share option reserve upon the BREXAMEZERERE

forfeiture of share options - (6,349) 6,349 -

Final dividend for 2023 (note 10) 2023 RERR & (i 7E10) - - (95,539) (95,539)

Interim dividend for 2024 (note 10) 20245 B8R 8 (i 7E10) - - (114,529) (114,529)

- 13,083 5220644 523,727
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42. Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2024 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be relevant to the
Group.

Effective for

accounting periods

beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in 1 January 2025

foreign exchange rates: Lack of exchangeability

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: disclosures —
Amendments to the classification and measurement of
financial instruments

1 January 2026

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards - 1 January 2026

Volume 11

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial 1 January 2027
statements

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: 1 January 2027
disclosures

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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43. Events after the reporting period 43. HREHRER

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Guotai Junan
Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, completed the subscription of 35,350,000 right issue
shares in GTJA Vietnam, a subsidiary of Guotai Junan Securities
(Hong Kong) Limited and a company listed on the Hanoi Stock
Exchange. The total consideration for these shares was VND
392,685,000,000 (approximately equivalent to HK$120,000,000).
Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited’s shareholding in
GTJA Vietnam has been increased from 50.97% to 67.38%.

In addition, references are made to (1) the joint announcement
dated 9 October 2024 issued by GTJA, the ultimate holding
company of the Company, and Haitong regarding a proposed
merger by way of absorption and a share exchange by GTJA; and
(2) the announcement dated 14 March 2025 issued by GTJA on the
completion of the proposed merger. As at the date of the report,
the Company considers it is not practical to assess the potential
impact, if any, of the proposed merger on the Group. The Company
will continue monitoring the situation and, where there is any
material update on the matter, issue further announcement as and
when necessary.

The matters mentioned above are non-adjusting events after the
financial year end and do not result in any adjustments to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024.

RMEPRE  NRRIZE2ENB
RRAERELES (BF) BRAA
TRRERRELORE (ZRAA
BHRELZES (BB BRATHN
BAR YHRAAZFELHRSAT L)
35,350,000% it g Bz 17 » 2 F Ik 9
) 48 (X {8 /5392,685,000,000# F
& (4948 & 7 120,000,000/ 7T ) °
BEHRELZES (BB BRAANE
ZE LM A AR R 50.97 %8 N2
67.38% °

BEAN - ZZER AL AR R B 2 B AR AR IR
ARBERABELRGRMEMBE SR A
2024F10HOR Mt & RE AR
FHEBEREZBARKEREN S
NETRZEH([HBEEH]D K
QEIZRE R T EES G EAM
HH B2025F314H M A& o 1
RiRkEHE  ARAR BTG Z
AEHEAEBNBELZE (WWEF) W
Y EAIT - AR BEEERE
BAiEn TEZEEEEMNERE
R R EBREHE— TSRS -

EXFEEB R FEAREN
EFEEFIE - T2 EHHEE F2024
F12A31A L FEMGEE M BRE
EHR T FHEE -
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RESULTS XE&
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20215 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FAT THL THL FHL
Revenue and other income WAREA K& 4,427,037 3230,004 2,327,608 3964944 4,940,344
Profit before tax BREAE 366,631 191,416 26,657 1,287,646 1,814,679
Profit for the year FERREA 350,697 206,105 83042  1,108273 1,567,772

Profit attributable to ordinary equity LONGES
holders of the Company iyl 347,783 201,261 80,381 1,004,743 1,562,587

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHAE
As at 31 December
M2A318

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 2023 20226 20216 20205
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T BT FHT FHETL FETL
Loans and advances to customers LIRENERRBR 7,746,401 5,761,594 6,391,369 15,854,687 15,604,244
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ~ RAFEFABRNEREEE 39,057,188 19970416 11,517,623 23,253,517 381,507,050
Financial products SRER 40,253,876 48,535,137  45938,678 31,599,309 39,512,089
Recelvable from reverse repurchase agreements [ /@2 B h 2 FE Wi 708 9,982,509 739,579 586,845  4,443729 3,022,800
Derivative financial instruments TESRIA 1,756,540 1935260 2,104,513 619230 1,261,354
Cash and cash equivalents ReRELEEY 7,204,149 7407815 7,756,580 5,277,874 5,508,779
Client trust bank balances RPEARITLES 12,054,082 13,750,018 13,347,021 17,804,841 18,707,026
Other current assets AfREEE 11,345,128 8,681,685 6,053,134 6711577  5936,09
Other non-current assets AtERSEE 773,276 753,649 759,323 723,329 661,303
Total assets EESTE 130,173,149 107,535,153 94,455,086 106,288,093 121,720,741
Interest bearing borrowing SRR (5,956,800)  (0,939,421)  (9,349,007)  (5,375,208)  (9,739,397)
Debt securities in issue BENEBES (48,358,252)  (45,763,712)  (41,488,268)  (45,491,783)  (47,919,872)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss AT EGFABRZMEBAR (3,122,085 (2,482,272  (2,108,386)  (8,772,805)  (6,666,260)
Obligations under repurchase agreements EEHZRNER (35,113,555)  (14,027,595)  (7,695,073)  (9,255,723) (17,396,163)
Derivative financial instruments fTEe@IA (2,058,129) (1,693,575  (1,529,217) (532,961) (862,429)
Other liabilities AEE (20,537,625)  (18,716,580)  (17,348,939)  (21,422,679)  (23,897,453)
Non-controlling interests FRRER (112,046) (122,525) (129,497) (129,578) (121,048)
Shareholders’ fund RkEES 14,914,657 14,830,473 14,806,699 15,307,361 5,118,119
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In this report, unless the context requires otherwise, the
following expressions have the following meanings:

2020 amendments ¢ Amendments to HKAS 1,
Presentation of financial statements: Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current

2022 amendments ® Amendments to HKAS 1,
Presentation of financial statements: Non-current
liabilities with covenants

AGM e the annual general meeting of the Company
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Ordinance e the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws

of Hong Kong)

Articles of Association e the articles of association of the
Company

Board e the board of directors of the Company
CEOQO e the chief executive officer of the Company
CFO e the chief financial officer of the Group

CG Code e the Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules

Chairman e the chairman of the Board

CO e the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)

Company or Guotai Junan International ¢ Guotai Junan
International Holdings Limited, incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1788.
HK)

Company Secretary e the company secretary of the
Company

REFER » BEXFESBFAEI) - TR AE L THE -

2020 ERT R « BA G EAE 1R (BRTA) - MB]R
RNER: BEDPEARB I ERH

2022 ZFT R « BB G ERE1R (BRTAN) - MBH
RNER: WHEZmNIFRBEE
BRBFRE « AARRRBFAES

GTEEE RN D FESEEREH) « GTEREEREY
DFECERGI) (FBREEPFEC16E)

(EBEIRMA) « ARRKEBEIZAMAND

EZg e ARAEES

TR « NABITHMAEE

G HE « NEBMIKHEE

(EEBRTH) AKLMHRADMBCIABE Z(EEE R
TR

ITFeEFELRE
(RBEB) o (R BEDI) (BB IEDIF622F )
ARAEEFELZER « BREZBERIERERAA

REBFEMRLOER AR ERMDREELAAER EH
(B R 5% - 1788.HK)

NAIME « RABRAIWE
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CRO e the chief risk officer of the Group

Director(s) ® the director(s) of the Company

DPD e days past due

ECL e expected credit loss

EGM e the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
ESG e environmental, social and governance

Executive Director(s) ® the executive Director(s)

Greater Bay Area ® Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area

Group e the Company together with its subsidiaries from
time to time

GSN Programme e guaranteed structured note
programme

GTJA Financial Holdings e Guotai Junan Financial
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability, a wholly-owned subsidiary of GTJA,
and a controlling shareholder of the Company

GTJA Group e GTJA and its subsidiaries from time to
time (but excluding the Group)

GTJA or parent company e Guotai Junan Securities Co.,
Ltd., a joint stock limited company incorporated in the
PRC with limited liability, whose A-shares are listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601211.
SH) and H-shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2611.HK), and the holding
company of GTJA Financial

GTJA Vietnam e Guotai Junan Securities (Vietham) Corp.,
a company incorporated in Vietnam, the shares of which
are listed on the Hanoi Stock Exchange (stock code: IVS.
HN), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
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BEREBREE « BREBRIEE
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MEEMAZAAR EROMTARNEZEERZH EM (&
BRI IVS.HN) » RRARIZIEZEH B R A



266 Guotai Junan International | Annual Report 2024

Glossary
i
A 52

Haitong e Haitong Securities Co., Ltd., a joint stock
company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability,
formerly listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange

Haitong Group e Haitong and its subsidiaries from time
to time

HK or Hong Kong ® The Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the PRC

HKAS(s) ® Hong Kong Accounting Standard(s)

HKICPA e Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants

HKICPA Code ® HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants

HKFRS(s) ® Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard(s)
HKSA(s) ® Hong Kong Standard(s) on Auditing

HKSCC e Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company
Limited

HKUST e the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology

HK$ e Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of Hong
Kong

Independent Non-executive Director(s) ® the independent
non-executive Director(s)

IPO(s) e initial public offering(s)
IR team e investor relations team of the Company

ISDA e International Swaps and Derivatives Association,
Inc.

Listing Rules e the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

B e BRSO ARRE - —KRHPBEEMKILA
B BRAR - AR EBESFRX SRR AERLE

=

BIEREE < BARETENKHEARR

8 e HEFEFITHE

FR G EL «(FE G ERD

EEUHIAE « TERHOHAR

BREEREIAG TR (FEEGFEBRTAD

BREWBHRE LR « (FARM B IE LR
BREBEED «(FEEERD

BREE e BETREEARATA

BEMRAR « EERIAE

BT e BIL BEAER®

ol

BUFRTES « BUFATES

BRAMEES « ERAREE
REEFRER « ARAIREEBEBEK

ISDA » Bl ts IR ST miph &

(EMMAD » BEXA(EZF LA
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LTV e loan-to-collateral value

Macao e The Special Administrative Region of Macao of
the PRC

Mainland China e the PRC, for the purpose of this report,
does not include Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan

Master Agreement e a master agreement entered into
between the Company and GTJA on 3 November 2023

Model Code e the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers sets out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules

MOP e Macanese Pataca, the lawful currency of Macao
MPF e mandatory provident fund

MPF Scheme ¢ MPF scheme

MTN Programme ® medium term note programme
Non-executive Director(s) ® non-executive Director(s)
Pillar Two model rules e the Global Anti-Base Erosion
Model Rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development in 2021

Pillar Two Income Taxes e tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development

PRC or China ® The People’s Republic of China

RMB e Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

SFC e The Securities and Futures Commission

SFO e the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

Share(s) e ordinary share(s) of the Company
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REIRIR TS o R EAR RS2
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(RERRERRREHRID

XIEZFGEN e RERCESFERRAEBBMNS =
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Shareholder(s) ® shareholder(s) of the Company

Share Option Scheme e The share option scheme of the
Company adopted on 19 June 2010 and expired on 19
June 2020

SPPI e solely payments of principal and interest

Stock Exchange e The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

US e United States of America

US$ e United States Dollars, the lawful currency of the
us

VND e Vietnamese Dong, the lawful currency of Vietnam
YOY e year on year

% e per cent
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